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DEPARTMENT OF STATE 

THE LEGAL ADVISER 

INTRODUCTION 

The islands included in this report, with the exception 

of The Monks, a.re those in the Caribbean Sea. named by Ameri­

can citizens applying for the recognition of those islands 
1 

by the United States under the Gua.no Act of August 18, 1856. 

The Monks were said to contain guano, and were occupied by 

American citizens, but before the passage of the Guano Act, 

and no claim was made to them under that Act. However, 

Judge Moore 11 sts them as guano isla.nds and for that reason 
Swal' a,-,d. 

they have been described herein. The~islande1 e4'~Roncador, 

Qui to Bueno, Serrana, and Serranttlla, which fa.11 within the 

scope of this report, are not included because their histories 

have been fully described in Ji sepa.ra te memorandim-. For the 

same rea.son a discussion of the Guano Act and 1 ts interpreta­

tion has been omitted. 

It is to be hoped that the information here set forth 

will enable the United States to determine the islands in 

the Caribbean Sea over which it now claims or may legally 

claim, sovereignty, and the ba.ses for such claims. 

§ 5570 - 5578 Rev. Stat; 48 u.s.o.A. § 1411 - 1419. 
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PART sI. ISLANDS TO WHICH THE UNITED STATES HAS A CLAIM. 

I. NAVASSA ISLAND 

!°i• Geography. 

Navassa Island, latitude 1so 24' N, longitude 75° 01' 

W., lies at the southern end of the Windward Passage. It 

is 36 miles west southwest of Cape Dame Marie, Haiti, and 

74 miles east northeast of Morant Point, Jamaica. The 

Island is about a by 1 miles square, and from 130 to 250 
V 

feet high. It is of volcanic origin, composed largely of 

limestone, lined with veins of iron pyrites, the crevasses 

between the rocks being filled up with guano, making the 

surface nearly level. The summit is covered with stunted 

palm trees and cactus and is inhabited by igua.nas ( tree 

lizards) and numerous sea birds. All sides of the Island 

are steeP-sloping, white cliffs, except for Lulu Bay, at 
a 

the southwest side, where small vessels may anchor. 

b! United states Olaim under the Guano Act. 

37 ; .. 
• • 1 

On December 3, 1857, a declaration of the -discovery of 

guano by Peter Dunca.n on Navassa. I eland was filed in the 

Department of state. Duncan's deposition, dated October 18, 

1857, stated that the discovery was made on July 1, 1857, 

and that possession was taken September 29. He prayed that 

his 

a 
West Indies Pilot (Washington, 1927) Vol I, H. O. 128, ~---­

pages :§59 - 359. 
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hie rights under the Guano Act be recognized, and that the 

Island be considered as appertaining to the United States. 

An analysis of the guano found on the Island was enclosed, 

and showed that it consisted of a concentrated phosphatic 
3 

37fi 

manure, 70.63 per cent bone phosphate of lime. On April 24, 

1858, a "Certificate of Peaceable Possession" was forwarded 

to the Department. This consisted of the deposition of 

John L. Lewis, mariner, dated March 15, 1858, stating that 

Lewis, as Duncan's agent had been in peaceable, uninter-
4 

rupted possession of Navassa since September 18, 1857. 

In December 1857, the Department received a deed of assign­

ment, dated November 18, 1857, from Peter Duncan to Edward O. 

Cooper of all the former's right, title, and interest in the 
5 

guano on Navassa Island. 

In June and July of 1858 one J. H. Whitehurst wrote 

the Secretary of State that he had discovered guano on 

Navassa in 1855; that he found the Island in the possession 

of Haiti; that he entered into negotiations with the Haitian 

Government 

3. John H. Philip, Attorney for Duncan, to Lewis Cass, 
Secretary of State, December 3, 1857, and enclosures. Sen. 
Ex Doc. 37, 36 Cong, 1 Sees. page 2. 

4. do. to do. April 24, 1858, and enclosure, Ibid page 6. 

5. Deed filed in 5 MS Misol. Let. re Guano, Navassa; 
See R. W. Bliss, Ass. Sec.~ to staples, Cocke, and Hazlegrove, 
July 27, 1922 (811.0l41/32J. 
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Government in the winter of 1855-56 for a lease, but that 

this was not completed. He concluded by protesting against 

the claim of others (not named), and against considering 

the Island as one which falls within the provisions of the 
6 

Guano Act. Apparently these protests were ignored, as no 

reply to them has been found. 

The United states first recognized and in fact approved 

Duncan's and Cooper's interest in Navassa Island in 1858. In 

April of that year, E. K. Cooper, Agent for Edward O. Cooper, 

Duncan's assignee, informed the Department that Emperor 

Soulouque of Haiti was about to send an armed expedition to 

Navassa to remove the 60 Americans then digging for guano 
7 

on the Island. This in fact happened and in the spring of 

1858 Haiti sent two men-of-war to Navassa, and the Commander 

ordered the men to stop removing guano, and stood by to see 

that no more work was done. 
-l.1 

Later there was a second ex- ;'. ·. '/ 

pedition from Haiti, and Frazer, the Company Superintendent 

on the Island, was informed that the Haitian Government had 

leased the Island to a citizen of Jamaica. Frazer communi­

cated with Cooper, and with the United States Consul at 

Port au Prince, and registered a formal protest against 

the 

6 

\ 

J. H. Whitehurst to Lewis Casa, secretary of state, June 16, 
1858; do. to do., July 15, 1858, 5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, 
Navassa. 
7 
E. K. Cooper to Lewis Cass, Secretary of State, April 23, 

1858, Ibid; s. Ex. Doc. 37, supra note 3 page 3. 

\, 
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8 
the acts of the Hai tia.n Government. In Jun.e, 1858, Cooper 

9 
protested to the United States Government. 

The Secretary of State determined to protect the 

interests of Duncan and Cooper in Navassa Island, and on 

July 7, 1858, requested the Secretary of the Navy to send 

a warship to Navassa for that purpose: 

11 The President being of the opinion that any 
claim of the Haitian Government to prevent citizens 
of the United States from removing guano from the 
Island of Navassa, is unfounded, and that in this 
case it is advisable to exercise the authority 
vested in him by the 5th section of the Act of 

378 

Congress approved August 18, 1856, • • • • • • •• 
directs that you will cause a competent force to repair 
to that Island, and will order the officer in command 
thereof to protect citizens of the United States in 
removing guano therefrom against any interference from 
authorities of the Government of Haiti, or of any other 
government. 11 10 

11 
A copy of this communication was sent to Oooper, as was 

also a report of Commander Turner of the SARATOGA regarding 
12 

his visit to Navassa. Turner stated that the trouble was 

started by two Englishmen from Jamaica who obtained a 1:19.se 

of Navassa from Haiti and persuaded Haiti to expel the 

Americans. 

8 
see John L. Frazer to Capt. E. K. Cooper, May 26, 1858, 5 MS. 

Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Navassa; E. K. Cooper to Cass, Secretary 
of State, August 23, 1858, Ibid, S. Ex. Doc. 37, page 12. 
9 
E. K. Cooper to Lewis Oass, secretary of State, June 17, 1858, 

Ibid pa..ge 7. 
10 

Lewis Cass, Secretary of State, to Isaac ToUcey, Secretary 
of Navy, July 7, 1858, Ibid. page 9o 
11 

L. Cass. Secretary of State, to E. K. Cooper, July 8, 1858, 
Ibid page 9. 
12 

do. to do., se~tember 16, 1858, Ibid, page 16, et seq. 
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Americans. The SARATOGA first visited Port au Prince in 

order to demonstrate the power and intention of the United 

States, and on August 7 reached Navassa. Commander Turner 

wrote Frazer, the Phosphate Oompany•s agent on the Island, 

as follows: 

"I have ••• to authorize that you will 
go on with the prosecution of you:r business 
of storing and loading your ships with guano, 
in spite of any protest or opposition that 
may be made from any qua.Tter whatever, assur­
ing you by authority that you will receive 
the full protection of the Government of the 
United States where you are and in what you 
are doing, and I hereby caution all persons, 
of any government whatever, who may visit 
Navassa, ttn abstain from the slight interfer­
ence with ~.u, on pain of the displeasure 
of my Government and its prompt retributive 
action, which will hold to a strict accountability 
all and any such persons, let their pretext or 
authority be what it may •••• 

"The Government is determined to extend 
to you that protection to which your Company, 

3 under the laws of our country, is entitled. 11 1 

After the Secretary of State had requested the Navy to 

send a warship to Navassa it was discovered that neither 

Cooper nor Duncan had filed the bond prescribed by the Guano 

Act. Accordingly, on July 12, 1858, the Secretary of State 

reminded Cooper of this provision and fixed the pene,l ty of 
14 

the bond at $100,000. At Cooper's request the amount was 
15 

reduced to $50,000. The bond of Cooper and Duncan for 

Navassa 

13Ibid, enclosure. 
14 Cass, Secretary of State, to E. K. Cooper, July 12, 1858, 

I bid page 10. 
15 do. to do. August 18, 1858, Id. page 11. 

37!} 



-7-

Navassa Island was dated August 31, 1858, and was sent to 
16 

the State Department on September 22, 1858. For some 

reason it was not forwarded to the Treasury Department 
17 

until December 7, 1859. 

About a year after the episode of the SARATOGA, 

Charles Gwinn, attorney for Cooper, wrote the Secretary 

380 

of State that he believed the Guano Act required some 

affirmative action by the President, which would be an 

exercise of his discretion to declare the Island apper­

taining to the United States. Accordingly, Gwinn suggested 

that the Department issue a certificate to Duncan and Cooper 

recognizing their rights under the Guano Act. He enclosed 

a draft form which was corrected by someone in the Depart­

ment and was subsequently used, not only with regard to 
18 

Navassa but with regard to other islands also. On 

December 8, 1859, the Department notified Gwinn that the 

Attorney General believed there was no legal objection to 

the granting of this certificate and accordingly a certi-
19 

ficate, substantially that submitted by Gwinn, was enclosed. 

It 

16 

17 

18 

E. K. Cooper to Cass, Secretary of State, September a, 1858, 
5 MS. Misc 1. Let. Re Guano, Ne.vassa. 

L. Cass, Secretary of State, to Howill Oobb, Secretary of 
Treasury, December 7, 1859, 5 1 MS. Dom. Let. 267. 

o. I. M. Gwinn to L. Cass, Secretary of State, October 13, 
1859, MS. Miscl. Let. October, 1859. 
19 

John Appleton~ Assistant Secretary, to c. I. M. Gwinn, 
December 8, 1~59, 51 MS. Dom. Let. 271. 
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It stated that Peter Duncan, a citizen of the United states, 

had filed with the State Department the required notice of 

the discovery of guano on and the occupation -of the Island 

of Navassa, in the name of the United states; gave the posi­

tion of the Island; that Edward K. Cooper, also a citizen 

of the United States and Duncan• s assignee, had given bonds 

in accordance with the provisions of the Guano Act; and 

concluded, 

"Wherefore the said Edw•i-d K. Cooper is entitled, 
in respect to the guano on the said island, to all 
the privileges and advantages intended by that act 
to be secured to citizens of the United States who 
may have discovered deposits of guano; provided 
always, that the said Edward K. Cooper shall abide 
by the provisions imposed by the act of Congress 
aforesaid." ao 

c. subsequent Acts of Recognition by the United States; 
Protests of Haiti. 

In November, 1858, in answer to a protest from B. c. 
Clark, the agent for the Government of Haiti, the Depart­

ment replied as follows: 

20 

11 ••• a citizen of the United States having 
exhibited to this Department proofs which 
were deemed sufficient that that island 
[Navassa] was derelict and abandoned, with 
guano of good quality, and having applied 
for the protection of this Government in 
removing the guano therefrom, pursuant to 
the act of Congress of the 18th of August, 
1856, ••• that application has been 

granted 

Jones v. u. s. (1890), 137 U.S. 202, 206. 
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granted. You will notice, however, that 
the act does not make it obligatory upon 
the Government to ret~in permanent posses­
sion of the I sland. 11 

Again, in the same year, the Department stated that: 

" ••• The Government of the United States 
has determined to maintain the rights of its 
citizens to the island of Navassa. 11 22 

382 

Navassa Island has been included in all the lists of 

guano islands compiled by the Treasury Department and sent 

to Collectors of Customs with instructions to apply the 

coasting trade regulations to trade with those islands, 

according to the Guano Act. On the first list on August 23, 

1867, it is 11 sted as II Nevassa, 11 with the position, and the 

notation that a certificate had been issued to E. K. Cooper 
23 

of Baltimore, Maryland. On the subsequent 11st of Febru-

ary la, 1869, and as far as can be ascertained, on all later 
24 

lists the name is spelled "Navassa." 

There is no doubt that the coasting trade provisions 

of the Guano Act were actually applied in the case of 

Navassa Island. In January, 1860, the British Minister 

to the United States protested against the confiscation 

of 

l John Appleton, Assistant Secretary, to B. c. Clark, Agent 
for Haiti, November 17, 1858, Doc. 37, Supra Note 3. 

22 L. Cass. Secretary of State, to Vose, Livingston and Co., 
July 31, 1858, ~9 MS, Dom. Let. 74. 

23 6 MS. Miscl. Let Re Guano, Miscl. 
24 Ibid. 
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of the British vessel LAUREL under the above-mentioned 

provisions, and contended that this was an extension of 

303 

the meaning of the phrase "coasting tra.de 11 which impaired 

the reciprocity obtained by the negotiations of 1849 between 
25 

the United States and Great Britain. The State Department 
. as 

notified the Secretary of the Treasury who replied that 

under the Navigation Act of March 1, 1817, prohibiting 

foreign-owned vessels from transporting merchandise between 

ports of the United States, and under Section 5575 of the 

Guano Act, confiscation of a foreign ship engaged in trade 

with the guano islands was the only course possible. He 

added that remission was promptly granted when 1 t appeared 

that there wa.s no criminal intent, and that the remission 

of the forfeiture of the LAUREL'S cargo was granted under 

the most favorable conditions authorized by the law and the 
27 

circumstances of the case. 

In 1871 the Supreme Court of Massachusetts had occa­

sion to determine the question of whether Navassa was 
28 

commonly known as a Guan\o Island. The a.c tion was on a.n 

insurance 

25 
Lord Lyons, British Minister to U. S., to L. Cass, Secretary 
of State, January 11, 1860, 39 MS Notes from Great Britain. 

26 

27 

28 

L. Cass, secretary of State, to Lord Lyons, Brit. Min. to 
u. s., January 17, 1860, 8 MS Notes to Great Britain, 306. 

H. Cobb, Sec. of Treas. to L. Cass, Sec. of State, Feb. 23, 
1860, MS. Miscl. Let, Feb. 1860; L. Cass, Sec. of state, to 
Lord Lyons, Brit. Min. to u. s., Feb. 24, 1860, 8 MS Notes 
to Great Britain 307. 

Whiton v. Albany Insurance Co., 109 Mass. 24 (1871). 



-11-

insurance policy which prohibited voyages from all guano 

islands except the Peruvians, and recovery was sought~for 

a vessel which had been lost on a voyage from Navassa 

Island. In the trial evidence consisting of the follow­

ing documents was excluded: The State Department's letter 

of _July 7, 1858, to the Secretary of the Navy; Duncan's 

memorial; letters from E. K. Cooper and from the Secretary 

of State relative to the naval expedition of 1858; letters 

from the Secretary of State requiring the bond, and acknowl­

edging its receipt; Commander Turner's r$ports regarding 

his visit to Navassa; the Department's letter of November 17, 

1858, to Clark; and the proclamation of the secretary of 

State of December 8, 1859. On ap:rea.l the court held the 

evidence should have been admitted to prove that Navassa 

was a guano island, and stated that: 

11 The public acts and dooumen ts offered in evidence 
tended to show that the United States had acquired, 
and had asserted against foreign governments, a 
title in the Island of Navassa by discovery and 
lawful p~~~ession, as authorized by the Law o~~. ., ;:. ·;; l>'- ,. , 
Nations. " .~ .f! ,. ,,\ , . ·" , ·, 

, /·- 1- . ·---·-~ 

The Haitian Government did not protest the United States 
~ occupation of Navassa until July 19, 187a, when~formal pro-

test, supported by documentary evidence, was filed with the 
30 

Department. A second protest was sent on March 19, 1873. 

2 

30 

The 

Ibid, page 31. 

Stephen Preston, Ha.i tian Min. to u. S., to H. Fish, Sec. 
of State, July 19, 1872; Mar. 19, 1873, MS. Notes from 
Hai ti. 
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The Secretary of State answered the first protest on 

December 31, 1872. He summarized the bases for the Haitian 

claim as follows: Discovery of the Island by Columbus; 

Spanish conquest, and the Franco-Spanish Treaty ceding to 

France part of st. Domingo; the Declaration of Independence 

of Haiti of 1803; the Ordinance of 1825 issued by Charles X 

of France recognizing the independence of the Island of 

st. Domingo; the Treaty of 1828 with Haiti in which France 

relinquished all claim to the Island; and, finally, half 

a century of peaceable, uninterrupted possession by Haiti. 

In reply, the Secretary of Ste.te declared: 

11 Not one instance is given of the actual occupation 
of the Island previous to its possession and occu­
pancy by citizens of the United States in 1857 • 11 

The guano, the only thing of va.lue on the Island, had been 

undisturbed up to that time, and it was reasonable to infer 

that it had not been discovered by Haiti. Furthermore, in 

none of the treaties mentioned was Navassa included by name, 

and 

11 No instance is given in which Haiti has ever 
attempted to enforce any of its revenue laws in 
Navassa." 

The Secretary of State maintained also that ·the appearance 

of Navassa on 16th century maps proved nothing except that 

the position of the Island was known at that time, adding: 

11 It 
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11 It is difficult to understand why the specifica­
tion in or omission of Navassa from any maps ancient 
or modern, or a mere statement of the position of 
that Island by geographers could give to any nation 
a right to sovereignty over i t. 11 

He remarked that Haiti's argument amounted at most to 

11 a. claim to a construe ti ve possession, or rather 
to a right of possession; but, in contemplation 
of international law, such claim of a right to 
possession is not enough to establish the right 
of a nation to exclusive territorial sovereignty • 11 

With regard to the claim of Duncan and Cooper under the 

Guano Act, the Secretary said: 

11 The negative propositions of non-occupancy and 
absence of jurisdiction of any other Government 
were shown to exist by satisfactory proof; by the 
very best evidence of which such a case is in its 
nature susceptible--the entire absence of inhabi­
tance and the undisturbed condition of its rich 
deposits of guano •••• although fifteen years 
have elapsed since Duncan and Cooper discovered and 
settled upon the Island, no evidence has been yet 
adduced by Haiti going to establish the affirmative 
proposition of its ever having been occupied or even 
showing any act of jurisdiction having been exercised 
over it by that Government. 11 

He concluded by saying that the cases of Al to Velo a.nd of 

Key Verd were not comparable to that of Navassa, because 

the two former were much nearer to the mainland and ad­

jacent islands, and, moreover, had been specifically 

included by name in territorial laws of the claimant 
31 

governments. 

31 

In 

H. Fish, Sec. of State, to Stephen Preston, Haitian 
Minuter to u. s., Dec. 31, 1872, I MS Notes to Haiti 
124. 

3 n ,. 
" \) 
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In the second note of June 10, 1873, the position 

of the United States is reiterated. In answer to the new 

allegation that Haitian fishermen have visited Navassa for 

many years, it is said that these are but 11 ieolated facts 11 

insufficient to establish the proprietorship of a nation; 

that fishermen of other nations undoubtedly visited Navassa 

too; that these visits were merely for temporary shelter 

while passing, and were of an occasional nature and not 

of the permanent character necessary for jurisdiction or 

title. The United States adverted again to the absence of 

evidence of any Haitian Act or law relating specifically 

to Navassa, saying: 

uThe extension of the laws of an Empire 
over a colonial possession forms one of the 
chief muniments of the nation's title to 
sovereignty over the colony, and the absence 
of these important links in the chain of testi­
mony advanced in the support of Hai ti's claim 
to sovereignty over Navassa must, I submit, 
appear to any reasonable mind fatal to that 
claim, nor oan this absence be supplied by 
the facts of contiguity of situation, or that 
Navassa had • • • remained a wilderness. 11 

In conclusion, Haiti's proposal to have third parties 
32 

decide the question was summarily rejected. 

In 1889 the Navassa Phosphate Company was in possession 

of the Island, and had over a hundred colored labb.rers and 

about 

32 
do. to do., June 10, 1873, Ibid 153. 
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about a dozen white superintendents tlere. On September 14, 

1889, a riot occurred between the colored employees and the 

officers in which several of the latter were killed. A 
33 

United States warship was ordered to the scene. Later, 

three of the men were convicted of murder in the District 

Court of llaryland under section 5576 of the Guano Act. On 

appeal, the Supreme Court (in Jones v, United States) affirmed 

the judgment of the lower court, and held that the Guano Act 

was constitutional, and that Navassa Island 11 appertained" to 

the United states under that Act. The evidence upon which 

the latter conclusion was based included, besides the docu-
34 

ments mentioned in the llassachusetts case, the State Depart-

ment's notes of 1872 and 1873 rejecting Haiti's claim, and 

the Treasury Department's circular to Collectors of Oustoms 

with the lists of guano islands. The Court also ruled that 

evidence of loading guano on foreign ships (a breach of the 

discoverer's bond) was properly excluded in this case, be­

cause the breach of a condition of the bond affected only 

the discoverer's rights, and not the dominion or jurisdiction 
35 

of the United States. 

33 

34 

35 

In the same term the Supreme Court decided Duncan v, 

Navassa 

Adee, Acting Sec., to Lincoln, u. s. Min. to Great Brit., 
telegram, Sept. 19, 1889, 29 HS. Inst~~tions, Great Brit.127 

Supra Note 28. 

Jones v. U. s., 137 u. s. 202 (1890). 
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36 
Navas~ .. Phosphate Oompanz. In this case the petition of 

Dunoa.n1 s widow for dower in Navassa Island was disallowed 

on the theory that the discoverer's interest was an estate 

at will, not subject to dower at common law. It should be 

noted that while the supreme Oourt affirmed the decision of 

the lower court, it did so for different reasons. The 
37 

opinion of the lower court, based on the grounds that 

the Guano Act did not give either the United States or its 

citizens any territorial sovereignty or domain over guano 

islands, is, therefore, superseded by that of the supreme 

Court. 

In 1896 the Spanish Minister reported various filli­

bustering expeditions to Cuba managed by United States citi­

zens. Among others, the steamer DAUNTLESS was said to have 
38 

taken arms and ammunition on board at Navassa Island. The 

District Attorney at Brunswick, Georgia, where the DAUNTLESS 

was held, thought that the vessel could not be prosecuted for 

a violation of the neutrality laws Of the United States because, 

under the ruling of the Jones Case, the Guano Act extended the 

United States statutes for the punishment of offenses on the 

36 

37 
137 u. s. 647 (1891). 

Grafflin v. Nevassa Phosphate Co., 35 Fed. 474 (1888). 
38 ~ 

E. Duprey de Lome, Span. Min. to u. s., to Sec. of State, 
Sept. 4, 1896, 38 MS Notes from Spain. 
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high seas to like offenses done on Navassa, and a violation 

of neutral! ty was not II a crime upon the high seas" within 
39 

the meaning of the Federal criminal statutes. The DAUNTLESS 

was detained ten days, however, awaiting the production of 

evidence showing a violation of the neutrality laws, and then 

was libeled for the non-payment of certain fines under sections 

4499, 4234, and 4197 of the Revised Statutes. Apparently there 

was at this time no prosecution of the DAUNTLESS for the 

alleged fillibuatering e.xpeditiona, but whether this was 

because of the above-mentioned legal difficulty, or lack of 
40 

proof is not clear. Much later, in 1908, James A. Woodward, 

Superintendent of Navassa from 1892 to 1898, reported that 

the DAUNTLESS and other vessels carrying expeditions to Cuba 
41 

had called at Nava.sea in 1896. 

In April, 1891, a colored laborer employed on Navassa by 

the Navassa Phosphate Company complained to the President that 

he was wrongfully detained there after the expiration of his 

contract of service. Thereupon the Government sent a naval 

40 

41 

vessel 

M. N. Rockhill, Acting, to the Att•y Gen., Sept. 10, 1896, 
212 MS. Dom. Let. 432. 

do. to E. Duprey de Lome, Span. Min. to U.S., Sept. 11, 
1896i XI MS. Notes to Spain 215; do. to do., Sept. 29, 1896, 
Id. ~24; Olney, Seo. of State, to do., Oct. 27, 1896, Id. 
235; do. to do., Nov. 12, 1896, Id. 239. 

J. A. Woodward to President of u. s., Jan. 11, 1908, 
739 MS. Numerical Ftle~10640. 
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vessel to investigate conditions on the Island, and it was 

found that the man had been unlawfully detained, and that a 

condition of revolt existed among the men. The Naval Officers 

Board reported as follows: 

111 The discipline maintained on the island 
seems to be that of a convict establishment, 
without its comforts and cleanliness, and that, 
until more attention is paid to the shipping of 
laborers, by placing it under Government super­
vision to prevent misunderstanding and misrepre­
sentation, and until some amelioration is shown 
in the treatment of the laborers, these disorders 
will be of constant occurrence.'" 42 

After this report the President, in 1891, recommended 

legislation putting labor contracts for work on Navassa and 

other guano islands under the supervision of a commission, 

and recommended that an officer be appointed to reside on 

the Island to adjust disputes and see that the men were 

humanely treated. He insisted that Navassa Island 11 has • • • 

been recognized by the President as appertaining to the 

United states", and added: 

11 It is inexcusable that American la.borers should 
be left within our own jurisdiction without access 
to any Government officer or tribunal for t~gir 
protection and the redress of their wrongsf:I: 

Apparently no action was taken pursuant to this recommendation, 

al though 

42 

43 

Report of Naval Of fie era Boa.rd, quoted in message of Pres1'­
dent Benjamin Harrison, Dec. 9, 1891, 1891 For. Rel. XIV. 

Ibid; See also A. A. Adee, Ass. Sec., to General Benjamin 
Harrison, Dec. 3, 1897, 223 YS. Dom. Let. 141. 
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although it is reported that the Government appointed a 

Governor of the Island, and that Mr. Woodward was the 
44 

last Governor. Woodward himself reports that be was 
45 

superintendent there from 1892 to 1898, and 1 t is not 

clear from the correspondence whether he was appointed 

by the Government or by the Phosphate Company. 

d. Occupation of Navassa, Attitude of the United States. 

As has been said, Peter Duncan, the discoverer under 

the Guano Act, assigned his interest in Navassa to E. O. 
46 

Cooper, by a deed dated November 18, 1857. Cooper in 

3 ()') " '-' 

turn assigned to the Navassa Phosphate Company, for $300,000, 

his interest. The Company was organized in New York State 
47 

on September 9, 1864. It actually occupied the Island and 

removed guano therefrom until May 7, 1898, when the Govern­

ment removed all the inhabitants in a warship because of the 
48 

outbreak of the Spanish American War. 

4 

45 

46 

47 

48 

After 

W. Cralrford to R. Bacon, Acting, Jan. as, 1908, 739 MS. 
Numerical File 10640. 

J. A. Woodward to Pres. of u. s., Jan. 11, 1908, Id. 

Desi.filed in 5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Navassa. 

Horatio King, stockholder of the Co., to A. A. Adee, Ass. 
sec., Jan. 29, 1908, 739 MS. Numerical File 10640. The 
State Department has no copy of the assignment from Cooper . 
to the Navassa Phosphate Co. see R. w. Bliss, Ass. Sec., 
to Staples, Cooke, & Hazlegrove, July 27, 1922 (811.0141/32). 

w. Crawford to R. Bacon, Acting Sec., Jan. 28, 1908, 739 
Numerical File 10640; L. Harrison, Ass. Sec., to J. Lawrence, 
Nov. 2, 1922 (811.0141/33). 
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After the abandonment of the Island in 1898, the 

Phosphate Company and the State D8 partment were informed 

that thieves, apparently Haitians, had stripped the Island 

of everything movable which had been left there by the 

Company. The Company finally sent Dr. John Lawrence to 

take possession of and sell the remaining property. The 

United States Minister to Haiti reported that the Haitian 

Government had seized the goods and imprisoned the parties 

found in possession of them, and had turned over the goods 

to the American Consul who sold them and held the proceeds 
49 

in trust for the Company. 

393 

Some time in January, 1899, John Fowler, President of 

the Navassa Phosphate Company, presented to the State Depart­

ment a claim for $10,413.82 against the Government of Haiti 

for the action of its citizens in removing the Company property 

from Navassa in 1898. The letter was withdrawn at Fowler's 

request, but the State Department replied that no liability 

on the part of Haiti had been shown for the piratical acts 

of its subjects in pillaging Navassa, there being no evidence 

of 

49 
J.B. Moore to Navassa Phosphate Co., Ji.me 30, 1898, 229 
MS. Dom. Let. 646; do., to do.~ July 1, 1898, Id. 663; 
Navassa Phosphate Co., (Fowler}, to Sec. of State, July 2, 
1898, MS. Misol. Let. P & I, July, 1898; J.B. Moore, Asa. 
Sec., to J. H. Fowler (Pres. Navassa Phosphate Co.), July 9, 
1898, 230 MS. Dom. Let. 107; L.A. Dent, u. s. Consul, to 
J.B. Moore, Ass. Sec., July 10, 1898, 36 MS. Consular Let., 
Kingston, Jamaica, No. 173; w. F. Powell, U. s. Min. to 
Haitii 1to Sec. of state, Feb. 13, 1899, 34 MS. Dispatches 
from Haiti, No. 511. 
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of negligence on the part of Haiti in preventing the act, 
50 

no Government complicity, and no refusal to punish. 

39 -'t 

In 1922 Dr. Lawrence inquired of the Department regard­

ing the status of the Navassa Phosphate Company's claim against 

the Haitian Government, alleging that he had a 10 per cent 

interest in the claim by virtue of a contract with the Company. 

The Department replied enclosing the letter of April 15, 1899, 
51 

to Fowler. On March 12, 1923, the Department informed 

Lawrence of the procedure for the presentation of claims 

before the Claims Commission created by the Protocol of 
52 

November 3, 1919, between the United States and Haiti. 

Later in the same year the Department supplied Lawrence, at 

his request, with the names of Washington attorneys who were 
53 

handling the claims. There is no report in the Department 

of the final settlement of any of these claims against Haiti. 

After the abandonment of Navassa in 1898, an action was 

brought by a creditor, in August, 1900, to dissolve the Com­

pany, and a default judgment was entered against the Company 

on August 27 and a receiver (Mr. Johnson) appointed. He 

sold 

50 John Hay, sec. of State, to John Fowler, Pres. Navassa 
Phosphate Co .. , April 15, 1899, 236 MS. Dom. Let. 354. 

51 L. Harrison, ~ss. sec., to J. Lawrence, NOV. 2, 1922 
(811.0141/33). 

52 w. Phillips, Under Sec., to Navassa Phosphate Co. (J. 
Lawrence), Mar. 12, 1923 (438.11 N aa). 

53 do. to J~· .. Lawrence, April 30, 1923 (438.11 N 22/1). 
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eold the Island at auction on September 15, 1900, to Wyatt 

Owen for $25,000 ($750 cash and the be.lance on time). 

Horatio King, . a minority stockholder, discovered that the 

actton dissolving the Company was fraudulent, and mov.ed 

to set aside the judgment. The motion was granted in July, 

1901; the costs and expenses were paid, and the sale was 
54 

set aside. 

It is not clear from the correspondence whether Owen 

•..t O -
tJ ' 1;) 

or the Phosphate Company was occupying the isla.nd in 1901, 

before the sale to the former was set aside, although it was 
55 

probably Owen. However that may be, it is quite certain 

that Woodwe.rd was Superintendent on Navassa in March, 1901, 

for Mrs. Wood.ward wrote the Department requesting that a 

nava.l vessel be sent to Nava.sea to rescue her husband and 

the men there whom she f ea.red were starving. Accordingl)r 

the MAYFLOWER was sent. The Commender reported that he 
56 

had left provisions, and the men were all right. 

54 

55 

56 

Subsequently 

HorR.tio King to A. A. Adee, Ass. Seo. , Jan. 29, 1908, 
739 MS. Numerical File 10640; Russel A. Johnson to R. Bacon, 
Ass. Sec. , Dec. 21, 1·:907, Id. 

See supra, Note 54; R. A. Johnson to D. J. Hill, Acting Sec., 
Mar. '7, 1901, MS; Miscl. Let Pa.rt I, Mar. 1901; Wyatt Owen 
to D. J. Hill, Ass. sec., Mar. 28, 1901, Id; John Hay, Sec. 
of Ste.te, to Sec .. of Na.vy, April 1, 1901, 251 MS. n·om. Let. 622, 

Sec. of Navy to Sec. of Sta.te, Mar. 22, 1901, MS. Miscl. Let. 
Max. 1901; John Hay, Sec. of State, to Sec. of Na.vy, Mar. 28, 
1901, 851 MS. Dom. Let. 532; Sec. of Navy to Sec. of State, 
Mar. 28, 1901, MS. Miscl. Let1 Sec~ of State to Sec. of Navy 
Apr. 1, 1901, 251 MS. Dom. Le~. 62~; Wyatt Owen to D. J. Hili, 
As s. Sec., Mar. 28, 1901, MS. Miscl. Let; As s. Sec. tow. 
Owen, Mar. 30, 1901, 251 MS. Dom. Let. 564. 
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Subsequently, in the same year, it was reported that 

Navassa was about to be abandoned as the guano supply was 
57 

practically exhausted. There is one statement from which 

it may be inferred that the island was still occupied in 

1904, but it is probable that there was a mistake in the 
58 

date given, as all other evidence tends to show tha, t no 

guano was removed from Navassa after 1901, although the 

agents of the Phosphate Company may have visited it from time 
59 

to time subsequent to that date. 

Navassa again figures in the State Department correspon- ;---
(,/ 

dence in 1904, and in 1905. i In the latter year W. s. Carter 

inquired of the Department if he might purchase Navassa 

Island from the United States. The Department replied 

11
0 •• this Government possesses no territorial sovereignty 

60~ 
over the Island of Navassa. 11 This position was reiterated 

in 1907, with the following additional sta.tement: 

57 

68 

59 

60 

11 United 

Isaac McKinley to John Hay, Sec. of state, Feb. 6, 1901, 
MS. lHscl. Let. 

R. A. Johnson to R. Bacon, Ass. sec., Dec. 21, 1907, 739 
MS. Numerical File 10640. 

H. King to A. A. Adee, Ass. Sec., Dec. 30, 1907, Id; W. 
Crawford to R. Ba.con, Acting Sec. , Jan. 28, 1908, Id; 
Sec. of Navy to Sec. of State, Mar. 2, 1901, MS. Miscl. Let. 

R. Bacon, Ass. sec., to W. s. Carter, Dec. 4, 1905, 286 :•­
MS. Dom. Let. a. 



-24-

"United States ci tizena who discover guano, 
or their assignees, are protected by this Govern­
ment in the prosecution of their enterprises, 
which extend only to tbe appropriation and removal 
of the guano thereon ••• Navassa Island has not 
been stricken from the list of guano islands apper­
taining to the United States ••• The law is 
silent upon the subject whether non-use of the 
privilege of working the guano causes a forfeiture 
of the privilege ••• Neither does the law prescribe 
any method by which the Government of the United 
States can determine when the guano bas all been 
removed. 11 61 ..--

Thi a position is an apparent contradiction of the 

Department's previous behavior regarding Navassa, and of a '---------
letter written in 1904 in answer to an inquiry from the 

Commerce Department, asking if Navassa was "sufficiently" 

397 

/ ) 
/ 

a part of the United States for the Government to erect a 

light on it. The Secretary of State, after remarking that 

this was not for the determination of the State Department, / 
/// 

continued "cheerfully" as follows: 

61 

"Navassa is an Island I appertaining to 
the United states', and, in my opinion, this 
Government has authority, if it is deemed 
necessary, to erect a lighthouse there. The 
statute authorized the President, under certain 
specified conditions, to consider guano isl~nda 
as appertaining to the United States. These 
conditions have been declared to exist in the 
case of Navassa, and the Island is considered 
as appertaining to the United States. As the 
Island is territory appurtenant to the United 
States, I believe this Government has the right 
to exercise jurisdiction over it in such manner 
as it sees fit. 11 

He 

State Dept. to Dudley and Michener, 
not found-, quoted in Sol. Op. Sept. 
ft. II, 627, at 630 /t 631. 

r Jan. 3, 1907; · Letter s 
25, 1907, 1907 SoL Op. 
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He then cited the Jones Case, and added that authority to 

erect the light could be deduced from section 5577 of the 

Revised Statutes authorizing the employment of the naval 

force of the United States, adding: 

11 The establishment of a lighthouse there [on Navassa] 
may be deemed to be necessary to carry out the express 
purpose of the law. The power to do the one thing 
would seem to include incidentally the power to do 
th e o the r • " 62 ,,_.,,--

In 1907 the Isthmian Canal Commission inquired if a 
63 1.-

398 

light could be erected on Navassa. The Department replied 

enclosing a memorandum of the Solicitor dated September 25, 

1907, in which it is maintained that the United States has 

not surrendered jurisdiction over Navassa under the Guano 

Act, but that the Government had so interpreted the Act 

that it could not ~ay Nava.sea. "belongs" to the United 

States within the meaning of section 4661 of the Revised 

Statutes. This section provides as follows: 

"No lighthouse, beacon, public piers, 
or land mark, shall be built or erected on 
any site until cession of jurisdiction over 
the same has been made to the United States. 11 

The State Department added, however, that internationally 

speaking this Government is in a position to assert full 

sovereignty over Navassa Island ••• and that no other 

6 

63 

government 

John Hay, Sec. of State, to sec. of Com. and Labor, Mar. 5, 
1904, 272 MS. Dom. Let. 628. 

R.R. Rogers to A. A. Adee, Assis. Sec., Dec. 21, 1907, 
739 MS Numerical File 10640. 
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government could reasonably object to such assertion. It 

was suggested that legislative cooperation was necessary 

for the Board of Lighthouses to erect the light, although 

the War Department might have authority to do it without 
64 ,.__-

such legislation. 

399 

In 1911 the Secretary of Commerce and Labor forwarded 

another request to the State Department regarding the erec­

tion of a lighthouse on Navassa and got approximately the 

same reply that the Canal Commission received in 1908, with 

an additional remaxk that, 11 there has been no subsequent 
65 (/ 

change in the status of the Island ••• 11 

Evidently the Commerce Department grew tired of this 

procedure, and an appropriation of $125,000 was obtained 

from Congress for the erection of a light on Navassa Island, 
66 V 

by the Act of October 22, 1913. On December 27, 1915, 

the Oommerc~ Department advised the State Department of 

its intention to erect the light, and also a radio station, 

and inquired re·garding the enforcement of the neutrality 
61? /,/ 

lawswith regard to the latter. The request was forwarded 

6 

65 

66 

67 

to 

A. A. Adee, Acting Sec., to R.R. Rogers, July 20, 1908, 
739 MS. Numerical File 10640; So. Op. 1907, Part II, p. 627 . 

H. Wilson, Acting Sec., to Sec. of Com. and Labor, April 22, 
1911 (811.822/4). 

Act of Oct. 22, 1913, 38 u. s. Stat. at Large, Part I, 
1915, p. 224. 

Sweet~ Ass. Sec. of Com., to Seo. of State, Dec. 22, 1915 
l 811. lj22 /10). 
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to the Navy Department which assented to the erection of 
68 L,.-,·-

the radio station and suggested certain regulations. 

Before the erection of the light was begun;President 

Wilson issued a proclamation dated January 17, 1916, which 

recited the first section of the Act of 1856; stated that 

"Whereas, pursuant to the foregoing Act of Congress, the 

Island of Navassa is now under the sole and exclusive juris­

diction of the United States and out of the jurisdiction of 

any other government"; adverted to the Act of October 22, 

1913, granting an appropriation for the erecting of a light 

on Navassa; and concluded that Navassa is proclaimed and 

11 1 s hereby reserved for lighthouse purposes, such reserva­

tion being deemed necessary in the public interests, subject 

to such legislative action as the Congress of the United 
69 L-

States may talce with respect thereto. 11 

On August 27, 1916, the Commerce Department informed 

the State Department that it was erecting the light on 

Navassa, and that the radio station, owned by the United 

States Government but temporarily operated by the contractors 

engaged in building the light, had been licensed by the 

Commissioner of Navigation, Department of Commerce, but that 

69 

Great 

J. Daniels, Sec. of Navy, to State Dept., Jan. 11, 1916 
( 811. 822 /11). 

39 Stat. at Large, Part II, 1917, p. 1763. 
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Great Britain had not yet recognized the station, and that 

such recognition was imperative in order that messages 

could be transmitted from Jamaica, the contractor's base 
70 L---· 

of supplies. Accordingly, a request for such recognition 

was made to Great Britain, and that Government authorized 

the Governor of Jamaica to issue the necessary license to 
71L.', 

the British Company there. 
I -·--
/ At present the light on the Island is maintained by 
'· 

the United States Government and the light keepers and 

radio operators live on the Island. There are no wharves 

or marking buoys in the Bay, and cranes on the cliff hoist 

the supplies ashore. There is a narrow gauge track from 

Lulu Bay to the lighthouse by which cars are hauled by 

cable. The Government also maintains the radio station 

and a mercurial barometer, and a naval vessel from the 

Guantanamo Naval Station visits the Island about once in 
72 

three months with supplies. 

e. Renewed Protests by Haiti. 

When the Haitian Government learned that the Department 

of Commerce was erecting a light on Navassa, it entered a 

formal 
70 

71 

72 

Sweet, Acting Sec. of Com. to Dept. of State, Aug. 22, 
1916, (811.822/23). 

w. H. Page, u. s. Amb. to Great Brit. to sec. of state, 
Nov. 13, 1916 (811.822/29). 

West Indies Pilot (Washington, 1927) Vol. I, H. O. 128, 
pages 358 - 359. 

,f• 

40 .J. 
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formnl protest against what was termed 11 an invasion of the 
73 [....--

sovereign rights of the Republic of Hai ti on the Island. 11 

The Secretary of State replied that the present administra­

tion of Haiti had never been formally recognized by the 

United States, so that it was not necessary for the l~tter 

to take official notice of the protest as requested. However, 

for the sake of the record, the Secretary called attention to 

Secretary Fish's notes ' of December 31, 1872, and June 10, 

1873, adding: 

11 The Department of State is unable to dis­
cover that the Government of Haiti has since pro­
duced any argument or evidence that would affect 
the position then taken by the United States. 11 74 1.-

1--...... . , Since the erection of the 11:ght, the State Department 

has uniformly and unequivocally declared that Navassa forms 

a part of the territory of the United States. In an opinion 

of the Solicitor of 1917 it is stated that: 

11 It would, therefore, appear that this 
Government is committed to the view that it 
has the right to control and use Navassa 
Island, and such control and use would 
naturally extend to

7
gurposes of war as well 

as those of peace. 11 1>--· 

Various letters have been written to private citizens giving 

a 
73 

74 

75 

Solon Menos, Haitian Min. to U.S. , to Lansing, Sec. of 
State, July 5, 1915 (811.822/8). 

Lansing, sec. of State, to Solon Menos, Haitian Min. to 
u. s., July 14, 1915 (811.822/8). 

Sol. Op. 1917, Part II, pages 665 - 683. 
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40 :-l 

a brief history of Navassa, citing the Presidential Proclama­

tion of January 17, 1916, and noting that this action was 

based upon the Guano Act and also upon the Act of October 22, 
76 i/ 

1913. Navassa has also been included as one of II the 

possessions of the United states, outside the terri toria,l 
77 1---

bounda.ries of the United States. 11 

In 1932, the United States Charge at Haiti reported 

that in the proposed amendment of the Haitian constitution 

Navassa Island was specifically included as part of Haitian 

territory. He told the Haitian Foreign Office that the 

Island belonged to the United States, but the Minister for 

Foreign Affairs replied that Haiti has always considered 

Navassa Island as Haitian territory, and that he thought 
78 ,,,--

it was time some settlement was made of the question. 

The State Department replied giving a summary of the history 

of the Island, referring to the Department's answers to Haiti 

in 1873 and in 1915, adding that there had been no change in 

the Department's position since the latter date; and instructed 

76 

77 

78 

the 

c. E. Hughes, Sec. of State, to R. A. Armbruester, June 10, 
1924 (811.0l41(33a); Dept. of State (G.H.H.) tow. Leese, 
Mar. 13, 1928 811.0141/37); W.R. Castle, Acting Sec., to 
R. F. Nichols, Sept. 1, 1932 (811.0141/54). 

W.R. Castle, Ass. Sec., to Parke L. King, July 1, 1927 
( 811. 0141/35). 

J. F. McGurk, U. S. Charge at Haiti, to Sec. of Sta te, 
June 15, 1932, No. 422 (838.011/125). 
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the America,n representative to inform the Haitian Govern­

ment that the United States did not believe Haiti would 

include any statement regarding Navassa in its constitution 

11 which 1~ not brought 
. I 

,(/ J .', ~ ·~ I • : : 1_ '. • • • 

This tdespatch \was not 

had passed the article 

79v 
out by the facts and the law. 11 

received until after the Assembly 
80 v 

in question, and the American 

' i _____ _., 

Minister did not thinlc it advisable to make representations 

at that time• He asked to be instructed 11 to make a formal 

reservation of our rights, setting forth the facts outlined 

in the Department's instruction ••• and stating that the 

Island is now actually occupied by the United States for the 
8ll 

purpose of maintaining a lighthouse there. 11 The Depa.rt-
82 

ment authorized the Minister to take this action. 

79 

80 

81 

82 

F. W'hi te, Ass. Sec. , to J. F. McGurk, U. S. Charge a.t Hai ti, 
July 5, 1932, No. 207 (838.011/125). 

II Titre I Du Terri toire de la Republique. II 
"Les Iles adjacentes faisant --· partie integrant 
du territoire sont: •••• Le. Nava.se •••• 11 

See Copy of Haitian Constitution, as amended July 15, 
1932, enclosure~ Munro, u. s. Min. to Haiti, to Sec. 
of State, July 45, 1932 (838.011/129). 

Letter, Ibid. 

F. White, Ass. sec., to Munro, u. s. Min. to Haiti, Aug. 13, 
1932, Id. 
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II. PETREL ISLAND (BAJ O NU t:VO) 

a. Geography. 

Baja ( Shoe.I) Nuevo or New Reef, latitude 15° 50', 

longitude 78° 40 1 , is an oval shaped, coral bank in the 

Caribbean Sea, about 100 miles southwest of Portland Rock 

on Pedro Bank. Bajo Nuevo is about 14 by 5 miles square. 

There are two reefs on it; East Reef, and West Reef, and 

on the ends of both reefs are II sand bores" or keys. West 

Reef is nearly in 1he middle of the bank, and at the north 

end of this reef rises Low Key, a barren key composed of 

sand, broken coral and driftwood, about 5 feet high and 

300 by 50 yards in size. There is a small pond on the key 

frequented by seals, and it is said that the animals are 

hunted in March and April by men in fishing vessels from 

Old Providence and St. Andrew. _There is a fair anchorage 
83 

off the key in moderate weather. 

b. United Sta tee Claim under the Gua.no Act. 

On August 9, 1869, James w. Jennett filed a notice of 

his discovery of guano on 11 the island of Baxo Nueva or New 

Shoal Bank", latitude 15° 52' 20 11 , longitude 78° 33• • 
. 

Jennett's declaration, dated June 5, 1869, alleges that 

83 
West Indies Pilot, H. o. 128 (u. s. 1927) Vol. I, 
pages 432 - 423. 

he 
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he discovered guano on Petrel Island, situated at the 

northeastern extremity of the above-named bank, 11/2 

miles within the edge of the bank, and .132 miles south­

west from Pedro Bluff, on the south side of Jamaica. A 

crayon map of the island was enclosed, on which it is 

represented a.s 11/2 by 1/2 or 1/3 miles squarel There 

was also an affidavit, dated May 26, 1869, signed by 

Jennett, stating that the guano on Petrel island was dis­

covered in December, 1866, and containing the usual allega.-

tions that the island was unoccupied, et cetera. These 

declarations were supported by certificates of the first and 

second mates on the PETREL ( in which the voyage of discovery 
84 

was ma.de) dated May 28, 1869. On October 12, 1869, the 
( 'f>ro 'o a 'D \ y f c1 Is c.) 

following additional evidenceAof Jennett's occupation of 

Petrel Island wa.s filed: A second dee la.ration by Jennett 

dated October 7, 1869, in which he says he landed two men 

, I \, 
\ 

on Petrel Island on August 27; an agreement dated August 28, 

1869, between Jennett and two men from Martinique who promised 

to remain on the island three months; a certificate of Ca.ptain 

Eaden of the LAVINIA, that he visited the island on August 27, 
85 

1869, and landed two men there for Jennett. There is also 

84 

85 

e.nother 

Lincoln and Willard, A ttlts of Jennett, to Hamil ton Fi sh, 
sec. of State, Aug. 9, 1869, and enclosures, 5 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano, Petrel. 

do. to do. Oct. 12, 1869, Ibid. 
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another affidavit by Captain Eaden dated September 11, 1869, 
86 

to the same effect. 

On November 26, 1869, Jennett•s bond for Petrel Island, 

or Boxo Nueva (end for Pedro Key, Roncador, and Quito Sueno), 
87 

was filed with the Department. The State Department 

approved his bond and sent it to the Secretary of the Treasury, 

remaxking that it was understood Jennett claimed the exclusive 
88 

right of occupying the island. The Secretary of the Treasury 

notified the Collectors of Customs that Petrel Island was to 

be considered as appertaining to the United States under the 

Gue.no Act of 1856, and the ref ore subject '.·. to coastwi se trading 
89 

regulations. The certificate or proclamation of November 30, 

( 
infra. 

1869, issued by Secretary Fish to Jennett see Btlfl?'ft, under 

Pedro Key), included Petrel Island, and there is no doubt 

that the State Department recognized Jennett•s exclusive 
( alle.s~J) 90 

interest in the""guano on that isla.nd. Petrel Island was 

included on the later lists sent to the Collectors of Customs 
91 

by the Secretary of the Treasury. 

86 

87 

88 

89 

90 

91 

Certificate of Eaden, Sept. 11, 1869, Ibid, Pedro. 

Lincoln and Willa.rd to Hamilton Fish, Sec. of State, Nov. 26, 
1869, Ibid. 

H. Fish, Sec. of State, to Geo. Bontwell, Sec. of Treas., 
Nov. 26, 1869, 82 MS. Dom. Let~ 382. 

See Geo. Bontwell, Sec. of Treas., to State Dept., Dec. 1, 
1869, 5 MS. Miscl. Let. re Gue.no, Petrel. 

See Pedro DrRft. 

See 6 MS. Miscl. Let Re Guano, miscl. 
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Various assignments of the guano supposed to be 

on Petrel Island were made by American citizens until 

1911, but no evidence that any guano was ever removed 

from the Key has been found. Furthermore, there 

is no record of any statement made or position taken 

by the State Department with regard to Petrel Island 

since the issu~nce of the certificate to Jennett 

in 1869. The only mention of the island sub-

sequent to that time, except for the assignments filed 

with the Department, is a statement made in 1925 by 

the American Consul at Kingston, Jamaica, that of the four 

groups Roncador, Quito Sueno, Petrel, and Pedro, the latter 

is 
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97 
is the only one under the Government of Jamaica. 

It would seem, therefore, that the island is not 

claimed by Great Britain as part of Jamaica. It may be / 

that, should the United States revive its claim, the Gov­

ernment of Colombia would contest it, on grounds similar 

to those alleged in the Colombian claim to Roncador and 

Quito Sueno. It should be noted that the West Indies 

Pilot states that citizens of San And:tes and Old Providence 
98 

frequent the island in search of seals. Moreover, since 

apparently neither the United States Government nor its 

citizens has ever actually occupied or used Petrel Island, 

and since there has been no assertion of jurisdiction over 

it by the United States since 1869, it is reasonable to 

assume that the .United States has now lost by abandonment 

whatever interest it may once have had in and to Petrel 

Island. 

97 

98 

u. s. Consul, Kingston, Jama.lea, to Seo. of State, 
Oct. 15, 1925 (844 d.0141/2). 

Supra., note 83. 

40! 
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Assignments. 

l. James w. Jennett to Henrietta Stevens, May 5, 

1870, all his interest in the guano on Petrel 

Island ( a.lso on Pedro Keys, Roncador, and 

Quito Sueno). 

Henrietta Jennett (nee Stevens) to the Petrel 
92 

Guano Company, January 10, 1881, same interest. 

The Petrel Guano Company, March 23, 1893, resolu­

tion authorizing Robert L. Pierce to remove guano 

from any one or all islands in the Caribbean Sea 

belonging to the Compi3.ny 11 wi th the view of ef feet­

ing the sale of said islands." 

Robert L. Pierce to The Venezuela Phosphatic 

Fertilizer Company, March 23, 1893, all his interest 
93 

in the above contract with the Petrel Guano Company. 

The Petrel Guano Company (represented by Samuel 

Schwenk) to the Caribbean Guano Company (represented 

by George Crater), October 18, 1911, same interest 
.94 

acquired from Henrietta Jennett, supra. 

2. James W. Jennett to James H. Lancaster, December 11, 
95 

1890, all guano on Baxo Neuva Island and Bank. 

3. Henry 

~10 

92 Filed in 5 MS. Miscl. Let. re Guano, Roncador, Quito SUeno. 
93 Ibid, Petrel. 
94 Supra, note 92. 
95 Enclosure, Senator Walter Edge to Frank B. Kellogg, Sec. 

of Sta.te, Jan. 25, 1928 (811.0141 c _I9/26; see also /19, 
/28). 
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3. Henry Dewey, on November 7, 1881, filed a notice 

with the State Department of an alleged contract 

dated May 10, 1880, by which Jennett granted to 

Dewey 1/2 interest in all the Caribbean guano 
96 

islands Jennett might discover. 

Conclusion: The record title to the guano on Petrel 

96 

Island, 'if there is any there, is in the Caribbean 

Guano Company. 

5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Pedro. 

/ 

4 I J. 
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III. MONITO (MONITA) ISL.AND 

a, Geography. 

Moni to Island, situated in the Mona. Passage about mid­

way between Puerto Rico and Haiti, is three miles north 

northwest of Mona Island. There is a clear channel between 

Mona and Monito. Monito is a barren islet, about 400 yards 

in diameter, and its sides are composed of low but steep 

cliffs. There is a rock on the west side at which a landing 

can be made, although it is dangerous. The island is fre­

quented by numerous flocks of sea birds. 

Mona Passage, between Point Jiguero, Puerto Rico, and 

Cape Enge.no, Haiti, is 61 miles wide. In the center, at the 

south entrance, is Mona Island. It is about 6 miles long and 

3 1/2 wide, and is of volcanic formation, with steep perpen­

dicular cliffs on the north and northeastern sides, rising 

to a height of about 279 feet. On the southern side the 

cliffs are lower, with a narrow strip of lowland between 

them and the water, and the shores a.re fringed with detached 

coral reefs. On the northwestern Rnd northeastern coasts 

there are many caves, with stalactites and stalagmites. 

These caves have become deposits for guano. There are on 

the island many wild cattle, goats, hogs, sea birds, and 
()-· 

tortoises. There is also ._light at la.ti tude 1s0 05' N., 

longitude 67° 51' w. On the southeastern side is Playa 

Paj aro, 
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Pajaro, a settlement with stores and dwelling houses, built 
99 

by a guano company. 

b, United States Claim under the Guano Act. 

There are two declarations of discovery of guano on 

Monito Island. The first is that of Jacob Stokely, filed 

on May 28, 1859. He enclosed a deposition dated February 25, 

1859, in which he alleged: that he made the discovery on 

November 1, 1855, while he was master of the schooner 

GENERAL SCOTT; that the island (which he said was known as 

"L. Moni ta11 ) was then barren and uninhabited; and that he 

loaded the schooner with guano and took it to Baltimore. 

He also stated that when he returned to Monito it was still 

unoccupied; but that two persons, both allegedly represent­

ing the Captain-General :o'.f Puerto Rico, and one being George 

Latimer, American Consul at the port of St. Johns, Puerto 

Rico, appeared and ordered him off the island; and that he 

was forced to leave. In conclusion he prayed for such pro-
100 

tection as the United Sta.tee laws might allow him. 

The second notice of discovery was ap:µ:nently presented 

to the State Department by Messrs. Patterson and Murguondo, 

in 

99 
West Indies Pilot (U. s. 1927) H. O. 128, Vol. I, pages 
542 - 544. 

100 
H. Stockbridge, Att•y for Stokley, to Pres. James 
Buchanan, May 28, 1859, and enclosures, 4 MS. Miscl. Let. 
Re Guano, Monito. 
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101 
in July, 1859. The papers included: the deposition 

of John Cole, master of the schooner BRILLI.t\NT, dated 

July 26, 1859, in which he alleged that he made a dis­

covery of guano on «Monita 11 Island on June 13, 1859, that 

it waa uninhabited, not within the lawful jurisdiction of 

any other country, and that he took possession of it; and 

supporting depositions of Henry Johnson, mate on the schooner 

BRILLIANT, and of four seamen from the same schooner, both 
102 

dated July 26, 1859. 

Before either of these claims was presented to the 

Department, the Spanish Minister to the United States 

notified the Department, on June 16, 1856, that certain 

American vessels had been found taking guano from 11 Mon1 to" 

Island, and that they had been evicted, pacifically, by 

order of the Captain-General of Puerto Rico. The Minister 

stated that this i eland was II a possession of Spa:in and a 

dependency of Puerto Rico, 11 and requested the Secretary of 

State "to take such measures as may notify parties interested 

that the Mona and Monita Islands a.re Spanish possessions and 

dependencies of the Captaincy-General of Puerto Rico and 

101 

102 

that 

see John Appleton, Ass. Sec., to Patterson and Murguiondo, 
Aug. 2, 1859, 50 MS. Dom. Let. 505. 

Depositions of John Cole, Henry Johnson, and 4 Seamen, 
4 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Monito. 
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that the authorities of the latter will not allow any 

vessel, under what pretext soever, to export guano from 

them, without previously obtaining the requisite permission 
103 

to that effect. 11 The Secretary of State replied, noting 

that the islands of Mona and Monita were claimed as depen­

dencies of Puerto Rico, and stating that "agreeably to your 

request, an official notice to that effect has been pub-
104 

lished. 11 

The Department apparently took no action on Stokely's 

claim, beyond acknowledging receipt of his papers and 

stating that for the United States to protect citizens under 

the Guano Act the island in question must not be within the 
105 

lawful jurisdiction of any other government. However, 

the Department did inform Messrs. Patterson and Murguondo 

of the contents of the Spanish Minister's note of June 16, 

1856, and of Jacob Stokely's alleged discovery of guano on 
106 

Monito in November, 1855. 

No evidence has been discovered of any further repre­

sentations made by Patterson and Murguondo, or by John 

Cole, regarding Monito, but in 1863 Stokely's claim was 

again 

103 Don Escalante, Spanish Min. to u. s., tow. L. Marcy, 
Sec. of State, June 16, 1856, 16 MS. Spanish Leggtion, 
notes from (translation). 

104 w. L. Marcy, Sec. of State, to Don Escalante, Span. Min. 
to u. s. , June 19, 1856, a MS. Notes to Span. Legation 
83. (No publication of sooh a notice has been found.) 

105 John Appleton, Ass. Sec. to H. Stockbridge, Att'y, June 8, 
1859, 50 MS. Dom. Let. 374. 

106 John Appleton, Ass. Sec., to Patterson & Murguondo, 
Aug. 2, 1859, Ibid 505. 
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107 
again urged upon the Department. The Secretary of State 

replied by referring to the Spanish Minister's protest in 

June, 1856, and added: 

"This claim to jurisdiction [by Spain] has 
thus far been acquiesced in by the Government of 
the United States, and the Department is n9t now 
aware of any good reason for denying i t. 11 108 . 

Once again, in 1875, Stokely's claim was presented by 

Johns. Edwards, and Jesse H. Whitehurst, Stokely1 s suc­

cessors in interest. There is on file an undated memorial 

signed by J. H. Whitehurst, recounting the eviction of 
109 

Stokely from Monito in 1859, and enclosing various exhibits. 

Johns. Edwards, in a memorial dated September 23, 1875, 

also recited these facts, and requested a navy escort for 
110 

vessels which he proposed to send to Monito for guano. 

This memorial was sent to the Navy Department and there is 

a note on the back, signed "J.A.B., Solicitor," dated Decem­

ber as, 1875, to the effect that these claimants had never 

complied with the conditions of the Guano Act; that Monito 

is Spanish, and that it would be absurd to recognize Edwards' 

claim. Reference is also made to Secretary seward 1 s letter 

of 

107 B. H. Hanna, Att 1 y for Stokely, to Wm. Seward, sec. of 
State, Dec. 15, 1863, 4 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Monito . 

108 Wm. H. Seward, Sec. of State, to B. H. Hanna, Jan. 14, 
1867, 63 MS. Dom. Let. 17. 

109 Memorial of J. H. Whitehurst and enclosures, 4 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re. Guano, Monito. 

110 Ibid. 
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of 1864. The Edwards memorial was filed by the State Depart-
Ill 

ment on March 1, 1878. On May 3, 1877, Judge O'Connor, 

Examiner of Claims, concluded that Edwa:nds could not pro­

perly remove guano from Mani ta Island for the following 

reasons: 11 The discovery or right has never been recognized 

by this Government"; 110 bond for the i ala.nd was ever filed; 

Stokely's right of discovery, if he ever bad any, had been 

lost by abandonment, for the discovery was in 1855, a.nd in 

1859 he only asked for damages, and took no further steps 

to protect his title; and finally, the rock in question is 

within the jurisdiction of Puerto Rico. He added that the 

request for a navy escort was absurd and that: 

11 We had a three-years• diplomatic contest 
with Haiti about the little island of Navassa. 112 
It was not worth the time that was spent on it. 11 

There can be no doubt that Edwards' claim was rejected al­

tnough no record has been found of any letter to that 

effect from the Department. 

c, United States Claim to Monito as Part of Puerto Rico. 

By the Trea.ty of Peace of December 10, 1898, between the 

United States and Spain, Spain ceded to the United Sta.tea 

111 Ibid. 

112 Henry O'Connor, Examiner of Claims, M::ty 3, 1877, 
9 MS. Op. and Rep. No. 2. 

11 the 
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"the island of Porto Rico and other islands now under 
113 

Spa,nish sovereignty in the West Indies ••• 11 There 

is no doubt that the II other islands 11 include Mona, which 

has long been regarded as adj a.cent to and part of Puerto 
114 

Rico. The island of Mona is included in the munici-

pa.lity of Mayaguez, Puerto Rico, and according to the 

United States Census Report for 1930, it had in thR.t year 
115 

410 

a population of 35. The light on the island is maintained 

by the United States Bureau of Lighthouses. 

' No specific reference to Monito Island as part of 

Puerto Rico has been found, but this may be explained by 

the fact that Monito is so small, and is completely barren 

and uninhabited. There can be no doubt, however, that it 

is generally regarded as contiguous to Mona, being only 

three miles from it, and that Monito as well as Mona, is 

one of the islands adjacent to Puerto Rico, under the Organic 
116 il7 

Act of March 2, 1917. and belongs to the United States. 

113 Treaty of Dec. 10, 1898, u. s. and Spain, Art. II, Malloy, 
Treaties, Vol. 2, page 1690. 

114 See Organic Act of Porto Rico, as amended to March 4, 1927, 
(Wash. 1927); De Golia, Porto Rico, What it Produces and 
What it Buys, U. s. Commerce Dept. No. 785 (Wash. 1932), 
p. l; M. S. Wolf & I. A. de Mier, A Guide Book to Porto 
Rico (N. Y. 1928), p. 45; E. M. Douglas, Boundaries, 
Areas Gora hie Centers and Altitudes of the United 
States Wash. 1930, p. 7; See also Ham. Fis, sec. of 
Sta.te, to Stephen Preston, Haitian Min. to u. s., Dec. 31, 
1872, I MS. Notes to Haiti, 124, 136. 

115 Fifteenth ' Census,.of the United States, Porto Rico (vra.sh. 
l930), p. 11. 

116 Supra,Note 114. 
117 See Post Route Ma of Porto Rico a.nd Vir in Islands, Jen. 

1923, u. s. A. which shows onito and Mona as pa;rt of 
Puerto Rico territory); See also U. s. Coast Pilot, 
West Indies (Wash. 1929), p. 111. 
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PART II. ISLANDS TO WHICH THE UNITED STATES HAS NO CLAIM. 

I. ISLANDS CLAIMED BY VENEZUELA. 

1. AVES (BIRD) ISLAND. 

a. Geogra.phy. 

41 !) 

Aves Island, latitude, 15° 42' N., longitude, 630 38' 

w., is an isolated island in the eastern Caribbean Sea, west 

of the Leeward Islands group in the Lesser Antilles. There 

is a.nother island of the same name between Bonaire and Los 

Roques, about seventy-five miles north of the Venezuelan 

Coast. The Aves in the Leeward Islands (more than 350 

miles from the Venezuelan coast), is 3/4' of', f!J. mile long by 

5 yards wide, and is only 8 feet high. It is a coral island 

rising from a submerged bank of considerable size, and is 

surrounded by a barrier reef, except on the west side where 

a landing is possible. There is no fresh water on the 

island, and there are no trees, but it is covered with grass 

about 6 inches high. 

There is said to be no appea.rance of guano on the island 

at the present time. During March and April fishermen from 

st. Eustatius and neighboring islands visit Aves in seru·ch 

of eggs which are sold in large quantities at St. Thomas. 

In the fishing season a schooner makes three voyages between 
118 

Aves, st. Thomas, Sa.ba. and St. Eusta.tius islands. 

118 West Indies Pilot (Washington, 1929} H. o. 129, pp. 135 -
136. 
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b. Claim of Shel ton et a.l, age.inst Venezuela.. 

Two years before the passage of the GUIIDO Act of 1856, 

Messrs. Lang and Dela.no notified the State Depa.rtment that 

their a.gent had discovered deposits of gua.no on Aves Isla.nd 

in June, 1854, and had taken possession of the island under 

the American flag, and that they were then engaged in ship­

ping guano. They inquired whether they had a right to 
119 

possess the island. The State Department replied: that 

it was probable Aves Island had long since been discovered 

and na.med by Spaniards, but that presumably it was not con­

eidered desirable for settlement; and that the Department 
120 

could only determine what action to take when occasion arose. 

On January 15, 1855, Messrs. Sampson, Tappan and Shelton, 

associated with Leng and Delano, protested to the State De­

partment against their forceful ejection from Aves Island by 

an armed Venezuelan force. This ejection took nlace on 
lj ~ 

December 13, 1855, when a Venezuelan vessel of war, commanded 

by one Dias, appeared at Aves, ordered the American flag 

down, and the American occupants off the island, and raised 

the Venezuelan flag; and on December 21, when the Venezuelan 

forces 

119 Lang and De
1

lano t'o' Caleb Cushing, Att 1 y Gen., Aug. 2§,-
1854, s. Ex. Doc. 25, 34 Cong. 3d Sess., p. 2. 

120 Marcy, sec. of State, to Lang and Delano, Sept. 12, 
1854, Ibid p. 3. 
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121 
forces landed about twenty armed men on the island. 

In April, 1856, H. S~ Sanford, attorney for Shelton, 

presented a memorial claiming $341,000 damages for the 

eviction ($28,500 for actual loss, $312,500 for the guano 

said to be on the island, valued at $12e 50 a ton), and 

asking for the restoration of the island. Affidavits and 

sworn statements we·re submitted at this time in proof of 

claimants• actual discovery of the guano and occupa,tion of 
122 

the island. 

The Secretary of State accordingly instructed Mr. Eames, 

United States Minister to Venezuela, that American citizens 

had been forcibly evicted from the 11 derelict 11 island of Aves 

by Venezuelan forces, and requested him to discover what 

title Venezuela had to the island, adding: 

"Venezuela has had no actual -oossession 
of that island--no military or civil estab­
lishment thereon, no continued occupany by 
its citizens. She has exhibited to the 
world no such manifestations of ownership 
as any other nation is bound to recognize 
or respect. She certainly can found no 
plausible pretext to claim it as her own 
by reason of its proximity to any of her 
acknowledged territories. Other powers 
have possessions much nearer to it than 
any of hers. 

"Unless Venezuela has the rightful 
sovereignty over that islend, the act of 

her 
121 Sampson and Tappan and Shelton to Marcy, Sec. of State, 

Jan. 15, 1855; Sen. Ex. Doc. 10, 36 Cong. 2 Sess. p. 5, 
et seq. 

122 Memorial of H. S. Sanford, Ap:ril 19, 1856, Ibid; See 
also s. Ex. Doc. 25, supra, Note 119. 
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her authorities in disturbing our citizens 
in their occupations there was wrongful, 
and gives them a just right to indemnity. 11 123 

l " •' 

Mr. Eames reported: that Venezuela had no title to 

Aves Island; that both France and the Netherlands claimed 

the island; that the expulsion by Venezuela was motivated 

by the desire to grant a concession to certain American 

citizens (the Philadelphia Guano Company) for the removal 

of guano from Aves Island. He noted that the occupation 

of Aves on December 13 was timed so tha.t it was known in 
124 

Venezuela when this contract was about to be signed. 

The United States urged this claim upon Venezuela, 

and engaged in a series of protests and negotiations from 
125 

1855 'l.llltil 1859. On January 2, 1857, the State Depart-

ment remarked, in connection with a defense raised by 

Venezuela: 

123 

11 ••• Were the claims of other nations rather 
than Venezuela to the sovereignty of the island 
sustained, that condition, if anything, only 
aggravates the wrong perpetuated by her officers 
upon the citizens df the United States. It is 
no defense for the spoilation of their property, 
their forcible expulsion, and the heavy lasses, 
that the island belonged to some other nation 
than Venezuela. 11 l~ 6 

Claimants 

w. L. Marcy, Sec. of State, to c. Eames, u. s. Min. to 

I . ' J • i 
':t ,,,. . ., ~-· 

Venezuela, Jan. 24, 1855, No. 12, s. Ex. Doc. 25, supra, 
Note 119, p. 4. 

124 c. Ea.111es, u. s. Min. to Venezuela, to Marcy, Sec. of 
Sta.te, .kp .. 26, 1855, Ibid, p. 5. 

125 Ibid; see also Doc. 10, supra note 121. 
126 Marcy, sec. of State, to C. Eames, U. s. Min. to 

Venezuela, Jan. 2, 1857, Doc. 25, supra Note 119, p. 34. 
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Claimants continued to press their claim upon the 

United States, and at one time, in 1857, applied for 

letters of reprisal, authorizing them to take forcible 

measures to indemnify themselves. No action on this 
127 

application appears to have been taken, however. 

The dispute was finally settled by a a convention signed 

by Mr. Turpin, the United States Minister to Venezuela, and 

Mr. Sanajo, the Venezuelan Minister of Foreign Relations, 

on January 14, 1859, and ratified by the Venezuelan legis­

lature on February 1, 1859. Ratification by the United 

States Senate was not considered necessary, as it was merely 
I 2. S'. 

a convention for the adjustment of a private claim. By this 

convention (Articles 1 and 2) Venezuela agreed to pay 

$130,000 to indenmify the claimants, with interest at five 

per cent per annum on the gross amount of the indemnity. 

Article 3 provided as follows: 

"In consideration of the above agree­
ment Bnd indemnification, the Government 
of the United States, and the individua.ls 
in whose behalf they had been made, agree 
to desist from all further reclamation 
[for] the Island of Aves." 

( The next clause ,--11 abandoning to the Republic of Venezuela. 

whatever 

127 
see v Moore's Digest, p. 122 - 3; Doc. 10, Supra, Note 
121, p. 242, 466. 
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whatever rights may pertain to them" ,--was deleted by the 

Venezuelan legislature, and this was agreed to by the United 
128 

States Minister.) 

There was considerable difficulty in collec ti~ this 

sum. In 1862 Secretary Seward instructed the United States 

Minister to protest against the non-payment of installments 
- 129 

due under the Aves Island convention, and on January 24, 

1863, the United States threatened to send a warship to 
130 

La Guayr a to enf ore~ its demands for payment. By a 

convention of June 5, 1863, the export dues of certain 

Venezuelan ports were set aside for the benefit of the sum 
131 

due the claimants. Again in October, 1869, the final 
132 

settlement of the claim was urged, but it was discovered 

that Mro Sanford, attorney for the claimants, had on 

September 12, 1864, made a full settlement of the cla,ims 

with the Venezuelan Government, and had given Venezuela the 

following receipt: 

128 
129 

130 

131. 
132 

"I 

Doc. 10, s~pra note 121, p. 456 - 460, 472. 
Wm. Seward, sec. of State, to Hon. w. sturup, Consul 
General of Denmark at Caracas, Ven., Ap. 22, 1862, 
2 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Aves. W. H,. Seward, Sec. 
of State, to E. D. Culver, U. S. Charge at Caracas, 
July 30, 1862, I MS. Venezuela, Instructions 242, No. 5, 
do. to do. Jan. 24, 1863, Ibid 259, No. 18. See also 
Ibid p. 262~ 271, 285. 
See supra, !'lote 
Ham. Fish, Sec. of State, to J. R. Partridge, U. s. Min. 
to Venezuela, Oct. 5, 1869, Ibid, 139, No. 17. 
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11 I hereby acknowledge to have received 
from the Government of Venezuela through the 
General Credit and Finance Company of London, 
full satisfaction of the dues under the Con­
vention made at Valencia on the fourteenth of 
January, 1859, between the United States and 
the Republic of Venezuela, known as the Aves 
Island Convention, and I hereby on behalf of 
the creditors under said Convention relinquish 
all claims on the Government of Venezuela in 
virtue of the same, or of the Convention of the 

?_ ') :­
':f .... ' ) 

5th of June, 1863, hypo thee a ting for 1 ts bene- 133 
fit the export dues of certain ports of Venezuela. 11 

Claim of the Atlantic and Pacific Guano Company againsJ. 
the Netherlands. 

On September 13, 1859, the Netherlands' Minister to the 

United States requested information regarding the Atlantic 

and Pacific Guano Company of New York, and its claim to the 

right to dig guano on Aves Island, which for 11 time immemoria.l 

has been acknowledged to belong to the Netherlands posses­

sions of the West Indies. 11 He added that the sovereignty 

over this island was in dispute between the Netherlands and 

Venezuela, but that this question had been referred to 

arbitration by a convention concluded August 5, 1857, and 

that 11 while waiting for this arbi tra.tion, the Government 

of the Netherlands flatters itself that the citizens of 

the United States will respect a right of property and of 
134 

sovereignty which can not be contested by their Government. 11 

The 
133 Ham. Fish, Sec. of State, to James R. Partridge, U. s. 

Min. to Venezuela, Dec. 7, 1869, 2 MS. Ven. Instructions, 
147, No. 26. 

134 R. van Limburg, Netherlands Min. to U. s., to Lewis Oass, 
sec

0 
of State, Sept. 13, 1859, 4 MS. Netherlands, Notes 

From (translation}. 
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The Secretary of State replied that he had no informa­

tion regarding this Company and inquired by what right the 
135 

Netherlands claimed the island. The Dutch Minister re-

plied: that the Netherlands owned Aves by virtue of two 

centuries of continued possession; that Aves used to be 

connected with Saba Island, a Dutch possession, by a sand 

bA.nk; that the Dutch subjects of St. Eustatius and Saba 

frequented the island for eggs and fish every year. He 

referred to various maps and authorities to sustain his 
136 

contentions. 

On March 1, 1860, Joseph S. Willia,ms filed a memorial 

alleging: that on a date left bla.nk one James Leeds ha.d 

discovered Aves Island, abandoned and derelict, and taken 

possession of it for the Atlantic and Pacific Guano Company; 

that on October 29, 1858, Samuel Fowler, agent of the Com­

pany, landed on the island and found other Americaradigging 

there; that on January 23, 1859, a Dutch sloop of war, the 

GOVERNOR MCINTOSH, ordered Fowler off the island under claim 

of Dutch sovereignty; and, finally, that Fowler was conse­

quently forced to abandon the island, and the Company was 

damaged 

135 Cass, Sec. of State, to Van Limburg, Netherland Min. 
to u. s., Sept. 20, 1859, 6 MS. Netherlands, Notes to, 
137. 

136 Van Limburg, Netherlands Min. to U. s., to Cass. Sec. 
of State, Dec. 10, 1859, 4 MS. Netherlands, Notes From. 
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damaged $265,000 which the United States should obta.in from 
137 

the Netherlands on behalf of the claimants. Various docu-
138 

ments were submitted in support of these allegations. 
139 

The claim was again presented in 1861, 
140 

and in 1866. 

Although no letter from the Department rejecting this 

claim has been found, there is little doubt that it was 

·\1'~1Tn rejected. In a memor signed by Mr. Hunter, dated May 2, 

1862, it is said: 

"There is nothing in the Department to 
show that the Company has complied with the 
requirements of the Act of Congress in re­
gaxd to the guano on Aves Island ••• If 
any citizens in the United Sta.tee have such 
a claim, they must be P. S. Shelton of Boston 
and his associates ••• 

11 Hi therto no steps have been taken t omxds 
prosecuting the claim of the Atlantic and Pacific 
Guano Company. 11 141 

E. Peshine Smith, Exwniner of Claims, also reviewed the 

claim and noted particularly: that the island was~­

discovered; that it was not clear whether or not the other 

Americans Fowler found there were working for the Dutch 

Government, or under a separate claim of discovery; and 

that the prompt abandonment by Fowler, in spite of ~ssurances 

by 

137 Josephs. Williams to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, Max. 3, 
1860, 2 MS. Miscl. Let. Re. Guano, Aves. 

138 Ibid. 
139 do. tow. H. Seward, Sec. of State, Aug. 19, 1861, Ibid. 
140 ward H. Lamore to Seward, Sec. of State, Feb. 21, 1866, 

Ibid. 
141 Memo by w. H. Hunter, May 2, 1862, Ibid. 
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by the Dutch Governor of st. Eustatius that he did not 

intend to prevent the removal of guano from the island, 

led to the suspicion that a claim against the Dutch Gov­

ernment was probably considered more profitable than 

working the guano. He concluded as follows: 

"It is to be considered whether Venezuela, 
having paid our claims for her appropriation 
of the island, has not, as against us the right 
to continue the appropriation; so that no Ameri­
can unless he connects himself with a title under 
Venezuela, can ask us to intervene in his behalf. 

"There seems to be no evidence that this 
Company has qualified itself under the Act of 
August 18, 1856, to ask the protection of this 
Government. The policy seems to be that they 
should take possession for the United States. 

11 The case is now too obscure to justify 
any representation to the Government of the 
Metherlands. I have no opinion as to the title 
of that Government. 11142 

d, Claim of the A~es, Guano Company under the Guano Act. 

On May 20, 1859, James W. Jennett filed a notice of 

discovery of guano on 11 De Aves, 11 in October, 1856. The 

statement contains the usual allegations, and is supported 
143 

by the declarations of the mates on the schooner PETREL. 

On November 4, 1869, Jennett filed additional evidence of 

his 

142 E. Peshine Smith, Examiner of Claims, Vol. I, Op. and 
Rep. P. 75, No. 15. 

143 c. D. Willard, Atty for Jennett, to Hamilton Fish, Sec. 
of State, May 20, 1859, and enclosures, 2 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re. Guano, Aves. 
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hie discovery and occupa.tion of the island, alleging that 

on February 10, 1869, he employed two men to stay on Aves 

for six months. These statements were also supported by 
144 

affidavits. 

By various assignments the Aves Guano Company acqttlred . 

Jennett's interest in Aves Island, and on October 21, 1880, 
145 

filed a bond, as required by the Act of 1856. This bond 

was transmitted to the Treasury Department for filing, and 
,nayk~cl. 146 

wa.s
11 

11 approved" by the State Department. A letter to the 

President of the Company was prepared, in which the Company's 

exclusive interests in Aves under the Guano Act of 1856 was 
147 

recognized, but this letter was never sent. Judge otconno:i; 

Examiner of Claims, concluded: that Jennett was bound to 

have notice of the antecedent proceedings (Shelton's claim), 

regarding Aves Island, and could not be considered a dis­

coverer; and that, Jennett 1 s title failing, the title of 
148 

the Aves Guano Company was likewise invalid. Accordingly, 

the 

144 Lincoln a,nd Willard to Ha.m. Fish, Sec. of State, Nov. 4, 
1869, and enclosures, Ibido 

145 Wm. A. Torrey, Pres. of Aves Guano Co., to Wm. Evarts, 
Sec. of State, Oct. 21, 1880, Ibid. 

146 John Ha.y, Acting sec., to John Sherman, Sec. of Treaso 
Oct. 27, 1880, 135 MS. Dom. Let. 43. 

147 Sta.te Dept. (no signature) to Wm. A. Torrey, Oct. 27, 
1880, Draft in Vd. 12. Op and Rep. 541. 

148 O'Connor, Examiner of Claims, Dec. 9, 1881, Vol. 14, 
Op. P..nd Rep. p. 30. 
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the President of the Aves Gua.no Company was notified: 

11 ••• that the facts and circumstances are not 
such as to warrant the recognition of the claim 
in question by the Government of United States 
under the provisions of the Act of Congress of 18th 
August, 1856." 149 

Again, in 1883, the Department said: 

11 no promise of recognition of the cle.im was made 
by the Department. • • 11150 

e, Arbitration between Venezuela and The Netherla,nds. 

The award of the Queen of Spain concerning the sovereignty 

of Aves Island, under the convention of August 5, 1857, between 

Venezuela and The Netherlands, was rendered on June 30, 1865. 

The conclusion reads as follows: 

"••• the ownership of the Island in question 
belongs to the Republic of Venezuela, the 1ndemni­
zation for the fishing which the Dutch subjects 
will cease to take advantage of remains as a charge 
upon the latter (Venezuela}, if in fa.ct it deprives 
them of the utilization thereof, in which case the 
ra.te for the said indemniza.tion shall be the liquid 
annual income from the fishing calculated for the 
last five years, capitalizing it at five per cent. 111 51 

Venezuela elected to permit the continua.tion of the Dutch 
152 

fishing. 
The 

149 

150 

151 

152 

F. T. Frelinghuyser, Seo. of State, to Thorndike 
Saunders, Ja.n. 16, 1882, 140 MS. Dom. Let. 389. 
John Davis, Acting Sec., to Knevalls & Ransum, Mar. 12, 
1883, 146 MS. Dom. Let. 123. 
Award of the Queen of Spain, Moore•o Arb. 5037 - 5041 
(translation). 
Ibid. 
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The award appears to be ba.sed upon the following con­

clusions: 

1. The 1 slands of Aves and Saba are not now connected 

by a sand bank, and were not so connected when the Dutch 

took possession of Saba; 

2. Even though the inhabitants of Sto Eustatius hRve 

frequented Aves three or four months a year since the 

middle of the eighteenth century, in search of turtles 

and eggs 11 this fact cannot serve as a basis for the right 

of sovereignty, because it only indicates a temporary and 

precarious occupation of the Island, fishing not being in 

this case an exclusive right, but the consequence of the 

abandonment of it by the inhabitants of the nearby regions, 

or by its legitimate owner; 11 

3. Although Venezuela, in the concession for the 

extraction of guano on Aves to the Philadelphia. Guano 

Company, stipulated that no indemnity would be required 

of it if it were dispossessed of the island, this condition 

wa.s no proof in favor of the Netherlands cla.im; 

4. There wa.s no doubt Aves belonged to Spain as part 

of the West Indies, and descended to Venezuela a.s part of 

the territory of the Au.diencia of Caracas; 

5. Al though it had never been occupied by Spain, the 

"temporary residence" by Dutch citizens was no more than 11a 

precarious occupation which does not constitute possession 11
; 

6. 
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6. Finally, the Government of Venezuela was the first 

to have armed forces there and II to exercise active sovereignty, 

thus confirming the Dominion which it acquired by a general 
153 

title derived from Spain. 11 

153 
Ibid. 

• 
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154 
Assignments 

I. Record Title of the Aves Guano Company. 

l. Je.mes W. Jennett to Edwin L. Parker, January 21, 

1870, all his interest in guano on De Avis or Bird Island. 

a. Edwin L. Parker to James w. Jennett, March 22, 

1870, sa.me interest. 

3. James W. Jennett to Stewart Newell, October 20, 

1870, same interest. 

Stewart Newell and L. Harwood, Ma.rah 15, 1880, agree­

ment by which Newell authorized Harwood to dispose of 

Newell's interest in the island on certain conditions. 

4. Stewart Newell to the Aves Guano Company, May 21, 

1880, same interest as that received from Jennett. 

5. The Aves Guano Company, by Thorndike Saunders, 

Receiver, to Thorndike Saunders, September 22, 1882, same 

interest (and also the Company's interest in Serranilla 

and Western Triangle Islands). 

In connection with this assignment, there is a state­

ment signed by Saunders, dated July, 1882, that: 

154 

11 None of these cla.ims of title have been 
recognized by the United States Government. The 
claim as to Aves Island has been refused recog­
nition by that Government, and none of the 
deposits on the islands are in the possession 
of the Company or anyone on its behalf at tb.is 
time. 11 

II. No 

Unles~' otherwise noted, all a.ssignments filed in 
2 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Aves. 
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I I. 

No assignments were recorded under the cla.im of 

Philo Shelton et al., nor under the claim of the Atlantic 

and Pacific Guano Company. 
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2. ;LOS MONJ;s, OR THE MONKS 

a. Geography. 

The Monks is a group of small, rather high, barren 

islands in the Southern Caribbean Sea, just north of the 

entrance to the Gulf of Venezuela. North Monks, 22 miles 

from .Oabo Chichivacoa, is a group of five rocks about 

135 feet high. South Monks, latitude 120 22' N., longitude 

70° 54 1 W., 7 1/2 miles from North Monks, are two rocks 

close together, about 230 feet high. East Monks, about 
155 

3 1/4 miles from South Monks, is 180 feet high. 

b. Claim of Gowen and Coueland against Venezuela. 

In June, 1854, Messrs. Gowen and Copeland, American 
156 

citizens, discovered guano on The Monks. At the time 

of this discovery the rocks were both II uninhabited and 

uninhabitable, there being no vegetation and no water, nor 

were there any visible signs to indicate that they had ever 
. 157 

been occupied by any human beings. 11 Upon ana.lysis, the 

guano proved to be exceptionally rich, and Gowen e.nd Copeland 

sent men, machinery, and materials to the Islands, instructing 

their 

155 West Indies Pilot (Wash. 1929), H. o. 129, Vol. II, p. 3990 
156 Brief for Venezuela, before the Claims Commission, under 

the Convention of Dec. 5, 1885, between the United 
Sta.tea and Venezuela, Dept. of State, Archives. 

157 Opinion of Findlay, for the Commission, John E. Gowen 
and Franklin Copeland vs. Venezuela, No. 16, Ibido 
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their agents to take possession in the name of the United 

States, for the use and benefit of themselves. Accordingly, 

possession was taken in this manner on December 14, 1854, 
158 

and for about a year claimants worked the deposit. 

In August, 1855, a Venezuelan armed vessel visited the 
159 

Islands and ordered the party to leave, but they refused. 

On about the first of December, 1855, a Venezuelan man-of-wax 

appeared at the Islands, landed soldiers, seized the equip­

ment and materials of the claimants, and expelled their 
160 

employees under threats of imprisonment. It appears 

that this expulsion was connected with the similar act by 

Venezuela at the same time on the Island of Aves, and with 

the concession granted by Venezuela to the Philadelphia 
161 

Guano Company. On January 10, 1856, claimants, in 

order (as they said) to prevent further losses, entered 

into an agreement with the Philadelphia company which per­

mitted them to continue to work the Islands for fifteen 
162 

months. 

Gowen and Copeland claimed damages age.inst Venezuela 

for the seizure of their property and the expulsion of 

their 

158 

159 
160 
161 

162 

Report of the case, cited Note 3, in Moore's Arb. 
3354 - 3359. 
Brief for Claimants, supra., Note 156. 
Opinion of Findlay, supra, Note 157. 
see c. Eames, U.S. Min. to Venezuela, to Marcy, Sec. 
of State, April 26, 1855, s. Ex. Doc. 25, 34 Cong. 
3 Sess. p. 5. 
Moore's Arb., supra, Note 158. 
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163 
their men to the amount of $383,646. Apparently neither 

of the claimants believed that they or the United States 

had acquired the Islands, by virtue of claimants' possession 

of them, and in fact there is evidence that they thought the 

Islands belonged either to Venezuela or to New Granada. In 

view of the Aves Island case, however, Copeland believed he 
164 

had a good claim. 

The case was arbitrated before the Venezuelan Claims 

Commission under the convention of December 5, 1885, between 

the United States and Venezuela. The Commission allowed 

cla.imants $20,000.. Commissioner Findlay, speR.king for the 

Commission, refused to decide the question of whether 

Venezuela or New Granada had sovereignty over the Islands, 

and stated that the Commission -

"are disposed to rest their decision upon the 
simple proposition that the claimants, in taking 
possession of a barren rock, or group of rocks, 
in the high seas, unoccupied A..nd uninhabited, and 
as far as the proof shows never occupied, for the 
temporary purpose of removing a valuable deposit, 
which they were the first to discover, cannot be 
treated as trespassers, subject to be removed by 
the strong hand, and to be de1ggiled of their 
possessions without redress. 11 

It is evident, moreover, that the award does not rest 

upon any finding that the United States had sovereignty of 

the 

163 
164 

165 

Brief for Claimants, supra, Note 159. 
F Copeland to Lewis Cass, sec. of state, Nov. 25, 
1857, copy in State Dep. Archives, filed with the 
case papers. 
Moores Arb. 3355 
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the Islands. It is said that the attempt to take posses­

sion in the name of the United States was a nuge.tory act; 

that the United States never claimed jurisdiction, and 

m~de no protest when its flag was hauled down under the 

orders of the Venezuelan commander; and that 11 we are 

speaking now of an occupation merely as distinguished 

from an actual appropriation with a view to sovereignty. 11 

Aopa.rently the liability of V8 nezuela is based rather on 

the circumstances that the Islands appeared to be derelict 

and that Venezuela did not in the first instance warn the 

claimants against landing upon the Islands under a claim 

of jurisdiction. The $20,000 is the alleged value of the 

plant claimants set up upon the Island. It is expressly 

said that no interest is allowed II owing to the imperfection 

and obscurity of the proof with reference to the value of 
166 

the plant. 11 

166 Opinion of Findlay, supra, Note 157. 
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3. LOS ROQ.UES 

a. Geographl• 

Los Roques, latitude 11° 58' N~, , longitude 66° 41' . w., 
is a large group of keys situated in the southeastern part 

of the Caribbean Sea, off the north coast of Venezuela. The 

keys are on a dangerous reef, about 13 by 24 miles squ-=i.re. 

They are all low except El Roque. The largest Island, Cayo 

Grande, at the southeastern point of the reef, is 7 by 6 

miles in size. Cayo de Sal, close to the western end of 

Cayo Grande, is a narrow key 7 miles long. There are a 

number of smaller islands in a ten mile area north and 

northwest of this key. Blackman's Cay, a.t the edge of the 

reef, 3 3/4 miles south of El Roque, is a. low island covered 

with bushes. Two to 3 miles north of this key are PirRte, 

Namans, Northeast, ~nd French keys, of a coral Rnd sand 

formation, and covered with samphire grass, mangroves and 

dwarf trees. 

El Roque, at the northern extremity of the group, is 

nearly 2 miles long by about 1500 yards wide, and is 386 

feet high. The western pa.rt of this key is composed of 

moderately high limestone hills. Stone is quarried here, 

a.nd there is R. small settlement (chiefly fishermen) on 

the western side of the Island. There is a well on El Roque , 

but the supply is uncertain. On the easternmost bank of 

the 
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the Island is Los Roques light, and at the northern ex-
167 

tremi ty of the whole group there is an excellent anchorage. 

b. United Sta tea Claim under the Guano Act. 

On may 28, 1869, James w. Jennett filed a declaration 

of discovery of guAno on Los Roques, giving the position 

as latitude 11° 50' N., longitude 66° 40' w., and enclosing 
168 

the usual affidavits and supporting declarations. On 

November 4, 1869, he filed additional evidence of his 

occupation of the Islands, alleging that he made a contract 

with two men to remain on the Islands for 6 months, and 
169 

submitted supporting affidavits. 

Apparently Jennett filed no bond for these Islands 

under the Guano Act, and they were never listed by the 
170 

Treasury Department as appertaining to the United States. 

In 1871, the State Department sa.id: 

167 

168 

169 

170 
171 

11 Los Roques Islands a.re not under the protection 
and jurisdiction of the Government. A citizen or 
citizens of the United States claim to have discovered 
guano on these Islands, but their title is not re­
gaxded as sufficient to warrant official recognition 
tmder the law on that subject. 11 171 

West Indies Pilot (Wash. 1929), H. o. 139, Vo""I. II, 
pages 366 - 368. 
c. D. Willard, Att'y for Jennett, to Ham. Fish, May 28, 
1869, and enclosures, 4 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Los 
Roques. 
Lincoln and Willard to Ham. Fish, Sec. of State, Nov. 4, 
1869, and enclosures, Ibid. See also Affidavit of 
Capt. John Eaden of the LAVINIA, Sept. 11, 1869, 5 Ibid, 
Pedro. 
6 Ibid, Mi sol. 
Ham. Fish, sec. of state, tow. Orange and Co., June 10, 
1871, 89 MS. Dom. Let. 528. 
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II. ISLANDS CLAIMED BY THE DOMINICAN REPUBLIC 

1. ALTA VELA (ALTO VELO) ISLAND 

a. Geographz. 

Alta Vela, latitude 17° 28' N., longitude 71° 39t w., 
is a small island 6 1/3 miles southwest of the southwestern 

extremity of Beata Island. Beata, about 4 miles square, is 

6 miles west of Point Bee,ta on the island of Haiti, and is 

connected with the mainland by a. bank 12 to 18 feet lmder 

water. Alta Vela, a bell-shaped hill 500 feet high, is 

a bout 3 /4 of a mi le long and 1/2 a. mi le wide. To the 

east a.re several large rocks close to the shore. The coast 

is rocky but approachable, and there is an anchorage off an 

old pier on the northwest side of the island and a cove 

where boats can la.nd. The channel between Beata. and Al ta 

Vela is clear, though there is usue,lly a heavy swell there 

a.nd the trade route is out side both i sla.nds. Black Rock 

rises 20 feet high 1/2 mile/ to the north of Alta Vela; 

and 10 miles we st of Bea ta is Fraile Rock, 200 yards long 

and 25 feet high. 

I .· ,/ 
// 

There is a light on tN Alta. Vela, maintained by the 

Dominican Republic, but there are no inhabitants other 

than the light keepers, and occasional fishermen who come 

to both Alta Vela and Beata to dry their fish. There is 

no fresh water, but the light has a reservoir. The ru1.ns 

of 
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172 
of old phosphate works ma.y still be seen on the isl1md. 

b. Claim of W. T. Kendall under the Guano Act. 

On May 14, 1860, W. T. Kendall of Baltimore, sent a 

notice of his discovery of guano on Al ta Vela to the State 

Department. He alleged: that the brig DELTA, commanded by 

his agent, Captain Daulby, anchored at Alta Vela March 19, 

1860, and that Daulby 11 discovered upon said island a, denosit 

of guano, and in the nrune of the United States took posses-

sion of it, and loaded his vessel. • • and sent her home; 11 

that Captain Daulby remained on the island with two men, 

11 to work and hold possess ion of the same; 11 and that II said 

island lies out of the jurisdiction of any other government, 

and uninhabited at the time of discovery. 11 Kendall requested 

11 the proper entry to be made in my name as the owner and 
173 

discoverer of said gua.no deposi ts. 11 On June 5 Kendall 

asked that the amount of his bond be fixed; filed, a.s ad­

ditional proof of bis discovery, a declaration signed and 

attested by the master of the DELTA and two members of the 

crew; and stated that the guano on the island was 66 per cent 
174 

bone phosphate of lime, worth $15.00 a ton in BRltimore. 

172 

173 

174 

In 

West Indies Pilot,('Vol. I, H. o. No. 128 (Washington, 
1927) pages 492 - 494. 
W. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, May 14, 
1860, I Miscl. Let. Re Guano; s. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 
2 Sess, p. 26. 
w. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, June 15, 
1860, and enclosure; Declaration of Kendall, June 6, 
1860 attested by Daulby, Gordon, and Pugh, I Miscl. 
Let. 'Re. Guano, s. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong. 2 Sess., p. 27. 
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In reply the State Department referred to another claim 

of discovery of Alta Vela. by Patterson and Murguiondo, through 

their agent Captain Kimball, also dated May 14, 1860, and 

added: 

"Under these circum.stimces, and, also 
since no evidence is furnished by you of the 
quantity of guano upon that island, no certi­
ficate of any respectable chemist as to its 
qua.Ii ty; and further, as from the name of the 
island it must have been discovered by Spaniards, 
and from its position mR.Y be c la.imed as within 
the jurisdiction of the Dominican Republic, a 
compliance with your request to prescribe at 
this time the ~enalty of the bond ie not deemed 
a.dvisable. 11 175 

Kendall then sent an ana.lysis of the guano and declared 

that Alta. Vela was not within the jurisdiction of Hai ti, and 

that he landed on the island ten d~.ys before Captain KimbA.11' s 
176 

arrival. Nevertheless, despite Kendall's repeated efforts 
177 

to establish his claim, 
178 

the Department refused to a.lter 

its position. 

175 

176 

177 

178 

John Appleton, Ass. Sec., to W. T. Kendall, June 7, 1860, 
I Miscl. Let.Re Guano; S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong. 2 Sess., 
p. 28. w. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of St~te, June 19, 
1860, I M1scl. Let. Re Guano; S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong. 
2 sees., pages 28 - 29. (The Guano was found to be 
29.16% phosphoric acid, and 70.84% lime, etc. The 
percentage of phosphoric acid was said to equa.l 63.18% 
of bone phosphate of lime.) 
W. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, June 22, 
1860; w. T. Kendal]. to Wm. Seward, Sec. of State, Ap. 9, 
1861; see also Mrs. Sarah Daulby to Lewis Cass, Sec. of 
state, Feb. 13, 1861; do. to Black, Sec. of State, Feb. 13 , 
1861· I Miscl. Let. Re Guano. 
Wm. H. Trescott, Ass. Sec., to W. T. Kendall, June 21, 
1860, Ibid, Sen. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong • .1 Ses s. , p. 29. 
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I ~ .i. ! 

c. Claim of Patterson and Murguiondo under the Gua.no Act, 
and for Damages against the Dominican Republic. 

Patterson and Murguiondo of Baltimore, in a letter 

of the same date as Kendall I s ( Ma,y 14, 1860), gave notice 

of the discovery of Alta Vela, by their a.gent, Captain S. R. 

Kimball of the schooner BOSTON, and alleged that they had 

taken possession of the island and that it was occupied at 
179 

that time by Kimball and his crew. This declaration wa.s 
180 

supported by an affida,vi t of Captain Kimball. 

No certificate of recognition was accorded these 

cla.imants, however. In answer to their request for dupli­

cates of certificates 11 acknowledging us as discoverers of 

the guano deposits on Al ta Vela11 , which they cla.im to have 
181 

received, the Secretary of State replied: 

"that certificate [already issued] merely 
attested the correctness of copies of original 
papers filed by you, and that none of a prior 
date relating to Al ta. Vela had been received 
by the Department. 11 182 

No bond was filed by Patterson and Murguiondo a.t this time, 

though 

179 

180 

181 

182 

Patterson and Murguiondo to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, 
May 14, 1860, I M1scl. Let. Re. Guano; s. Ex. Doc. 38, 
40 Cong. 2 sess., p. 27. See also G. T. Mason to Lewis 
Cass, Sec. of State, July 26, 1859, referring to said 
claimant's interest in a gwmo island, I Miscl. Let. 
Re. Gt1cmo. s. w. Kimballts declBxation, July 13, 1860, enclosed in 
G. Burry tow. Trescott, Acting sec., July 16, 1860, I 
Miscl. Let. Re. Guano; S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong. 2 Sess., 
p. 30. 
Patterson and Murguiondo to Hunter, Ass. Sec., Jan. 1, 
1861, I Miscl. Let. Re Guano; s. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 
2 se s s • , p. 31. 
Jeremiahs. Black~ sec. of State, to Patterson and 
Murguiondo, Jan. 6, 1861, Ibid. 
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though one dated March 18, 1861, signed by them and by 

Chapron , and Elliott, was sent to the Secretary of State 
183 

January 25, 1866. 

"l ' " <"± .t ; ) 

Nevertheless, Patterson and Murguiondo proceeded to 

work the island, and their men occupied it for seven months, 

removing over 1,000 tons. On October 24, 1860, a Dominican 

man-of-war, the MERCED, appeared at Alta Vela, and ordered 

the men to leave within twenty-four hours. As they had no 

boat at the time, they were taken off on the MERCED and 

brought to St. Domingo City. The Dominican Government, 

while asserting its right to remove the men and try them, 

volunteered to put them at the disposal of Jonathan Elliot, 

the United States Coilt~ercial Agent at St. Domingo. Never­

theless, Captain Kimball, who arrived at St. Domingo was 

not allowed to clear his ship from the port, and all were 
184 

detained there about a month. On these fa,cts Patterson 

a.nd Murguiondo presented a memorial to the St8.te Deuartment 

asking 

183 Bond, $50,000, Mar. 18, 1861 (sent by J. s. Black to the 
sec. of state, Jan. 25, 1866), I Miscl. Let. Re. Guano. 

184 John Miller to S. w. Kimball, Oct. 24, 1860, and enclo­
sures; J. Elliott, U. s. Co~~ercial Agent at st. Domingo, 
to Miller, Oct. 28, 1860; Felipe D. F. de Castro, Min. of 
For. Aff. of Dominica, to Ellio~ supra, Oct. 28, 1860; 
Elliott to de Castro, Oct. 29, 1860; Kimball to Elliott, 
Nov. 15, 1860; Elliott to Kimball, Nov. 15, 1860; de 
Castro to Elliott, Nov. 19, 1860; Elliott to de Castro, 
Nov. 20, 1860; Evertz, Commander of St. Domingo Port, to 
Elliott, Nov. 28, 1868; Elliott to de Castro, Nov. 29, 
1860; Declarations of S. R. Kimball, Nov. 30, 1860, 
Jan. 11, 1861, and of J. Miller, Jan. 7, 1860; all in 
I Miscl. Let. Re. Guano, and S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 
2 Sess. 
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asking for the intervention of the United states, under the 

Guano Act, and claiming damages to the runount of $22,363.86, 
185 . 

as their actual loss. 

The Secretary of State, J. s. Black, replied that the 

Government was supposed to protect them in legally R.Cquired 

rights to guano but added: 

11 Inasmuch, however, as the Dominican Republic 
is understood to claim jurisdiction over Alta 
Vela, a claim which another applicant was informed, 
in June last, might probably be asserted on eccount 
of the position of the island the Department deems 
it proper, before taking other steps-in the matter, 
to ••• ascertain from the Dominican Government 
the grounds on which its claim to the isiand is 
basect. 11 186 

Mr. Cazneau, United States Special Agent to the 

Dominican Republic, reported to the Secretary of state the,t 

the Dominican Republic claimed Alta Vela as within the 

line af the old Spanish colony, and part of the province of 

Azua, by the Dominican law of 1855, which mentioned Beata 

and Alta Vela by name. He added, however, that there WR.s 

no evidence of any de facto acts of sovereignty by Dominica 
187 

other than the sending of the MERCED. 

185 

186 

187 

J. S. Black 

Memorial of Patterson and Murguiondo to J. S. Black, 
sec. of State, Jan. 8, 1861; Ibid, also in House Mis. 
Doc. 10, 40 Cong, 3 sess. 
J. s. Black, Sec. of State, to Patterson and Murguiondo, 
Jan. 14, 1861, I Miscl. Let. re Guano; S. Ex. Doc. 38, 
40 Congo, 2 Sess., p. 48. 
Black, Sec. of State, to Cazneau, Jan. 15, 1861; Cazneau 
to Black, Feb. 19, 1861. Ibid. 
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J. s. Black, then became attorney for the claimants, 

and recommended to Seward, Secretary of State, that the 

Government intervene promptly in behalf of Patterson and 
188 

Murguiondo. Nothing was done, however, until 1867, be-

cause of the Civil war, and because of certain other nego­

tiations which were in progress with the Dominican Republic 
189 

during 1866. On May 1, 1866, the Examiner of Claims 

reported that no reason was apparent ·why the claim should 

not be urged upon the Dominican Republic as soon as diplo-
190 

ma.tic relations were established with that Government. 

On June 17, however, he recommended that the claim be 

rejected. He maintained that the fact of lawful juris­

diction by another government must be negatived by claimants 

under the Guano Act, and that such jurisdiction could exist 

although no actual possession had ever been taken or main~ 

tained, adding: 

188 

189 

190 

11 What kind of possession could be kept of 
a barren islet destitute of water? 11 

He 

J. s. Black to Seward,""sec. of State', Mar. 27, 1861, 
I Misc!. Let. Re Guano. 
Report of Seward, sec. of State, S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 
Cong., 2 Sees., pp 8 - 9. (During this period requests 
for intervention continued to be made: Petitions of 
certain merchants of Blatimore, Mar. 17, 1866, and Feb. 11, 
1868; J. s. Black to Seward, Sec. of State, Ap. 8, 1866, 
and April 17, 1866; Black Lamon and Co. Atty's for 
Murguiondo's firm, to Seward, Sec. of State, Mar. 27, 
1867; J. s. Black to A. Johnson, Pres. of u. S. , July 22, 
1867; in I Miscl. Let. Re. Guano; S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 
Cong., 2 Sess.) 
II Op. and Rep. of The Examiner of Cla.ims 724. 
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He concluded that claimA.nts had not disproved the juris­

diction of either Haiti or the Dominican Republic over 

Al ta Vela., and that: 

11 It is enough that either had . it, to make 
it improper for this Government to support the 
claimants in the demand for damages. 11 

V 

Furthermore, the Dominica.n Republic had asserted its rights 

as soon as occasion arose, and 

"Alta Vela., judging from the charts, is near enough 
to Bea ta to be deemed an appenda.g e to it , and so an 
appendage to the mainland, upon the principle that 
its occuuation bv strangers would menace the security 
of both. i, 191 · 

192 
This opinion was accepted by the President, July 18, 1867. 

193 
Claimants did not accept it however, and on Septem-

ber 19, 1867, the Examiner wrote Rnother opinion in which 

he held that the mere fact that the island was over three 

miles from the mainland would not of itself open it to occu­

pation by the first comer; that the de facto occupation of 

Beata by Ha.itians (as claimants alleged) when they took 

possession of Al ta Vela, did not aid the claimants, a.s 

Haiti's jurisdiction over the island was as fatal to their 

claim as Dominica's; and that the fact that Al ta Vela 

wa.s 

191 I Op. and Rep. of The Examiner of Claims 561 ( June 17, 
1867); I Miscl. Let. Re Guano; s. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 
2 sess. 

192 Memorandum, S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 2 Sess., p. 53. 
193 J. s. Black to Pres. Johnson, Aug. 7, 1867, Ibid, I 

Miscl. Let. Re. Guano. 
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was not exclusively claimed by either government was im-

material. He added: 

11 The strong probability is that neither 
government attached much importance to a desolate 
Key destitute of wood and water, a.nd only resorted 
[to] occasionally bv fishermen. This kind of occu.­
pation was enough, for an island of that character, 
to take it out of the category. of land without any 
proprietor and open to the first occupant. The 
Government having the island might very well 
tolerate such occa.sion1:!.l use of it by its neigh­
bors, without derogating from its just rights. 
When it was discovered the island had a value it 
was time enough to assert its title, against those 
who were robbing it of tgit value by carrying away 
the deposits of guano. n 1 

In yet another opinion, the Examiner remarked that no 

certificate of recognition was ever given for Alta Vela, 

and that no bond was filed by claimants (before the events 
195 

in question). 

Claimants apparently abandoned their claim for damages, 

but continued to insist that the United States send a w3rship 
196 

to put them in possession of Alta Vela. Finally, in 

January, 1868, the claim was submitted to the Senate with 

a. report by Secretary Seward in which he stated that he could 

not recommend favorable action because claimruits were ejected 

from 

194 Opinion of E. Pe shine Smith, Examiner of Cla,ims, Sept. 19, 
1867; I Miscl. Let. Re Guano. 

195 Opinion of Smith, suura, Oct. 7, 1867, I Op. and Rep. of 
The Examiner of Claims 783; I Miecl. Let. Re. Guano. 

J.96 Black La.man and Co. Atty' s, to Seward, sec. of State, 
Sept. 19, 1867; Patterson and Murguiondo to Pres. Johnson, 
Oct. 24, 1867; I Miscl. Let. Re Guano. 
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from the island before their bond was filed, and because the 

island was within the jurisdiction of the Dominican Republic. 

The latter point wa.s proved by the Dominican laws of 1844, and 

1854, incorpora.ting Alta Vela, by name, into Dominican terri­

tory; by the bounda.ry between Dominica. and Hai ti, recognized 

since 1777; ; by the proximity of Alta Vela to Beata; ruid by 
197 

the fact that Columbus discovered both islands. 

Claimants, of course, did not accept this report, and 
198 

continued to press their claim. Finally, on May 10, 1870, 

it wa.s submitted to the President who determined that there 

was no reason for reconsidering the former conclusions, which 

were listed as follows: 

197 
198 

l. It is incumbent upon clcdmant to show affirma.ti vely 

that the island is not at the time of its discovery 

within the lawftu jurisdiction of any other government; 

2. When a foreign government asserts a claim, the 

President has no right to 11 annex the isl<-1,nd to the 

United States or to put any American citizens in 

possession of it 11 until the diplomatic question is 

settled, and not then unless it be settled in favor 

of the United States; 

3. The 

s. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 2 Sees. 
Ela.ck La,mon and Co. to Pres. Johnson, Feb. 7, 1868, 
Ibid. ( In a letter of Sept. 10, 1869, the Sec reta.ry 
of state affirmed that the United States Government 
had "declined to recognize" the claim. see Hamilton 
Fish, sec. of state, to Messrs. Spofford., Teleston and 
Co., Sept. 10, 1869, 82 MS. Dom. Let. 55.) 



-77-

3. The memorial and evidence of cle.iman ts II do 

not disprove" the jurisdiction of the Dominican 

Republic asserted by that Government. 

The President thereupon directed that no further pro­

ceedings should be taken in the premises except to inform 
199 

the parties concerned of his determinRtion. 

d. Claim of the A_lta Vela Guano Company. 

On February 19, 1866, one Henry Root informed the sta.te 

Department that he proposed to remo.ve the guano from Alta 
200 

Vela if the Government would afford him protection. 

Secretary Seward replied as follows: 

199 

200 

201 

11 There a.re already two parties claiming 
rights as discoverers of that island, and the 
right is denied by St. Domingo whose authorities 
ejected them. The claim made by these p~xties 
for damages covering the whole value of the 
gu~no is still under consideration. If either 
of them satisfy this Government that their claim 
is just, And it should require indemnity from 
st. Domingo, that Republic would seem by making 
payment to a.cquire a right to ret::3.in the guano, 
if it did not originally possess it. Under these 
circumstances this Government cannot encourf.!.ge 
any of its citizens in resorting to the island 
unless they obtain the consent of the authorities 
of St. Domingo. As it lies opposite to a boundary 
understood to be in dispute between that Power and 
Hayti, it would be a reasonabl~· precaution to seek 
the consent of Hayti also. 11 201 

, . . Accordingly 
Memorandum( signed by llamilton Fish, Sec. of State, and 
one other signature illegible), May 10, 1870, in I Ms. 
Miscl. Let. Re Guano. 
Henry Root to SewRrd, Sec. of State, Feb. 19, 1866, I 
MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano; S. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 2 Sess . 

Seward, Sec. of State, to Henry Root, Feb. 21, 1866, Ibid. 
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Accordingly, Root, 111/'ebster and Clark, officers of the 

Alta Vela. Guano Company, obtained a concession from the 
202 

Dominican Republic and began to remove guano from the island. 

In answer to an inquiry regarding the Patterson and Murguiondo 

cle.irn, the State Department informed Webster tha.t if those 

claimants 11 are found to have acquired the exclusive right 

to dig guano, under the law regulating the subject, the sub­

sequent grant to you by the Dominican Republic will not 

.affect it, and this Government will be under no obligation 

to aid you in enforcing as against a foreign sta.te any 

rights which flow from a contract with it into which you 
203 

voluntarily entered. 11 In answer to another letter from 

the Al ta Vela Gua.no Company, the Secretary replied, Janu­

ary 22, 1868, tha.t he had noted the statement that this New 

York Corporation had invested considerable money in removing 

gua.no from Al ta vela and w~,s in active business there now, 

under a concession from Spain and the Dominican Republic, 

and added: 11 If you think proper you may furnish this 

Depn.rtment with authenticated proofs of the statements which 

you 

202 T. R. Webster to Seward, Sec. of state, Sept. 12, 1867. 
Ibid. 

203 Sewaxd, Sec. of state, to T. R. Webster, Sept. 14, 1867, 
Ibid. 



you have thus made." 

-79-

204 

In March, 1871, o. H. Neill, another representative of 

this company, requested the intervention of the United St;:i,tes, 

alleging that in January, 1868, he had been evicted from Al ta 

Vela, in spite of his contract with the Dominican Government, 

by an English company which had loaned money to President 
205 

Baez of Dominica on the security of a mortgage on Alta Vela. 

The State Department replied that the Government could not 

intervene in such cases and added: 11 This policy has been 

fallowed upon similar applications from other uersons than 
.. 206 

yourself in relation to this very Island of Alta Vela. 11 

e. Summa.ry of the United States Olaim under the Guano Act. 

It is clear that, although three separate groups of 

American citizens actually took possession of Alta Vela and 

removed guano from the island, the United States never recog­

nized their interests under the Gu.a.no Act. Not only was there 

no affirmative action by the United States which might lea,d 

to the conclusion tha,t Alta Vela was ever considered as 

appertaining 

204 s. Ex. Doc. 38, 40 Cong., 2 Sess., p. 59. 

205 c. H. Neill to Hamilton Fish, Sec. of State, Mar. 7, 
1871, I MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano. 

206 Fish, Seo. of State, to c. H. Neill, Mar. 11, 1871, 
88 MS. Dom. Let. 477. 
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apperta.ining to the United States, but there was action 

contradicting any such conclusion. For example: in a 

note to the representa.tive of Haiti on June 10, 1873, the 

Secretary of State said: 

"In the ca.se of Alto Velo it was shown to 
have been included by name within a political and 
also within a judicial district of st. Domingo. 
Alto Velo was the subject of legislation and the 
theater of judicial administration under the 
sovereignty and laws of St. Domingo." 207 

Apparently the United States accepted the contention of the 
,. 

Dominican Republic that Alta Vela was part of the territorial 

domain of that country. 

207 Ha.mil ton Fi sh, sec. of State, to Preston, June 10, 1873, 
I MS. Notes to Haiti, 153, 161; See do. Dec. 31, 1872, 
Ibid, 124, 144. 
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III. ISLANDS CLAIMED BY GREAT BRITAIN 

l. KEY VERD ( CAYO OR CAY VERDE). 

a. Geography. 

Key Verd (Cayo or Cay Verde), la.titude 22° 01' N., 

longitude 750 10' W., is a narrow island about two-thirds 

of a mile long, situated just within the southeastern ex­

tremity of the Great Bebama Bank. A hill a.tone end of 

the island rises to a height of 72 feet, and the whole 

island is covered with low sea-grape trees and prickley­

pear bushes. Anchorage is poor, and landing difficult on 

account of the surrounding rocks and reefs, and usually 

strong breezes. The island is frequented by large flocks 
208 

of boobies and man-of-war birds. 

b. United States Claim under the Guano Act. 

On May 24, 1859, W. T. Kendall filed a declaration of 

discovery of guano on Key Verd as follows: 

208 

11 Seven months since I discovered a key lying 
in la.ti tude 220 2' North and longitude 750 10' West 
••• 30 to 40 miles from any other land, Island or 
Key; This Island was discovered by one of my Capta.ins 
sent in a voya.ge for the discovery of guano and brought 
to me several cargoes from that pl~ce, again in the 31st 
March last, I sent the brig called the DELTA commandert 
by Captain Richard Dolby [Da.ulby] with orders to build 

a 

West Indies Pilot, H. O. No. 128, Vol. I (Wash. 1927), 
p. 143. (There a:re two other Keys called Verde in the 
Cr:1.ribbean region, at quite different locations.) 
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a house or shanty upon sa.id Island and place 
there men for its protection and holding 
uossession under the Act of 1856 to take away 
guano. 

"Be pleased to inform me if my proceedings 
ha.ve been in accordance with law. • ·~ n 209 

/ ! , ' 

The State Department acknowledged the receipt of this com-
.. 210 

munication and sent Kendall a copy of the Guano Act. 

On Jl.U'le 29, 1859, Kendall wrote again, alleging tha t 

his vessels were then engaged in ta.king guano from Key Verd 

;:rnd that he had men on the island, and enclosing an affida.vi t 

of Capte.in Daulby, of the DELTA, and Charles Smith, also 

of the DELTA. These affidavits, dated June 21, 1859, 

described the discovery of guano on the Key in November, 

1858, and averred that there were then no inhabitants on 

the. island, that Daul by took possession of it in the name 

of the United States and Kendall, that he returned there 
211 

Apri 1 12, 1859, and 11 made a per man en t location. 11 The 

State Department replied: 

209 

210 

211 

"· •• the President has heretofore deemed it 
his duty, in the exercise of the discretion con­
ferred upon him by the Act of Congress of the 
18th of August, 1856, to abstain from recognizing 
the privileges for which that act provides, unless 

he 

w. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, May 24, 1859, 
III MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano; S. Rep. 280, 36 Cong. 1 
Sess. 
John Appleton, Ass. S8 c. to W. T. Kendall, May 26, 1859, 
Sen. Rep. 280, 36 Cong. 1 Sess. 
w. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, June 29, 
1859, and enclosures, Ibid, and III MS. Miscl. Let. 
Re Guano. 
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he shall receive proof that the guano claimed to 
have been discovered is of a quality and in quantity 
such as would render it important in a national 
point of view. 11 212 

c. The claim of Great Britain. 

On July 11, 1859, the British Minister to the United 

States, notified the State Department thatKeyVerd and other 

keys in the vicinity from which it was reported that guano 

was being taken by American merchants II belong to the BA.hama 

Government, that man:ir of them are leased to private indi­

viduals, and from none of them can gueno be extracted without 
213 

permission of the local a.uthori ties. 11 He enclosed a 

letter from the Governor of the Bahamas in which it was 

stated thnt: 

11 Key Verd and some other of these keys are 
leased, and ••• the abstraction of guano 
from them by foreigners is not only a trespass, 
but an agression of a hostile character. 11 214 

The Secretary of State replied that the substance of this 

communication would be made known to Kendall, who claimed 

the privileges of the Act of 1856, supposing that he had 
215 

made a discovery of gueno on the key. 

212 

213 

214 

215 

Accordingly 

J. Appleton, Ass. sec., to W. T. Kendall, June 30, 1859,' 
Ibid; 50 MS. Dom. Let. 443. 
Lord Lyons Brit. Min. to U. S., to Lewis Cass, Sec. 
of state, july 11, 1859; 38 MS. Notes from Great Britain, 
s. Rep. 280, 36 Cong. 1 Sess, pages 8 - 9o 
c v Bayley Governor of Bahamas, to Lord Lyons, Brit. 
Min.· to u. s:, July 1, 1859, Suura, Note 213. ~ 
Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, to Lord Lyons, Bri~l 1in. to 
U 8 July 14 1859 8 MS. Notes to Great Br1Ga1n; 

• • , , ' 9 
Sen. Rep. 280, 36 Cong., 1 Sess. , p. • 
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Accordingly the Department notified Kendall of the 
216 

British complaint. · Kendall replied that he was pre-

pared to prove the island was unoccupied at the time of 

his discovery, was unfit for occupation, a.nd was not within 

British jurisdiction, and added: 

•• '!up to this time the Pres'ident of the United 
States has not exercised the discretion entrusted 
to him, so the.t I could execute the bonds re­
quired by said Act of Congress and which I tender 
myself ready to do ••• 11217 

In another letter, September 5, 1859, Kendall again recounted 

the circumstances of his alleged discovery and possession, 

and described his forcible ejection from the island by an 

Englishman, Theodore Farrington, who arrived at the island 

in the summer of 1859 and forced Kendall's men whom he found 

there to work for him. This story was supported by the for­

ma,l depositions ( used in a local trial) of Capta.in Daul by and 

William Price, the latter having been in command on the 
218 

island when Farrington arrived there. 

The Attorney General, J. s. Black, rendered a.n ouinion 

on Kendall's petition for recognition of his interest in 

Key Verd, on December 14, 18599 He held that before Rn 

American 

216 

217 

218 

J. Appleton, Ass. Sec., to W. T. Kendall, July 14, 1859; 
50 MS. Dom. Let. 470; Sen. Rep. 280, 36 Cong. 1 Sess; 
III MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano. 
w. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, July.27, 
1859, Sen. Rep. 280, 36 Cong., 1 Sess; III MS. M1scl. 
Let. Re Guano. w. T. Kendall to Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, Sept. 5, 
1859, and enclosed depositions, Ibid. 
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American citizen could benefit under the Guano Act -

11 it must appear that the island ••• was not, 
a.t the time of its discovery, within the lawful 
jurisdiction of any other government. In the 
present case, Cayo Verde is distinctly asserted 
by the British Government to be within its juris­
diction. The President has no right under the 
law to annex the island to the United States, or 
to put any American citizen in possession of it, 
until the diplomatic question raised by the British 
Minister sha,11 be fina.lly settled, and not then, 
unless it be settled in our favor. 11 219 

The State Department wrote the United States Consul 

B-t Nassau, in the BF1,hamas, requesting information "respect­

ing any acts of jurisdiction which may have been exercised 

over this island by the British authorities previous to the 

visit of Captain Dolby ••• in November, 1858; also, if 

the deposit of guano on the island was known to the inhabi-
220 

ta.nts of the Bahamas prior to the above-mentioned date~ 

The Consul replied tha.t he had no reason to doubt Ke.Y Verdti 

was one . of the Bahamas as reliable char ts placed it on the 

ed~~ e of the Bahama Bruik, and added that he did not think 

any guano had been taken from this particular key by in-
221 

habitants of the Bahamas before November, 1858. 

On March 19, 1860, Kendall was informed that -

"The 

219 9 Op. Atty Gen. 406" (Black, Dec. 14, 1859); See als~ 
Sen. Rep. 280, 36 Cong., 1 Sess., p. 22. 

220 J. Appleton, Ass. Sec., to I. J. Merritt, U. S. Consul 
at Nassau, Bahamas, Feb. 9, 1860, sen. Rep. 280, 36 Cong., 
l Sess., p. 23. 

221 I. J. Merritt, U. s. Consul a.t Nassau, Bahamas, Ap. 30, 
1860, to Sec. of State, Dispatch No. 13, Ibid, and III 
MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano. 
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11 The President does not feel authorized, under 
the circumstances, to take a.ny measures by which 
the said Island (Key Verd) would be considered 
as appertaining to the United States. 11 222 

Thereupon Kendall presented a memorial to Congress,citing 

as a precedent for intervention in his behalf, the protec­

tion accorded an American citizen on Navassa. Island, and 
223 

asking for an indemnity of $105,604.00. The Senate 

Committee rejected the claim on June 16, 1860, and in 

its report stated that the Committee saw no reason to 

review the decision of the President, and asked to be 
224 

discharged from the consideration of the memorial. 

There the matter rested until 1900 when Kendall's 

da.ughter, Mrs. Emma A. Steiff, inquired A.bout his claim 

to guano on Key Verd. The Department replied as follows: 

11 The required notice of discovery, verified 
by affidavit, as to Cayo Verde, was in compliance 
with the terms of the Act filed in the Department 
of state by Willi~.m T. Kendall in 1859. But claim 
was made to the island by the Government of Great 
Britain as being one of the Bahama. group as was 
shown by charts prepa.red and published years pre­
vious to Mr. Kendall's claim of discovery. 

11 It became necessary, therefore, for Mr. Ken­
dall to furnish satisfactory evidence that the 
island WB, s not, at the time of his discovery thereof 
and of his taking possession or occupation thereof, 
in the possession or occupation of any other Govern­
ment. This has never been done, and consequently, 
Cayo Verde does not appear in the list of Islands 
appertaining to the United States under the Act of 
Congress approved August 18, 1856. 11 225 

222 Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, to Robert J. Brent, Mar. 19, 
1860, Ibid. 

223 Kendall's Memorial, sen. Rep. 280, 36 Cong., 1 Sess., 
PP 2 - 4. 

224 Ibid, pp 1 - 2. 
225 John Hay to Jo::;eph Wheeler, H. Rep., Ap. 7, 1900, 244 MS. 

Dom. Let. 230. 
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2. MORANT KEYS 

a. Geography. 

Morant bank is a coral bank 10 to 18 fa.thorns under 

water, about 10 miles long and 3 miles wide, si tua.ted in 

the Caribbean Sea, 33 mi le s sou the;:i_st from Mor ant Point, 

the ea.stern extremity of Jamaica. Three small islands, 

ea.ch surrounded by reefs, rise from the bank, ru1d form 

a crescent about three miles long. The currents a.re 

dangerous but there is a fair anchorage near the Keys. 

Northeast Key, latitude 17° 25' N., longitude 750 58' WM, 

is about seven feet high and is sometimes divided into 

three islets by the sea, which washes over the connecting 

sand spits. There is a pond of brackish water on this 

key, and fresh water may be obtained from wells. South­

east Key, one mile south of Northeast Key, is about eight 

feet high and covered with bushes. Water may e.lso be ob­

tained on this key and. it has a good landing beach. South­

west Key, one mile southwest of Southeast Key, is ten feet 

high, and is very small, with a few bushes and a cairn on 

it. 

On Northeast Key there are one or two houses, a sma.11 

pier and a water tank, and on Southeast Key there were, in 

1890, severa.l huts in good repair. On Southwest Key there 

is 

461 



L 

-88- 4H~ 

is II a roe ky ledge used l'-l.S a pi er for shipping gu~.no. 11 In 

MFJ.rch the seA. birds come to these keys in great numbers and 

in Apri 1 the islands are covered with their eggs which FJ.re 

collected and brought to Jama.lea. Later in the summer 

turtles are caught, but the supply is becoming scarcer every 
22E 

year. There is guano on the keys but it is of a poor qua,lity. 

b. United States Claim unde.r the Guano Act. 

On May 24, 1869, James W. Jennett filed a notice of 

discovery of guano on Mora.nt Keys (latitude 170 3Qf N., 

longitude 75° 55 1 W.). He alleged that in December, 1866, 

11e vi.sited these four keys, called Northeast Key, SA.nd Key, 

savannah Key and Seal Key; the.t the islands were unoccupied, 

a,nd not in the lawful jurisdiction of any other government; 

that he took possession of them, raised a flag, built a 

house, et cetera; that th ey contained 150,000 tons of guano; 

and prayed tha.t they be considered as appertaining to the 

United States, and that he be considered the owner of the 
227 

deposit, in accordance with the Guano Act of 1856. These 

allegations are subot;,ntia.ted by the certificates of Henry 

Stevens and George Nelson, Chief and Second Mates of the 

sc hooner PETREL, in which the discovery wr1s said to have 

been 

:?26 · West Ind.ies Pilot (1937), Vol. 1, No. 128, pn. 360 - 361. 

227 Declf!rFttion of J. w. Jennett, May 24, 1869, 5 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano, Morant. 
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228 
been made; and by a. crayon map of the keys. These 

ft:·~ 
'.t l) d 

declarations were filed in the state Department, but nothing 

f urtb.er appears to ha,ve been done a.bout Jennett' s clt=tim at 
229 

tha.t time. 

On May 26, 1877, Jennett filed a second declaration 

calling attention to his discovery and occupation of Morant 

Keys in December, 1866, and his notice of discovery in 1869, 

~nd continuing as follows: 

11 I visited sa.id Islands or Keys in the month 
of May 10th A. D. 1875, and found said Islands ••• 
totally, or wholly unoccupied by any human being ••• 
I remained there in quiet and peaceful possession 
••• and ••• said denosits had not been disturbed 
Or interfered With during thn,t time Or Since• II 

He concluded by asking that the isle.nds be considered as 

a.ppertaining to the United States mid that he be recognized 
230 

as the owner of the deposits. 
231 

ever, took no action. 

The State Depa.rtment, how-

On October 17, 1877, Prudencio de Murguiondo, notified 

the state Depa.rtment that on August 1, 1877, Jennett ;:i,ssigned 

all 

228 Declarations of Henry Stevens, and George Nelson, Ifa.y 25, 
1869, and CrR.yon Map, 5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Morruit. 

229 See Wm. Evarts, Sec. of Sta.te, to John Sherman, Sec. of 
Treas., Mar. 20, 1878, 122 MS. Dom. Let. 228. 

230 J. W. Jennett 1 s Decla.ration, May 26, 1877, 5 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re GuRno, Morant. 

231 Supra, Note 229. 
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all his interest in Morant Keys to him (Murguiondo); and ; 

that, on August 2, he sent the schooner EVA, comm~nded by 

Captain Shelly, who was instructed to land on the islands 

and take possession of them. Murguiondo asked to be protected 
.. 232 

in removing guano from Morant Keys, under the Act of 1856. 

Evidence was submitted to the ~partment showing that the 

EVA anchored at Morent Keys in September, 1877, and removed 

some guano, after taking possession of the islands for 
233 

Murguiondo. 

The State Department, however, did not promise any pro­

tection to Murguiondo or recognize his claim; on the contrary, 

the Secretary of Sta.te informed Lamon, Murguiondo 1 s partner 

and attorney, that protection could not be granted as Great 

Britain had taken formal possession of the Keys in 1862 

11 by lHnding a force of men on them, firing ft canon, unfurling 

the British flag, and declaring them under the urotection of 

the English Government," and that the Government of Jr.tmaica 

had recently lensed the Keys to one Charles Uter, for five 
234 

years. Nevertheless Murguiondo and Lamon continued to 

occupy 

232 Prudencio de Murguiondo to The SeQ. of State, Oct. 16, 
1877, 5 MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guruio, Morant. 

233 do. Oct 17, 1877, Ibid. ward H. Lamon, Att'y for 
Murguiondo, to Evarts, Sec. of State, Nov. 2, 1877, Ibid. 

234 Lamon to Evarts, Sec. of State, Nov. 20, 1877, Ibid; See 
Hoskinson, U. S. Consul at Kingston 1 to F. W. Seward, Ass. 
Sec., Oct. 30, 1877, 27 MS. Consular Let., Kingston, 
Jamaica, No. 118. 
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235 
occupy the islands and remove guano from them. 

On December 23, 1877, the British man-of-war BLANCHE 

arrived at Morant Keys and the Commander ordered Murguiondo's 

employees, whom he found on the Keys, to haul down the Ameri­

ca.n fla.g a.nd to leave the islands, alleging that these keys 

were British territory. Captain Miller, the American Com­

mander on the islands, showed the British Captain a copy of 

a telegra.m from the Secretary of the Treasury to the Collector 

of Customs at Baltimore directing him to permit the EVA to 

clea.r coastwi se for Morant Keys, under the Guano Act. of 1856. 

The British Captain was not impressed, however, ~nd the 

Americans had to leave the islands. They protested before 

the American Consul at Kingston, Jamaica, and he reported 
236 

the occurrence to the State Department. Murguiondo 

claimed thRt because of the telegram to the Collector of 

Cu :0t oms from the secretary of the Treasury, the United States 

had in fact recognized Morant Keys as appertaining to the 

United States under the Guano Act, and that consequently the 

American claimants were entitled to the protection of the 
237 

Government against Great Britain. 
The 

235 do, Nov. 24, 1877, and enclosure s, Shelly to Murguiondo, 
Nov. 20, 1877, 5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Morant. 

236 See Ward H. LAmon to Evarts, Sec. of State, JRn. B, 1878, 
and enclosures, Ibid; F. w. Sew?.rd, Ass. Sec., to Ward H. 
Lamon, Jan. 24, 1878, 121 MS. Dom. Let. 428; Lamon to 
Evarts, sec. of State, Jan. 29, and Feb. 2, ::i.nd Feb. 5, 
1878, 5 MS. Miscl. Let Re Gua.no, Morent; Lamon to Evtirts, 
Feb. 11, 1878, Ibid; Hoskinson, U. S. Consul at Kingston, 
to F. w. Seward, Dec. 27, 1877, 27 Consular Let., Kingston, 
Jam., No. 127. 

237 Lamon to Evarts, Sec. of State, Feb. 11, 1878, 5 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Gurmo, Morant. 
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The State Department asked the American Consul at 
238 

King ston, Jamaica, for further details. He reported: 

thRt the Jamaican Government had formR.lly taken possession 

of Mor nnt Keys in 1862; thrtt J ennett was a "worthless ad­

venturer11; and that Murguiondo hed arrang ed to lease the 

keys from the Jamaican lessee, Charles Uter, for four years 
239 

for $ 3,000. Ward H. Lamon, Murguiondots partner, pro-

t e sted to the State Department that this arrangement was 

unauthorized, and that :Murguiondo was acting without authority 
240 

from the Morant Guano Comp;:my. The Examiner of Cl~.ims, 

Judge O'Connor, suggested that Murguiondo was selling out 

his American partners, and tha,t Uter was merely an instrument 

to suit Murgui ondo' s purpose, Md thought that TJter 11 has no 

more title to Morant Cays than His InfernF.tl Majesty had to 
241 

the Kingdoms of the world." However, there is another 

note by Judge O'Connor saying that 11 of course if the island s 

a.re recognized as British, that is the end of the matter, 
342 

the BLANCHE was right. 11 

In spite of repeated protests from Ward H. Lamon and 
243 

.Murgui ondo, the State Department refused to intervene 

in 
238 F. W. Sewar d, Ass. Sec., to Geo. E. Hoskinson, U. s. Con­

sul a t Kings ton, Ap. 5, 1878, 88 Despatches to ConsLus 634. 
239 Hoskinson, U. S. Consul at King ston, to F. W. Sewnrd, 

As s . Sec., J an. 23, 18 78, 2 8 MS. Consular Let., King s ton, 
Ja.maic a , No. 132. 

240 Lamon to Evarts, sec. of Sta te, 1mdated, 5 MS. Misc l. 
Let. Re Gmrno, Morant. 

2,11 O'Connor, E zaminer of Cla ims, Feb. 25, 1878, 9 Op. :md 
Rep. No. 50. 

242 No t e sign ed O'Connor, a.ttached to Hoskinson, U. S. Con­
sul a t Kingston, to F. iv. Seward, As s. Sec., May 6 , 1 8 78 , 
28 MS. Consular Le t., King s ton , J a mRic a , No. 149. 

243 suprq, , Note 236 . 



I 
v 

-93-

in their behalf against the British Government, and it is 

apparent that no action was taken by the State Department 

recognizing either Jennett•s claim as discoverer, or Mur-
244 

guiondo's and Lamon•s as assigness. Murguiondo ten-

dered a bond, dated October 20, 1877, in accordance with 
245 

the requirements of the Act, but it was evidently not 

accepted, for on March 20, 1878, William Evarts, the Sec­

retary of State, said: 

"This Department has not yet recognized 
the validity of the pretensions of these parties 
(Lamon and. Murguiondo) to the rights accorded 
under the st~4~te to claimants coming within the 
privileges." 

In the latter part of 1879 a bond was filed by 

William Van Derlip, dated September 7, 1879, covering 

Morant Keys, Serranilla Keys and Arenas Key. Van Der-
247 

lip claimed as an assignee of Jennett•s. This claim 

was considered by the Examiner, who concluded as follows: 

244 

245 

246 
247 
248 

11 As to Morant Keys the Secretary in 187'7, 
on the application of Mr. Murguiondo and Colonel 
Ward H. Lamon decided that it could not be properly 
claimed under the Act of August, 1856, ••• as it 
was evidently appertinant to the Island of Jamaica 
and therefore a possession of Great Britain. The 
question then as to that Island is considered res 
adjudicata in the Department." 248 

This 

See Wm. Evarts, Sec. of State, to John Sherman, Sec. of 
Treas., Mar. 20, 1878, 122 MS. Dom. Let. 228. 
Bond, signed by Murguiondo as principal, Lamon, Spa.rks 
and Cutler as sureties, dated Oct. 20, 1877, 5 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano. 
Supra, Note 244. 
A. Wm. Hunter, Acting Sec. to John Rice, Se

0
p

0

t~
9

3
0

0, 1879. 
O'Connor, Nov. 12, 1879, 11 Op. and Rep. N ~ 
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This opinion on Morant Keys must have been communicated to 

Van Derlip, but the letter has not been found, although 
249 

there is evidence that it was written. The bond, 1ts it 

stood, was filed with the Secretary of the Treasury, and 

consequently Morant Keys appears on the later lists sent 
250 

by the Secretary of the Treasury to the Collector of Customs. 

On April 15, 1882, Lamon wrote to Mr. Frelinghuysen, the 

new Secretary of State, claiming damages arising out of the 
251 

action of the British warship BLANCHE ~.t Morant Keys in 1877. 

Judge O'Connor, Examiner of Claims, advised the Secretary that 

Secretary Evarts had considered the claim carefully and refused 

to recognize it, under the provisions of the Gwino Act, 11 on 

the ground that the Cay Morant's contiguity to Jama.ice. 

rendered it a British possession;" and added that 11 as these 

claimants never secured title under the Act, they have in 
252 

my opinion no c la.im for damages. 11 Accordingly, the 

Secretary notified Lamon that as Secretary Evarts had 

11 declined to ndmi t the validity of the claim • • • it is 

considered 

249 See Frelinghuysen, Sec. of State, to Rastus Ransom, 
Dec. 26, 1884, 53 MS. Dom. Let. 511; Porter, Ass. Sec., 
to Thorndike Saunders, Ap. 2, 1885, 154 MS. Dom. Let. 
658. 

250 See Comptroller to Adee, Ass. Sec., July 3, 1890, List 
of Islands bonded, 6 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano. 

251 Lamon to Frelinghuysen, Sec. of State, Ap. 15, 1882, 
5 MS. Mi scl. Let. Re Gua,no, Morant. 

252 otconnor, Ap. 25, 1882, filed with Lamon's letter, 
supra, Note 251. 
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considered that the facts now presented by you do not afford 
253 

any just grounds for the interference of this Government. 11 

c. Basis of the Claim of Great Britain. 

There is no doubt that Great Britain claimed Morant Keys 

before Jennett*s alleged discovery of gmmo. There is a. 

report that in 1826 a British Admiral on the west Indian 

station had cocoanut trees planted on the keys, a.nd tha.t in 

May, 1832, the keys were again visited by a detachment of 

the British West Indian squadron and s~,mples of soil were 
254 

removed for examination. There is also evidence that 

in 1862 the crew of a British merchant vessel WRS in pos­

session or the islands, and forcibly prevented an American 
255 

Captain from removing guano. On October 12, 1862, John 

Ward, Commander of the British steamsloop STYX landed on and 

formally took possession of Morant Keys in behalf of Grea.t 

Britain, and by a proclamation of Februa.ry 23, 1863, the 
256 

Govermor of Jamaica took possession of the keys. On 

March 3, 1882, the keys were formally annexed to and made 

dependencies 

253 Frelinghuysen, Sec. of State, to Lamon, Ap. 26, 1882, 
141 MS. Dom. Let. 615. 

254 Clipping from The Shinping and Mercantile Gazette, letter 
to the Editor, from(leJ·. Peackoch, dated Nov. 28, 1877, 
in 5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Mor~nt. 

255 Capt. John Streett to Wm. Evarts, Sec. of State, Dec. 14, 
1870, Ibid. 

256 Certificate of John Ward, Oct. 13, 1862; Procl~.ma.tion of 
the Gov. of J:imaica, Feb. 23, 1863, 63 British&'ForeiP;TI 
State Pnuers (London, 1879) p. 797. 
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257 
dependencies of the Island of Jamaica. 

~70 

In June, 1864, Letters Patent were issued to the Gov­

ernor of Jamaica, giving him authority to grant leases of 

and licenses to take guano from all guano islands "within 

the West Indian naval station which were not already de­

pendencies of any British colony and which were, or might 

be declared to be, subject to British sovereignty." Since 

that time leases have been granted from time to time for 

the collecting of guano, booby eggs and turtles from Mor-
258 

ant Keys. In 1922 a citizen of Little Caym~an Island 

had a. concession from the Jamaican Government to remove 
259 

eggs from Morant Keys, for L50 a year. The average 

yearly import of eggs to Jamaica from Morant Keys for the 
260 

years 1917 to 1921, inclusive, was 366,700. Huts and 
261 

other facilities have been built on the Keys. In 1913 

the American Government requested the British Government 

to build a light on Morant Keys, but this has not been 
262 

done. 

257 
258 
259 

260 
261 
262 

73 British and Fo~eign State Pap~ (London1 1889) p. 53. 
Sinclair and Fyfe, The Handbook of Jamaica \1882), p. 496 
O. L. Latham, U. S. Consul at Kingston, Jamaica, to Sec. 
of State, Nov. 4, 1922 (811.014/81). 
do. to do., Nov. 10, 1922 (811.014/83). 
Supra, Note 226. 
See Meyer, Sec. of Navy, to Sec. of State, Feb. 27, 1913; 
Daniels, to Sec. St., Feb. 3, 1915; Lansing, Sec. of 
State, to Sec. of Navy, July 30, 1915; Lansing, Sec. of 
State, to W. H. Page, U. S. Amb. to areat Britain, 
July 30, 1915; (811.0141 C 19/10, 11, 12). 
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263 
Assignments 

47J 

1. J. W. Jennett to Thomas A. Mitchell, May 10, 1869, 

guano on four Morant Keys (also on Serranilla ~nd 
264 

Arenas Keys). 

Thomas A. Mitchell to John Wilson, Trustee, Novem­

ber 22, 1876 same interest as above ( warrRn ty deed). 

John Wilson, Trustee, to the Caribbean Island Guano 

Company, November 22, 1876, same interest (warranty 

deed). 

Caribbean Guano Company to John Wilson, 'J'rust ee, Dec em- . 

ber 1, 1876, same interest (deed,; of trust, security for 

a bond issue of $400,000). 

Caribbean Gwmo Company to William L. Van Derlip, 
265 

August 21, 1879, same interest (deed of conveyance). 

Thomas A. Mitchell to William L. Van Der lip, Septem­

ber 20, 1879 (release indenture, Morant Keys(?)). 

2. J. W. J ennett to Prudencio de Murguiondo, a gent (of his 

wife, Julia), August 1, 1877, all the a.ssignor's interest 

in gu;:mo on Morant Keys. 

263 

264 
265 

Prudencio de Murguiondo to J. W. Jennett, Aug ust 1, 

1877, one-hRlf interest in the guano on Morant Keys. 

J. W. Jennett 

Unless otherwise noted, filed in 5 Ms. Miscl. Let. Re 
Guano, Morr1nt. 
5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Serr a.nilla. 
6 MS. Mi scl. Let. Re Guru10, Serrani lla. 
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J. W. Jennett to P. de Murguiondo, December 29, 1877, 

one-half interest in gumo on Morant Keys. 

Prudencio de Murguiondo to 1.Vard H. Lamon, October 6, 

1877, one-fourth interest in gua.no on Morant Keys. 

Julia de Murguiondo to WR.rd H. Lamon, December 7, 

1877, one-fourth of her interest in gu~no on Mor,mt 

Keys. 
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3. PEDRO KEYS 

a, Geogra2h_y. 

Pedro Bank, lying 40 to 50 miles southwest of Jamaica, 

is approximately 100 miles long and 55 miles wide at the 

western part. It is from 8 to 15 fathoms under water, 

except on the southern portion where there a.re shoals and 

keys. Portland Rock, 40 miles from Portland Point, Jamaica, 

and 8 miles within the eastern end of Pedro Bank, is 390 

yards long and rises to a height of 30 feet. Blower Rock, 

5 miles southwest of Portland Rook, is 120 yards long and 

a or 3 feet high. There are fou:r keys at the southern 

edge of the bank. Northeast Key, at la.ti tude 170 03 11 N., 

longitude 77° 45n w., 18 1/2 miles from Portland Rock, is 

about 1/4 of a mile long and 160 yards wide and is covered 

with bushes. Kiddle Key, a 1/2 miles from Northeast Key, 

is small and covered with brushwood. Southwest Key, about 

1/3 of a mile long, is covered with high bushes and has a 

pond of brackish water in the center. In 1900 a beacon 

and five ooooanut trees stood on this key. South Key, 

2 3/4 miles from Southwest Key, and 1 mile within the 

edge of the bank, is 220 yards long and 8 feet high, and 

is composed almost entirely of dead coral. There are fair 
866 

anchorages off the Keya. 
~ Uni teq, 

266 West Indies Pilot {192,,, H. O. 128, Vol. I, pp. 418 - 422. 
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b1 The United States Claim 'lm.der the GuRno Aot. 

On Karch 10, 1869, J. W. Jennett filed with the State 

Department a notice of discovery of guano on the four Pedro 

Keys in June, 1866. The deolaration,dated June 30, 1866, 

contained the usual allegations and was witnessed by seamen 
867 

on the schooner PETREL, in which the discovery was made. 

On Kay 28, 1869, Jennett•s attorneys submitted additional 

evidence of his occupation of the Keye, consisting of another 

notice of discovery, a.n affidavit of Captain Eaden of the 

LAVINIA, dated September 11, 1869, and a contract between 

Jennett and two men of Martinique, dated August 18, 1869. 

Captain Eaden alleged that he visited Pedro Keys on August 25, 

1869, found two men there employed by Jennett, and that he 
268 

left them on the Southwest Key of Pedro Bank. On Octo-

ber 12, 1869, Jennett submitted the following evidence of 

his actual occupation of Pedro Keye: A sworn statement by 

Jennett dated October 1, 1869, alleging that on March 6, 

1869, he landed two men on Southwest Key, and that on 

August 28, 1869, they were still there and that he left 

them provisions; a second declaration of Oaptain Eaden, 

dated August 26, 1869, describing the Keys and alleging 

that 

267 sworn statement by J. w. Jennett, dated June 30, 1866, 
5 MS. M1sol. Let. Re Guano, Pedro. 

268 o. D. Willard, Att'y for Jennett, to Hamilton Fish, 
Seo. of State, May as, 1869, and enclosures, Ibid. 



-101-

that he fotmd the two men there; the contra.ct between the 

men, Paul and Molet, and Jennett, dated August 26, 1869• 

in which the men promised to remain on the Southwest Key 

of Pedro Bank for three months, or until Jennett returned; 
269 

and a crayon map of the Keys. On November 26, 1869, 

Jennett filed a bond for Pedro Keys (also for Petrel or 

Boxo Nueva, Roncador, and Quito sueno), in accordance with 
270 

the provisions of the Guano Act of 1856. 

The bond was approved by the State Department and sent 

to the Secretary of the Treasury with the remark that: 

11 It is understood that James w. Jennett 
claimed exclusive right of occupying certain 
islands or keys called Pedro Keys. • • 11 271 

272 
Jennett was notified of this action, and was given a 

certificate or proclamation, signed by Hamilton Fish, Secre­

tary of State, and dated November 30, 1869, which recited 

that James w. Jennett had complied with the provisions of 

the Act of August 18, 1856, and concluded: 

11 Wheref ore the said James W. Jennett is 
entitled in respect to the guano upon the said 
islands and keys, to all the privileges and 
advantages intended by that Act to be secured 
to citizens of the United States, who may have 

discovered 

269 Lincoln and Willard, Jennett•s Attorneya, to Hami!ton 
Fish, Seo. of State, Oct. 12, 1869, and enclosures, 
Ibid. 

270 do. to do., Nov. as, 1869, Ibid. 
371 Hamilton Fish, Sec. of State, to Geo. Bontwell, Sec. of 

Treas., Nov. 36, 1869, aa KS. Dom. Let. 382. 
272 J. c. B. Davis, Ass. Sec., to Lincoln and Willard, 

Nov. 27, 1869, Ibid 395. 
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discovered deposits of guano, while and so 
as he abides by and fulfils the conditions 
the said Bonds and requirements of the Act 
Congress aforesaid." 273 

long 
of 
of 

J. 

47G 

The Secretary of the Treasury included Pedro Keys among the 

islands listed as appertaining to the United States under 

the Guano Act, and notified collectors of customs to apply 

the coastwise regulations to Pedro Keys, according to the 
274 

Act. 

c. The Claim of Great Britain. ..... . 
In January, 1878, the State Department learned, both 

through a disinterested American citizen, and through the 

.American Oonsul at Kingston, Jamaica, that the British 
.275 

had formally taken possession of Pedro Keye in 1863. 

Nevertheless, no investigation was made and Pedro Keys 

remained on the list of islands appertaining to the United 

States under the Guano Act. Because of this, in 1884, pro­

ceedings were instituted against the British brig NATALIE 

at Norfolk, Virginia, for violation of the navigation laws 

of the United States in trading between Pedro Keys and 

American ports, on the grotmd that Pedro Keys was an American 

possession. 

273 Copy of Proclamation in 5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Pedro; 
see also J. O. B. Davis, acting sec., to Carter, Mar. 29, 
1870, 83 MS. Dom. Let. 612; Fish, Sec. of state, to 
Mrs. Henrietta Stevens, May 10, 1870, 84 Id. 426; Wharton, 
Acting Sec. to Schwenk, June 23, 1892, 187 Id. 49; Adee, 
Ass. Seo., to Schwenk, Feb. 26, 1904, 272 Id. 485. 

274 Geo. Bontwell, sec. of Treas., to Seo. of State, Dec. 1, 
1869, 5 Ms. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Pedro. See also lists 
in 6 Ibid, Miscl. 

275 A. Wellington Hart to The President, Jan. 11, 1878, 5 MS. 
Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Pedro; Geo. E. Hoskinson, u. s. 
Consul at Kingston to F. w. Seward, Ass. sec Jan 23 
1878, 28 MS. Consular Let., Kingston, Jamaica:'No. i3a.' 
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possession. The British Minister to the United States pro­

tested and sent the secretary of State a copy of a notice 

which appeared in the LONDON GAZETTE of March 14, 1882, 

stating that Letters Patent had been issued by the British 

Government for the annexation to Jamaica of Morant and 

Pedro Keys, of which possession had been ta.ken by the British 
276 

Government in 1862, and 1863, respectively. He requested 

an inquiry in regard to the NATALIE which he said was 11 law­

fully trading between the British possession of Pedro Cays 
277 

( Jamaica) and American ports." Thereupon, the Secretary 

of State informed the Secretary of the Treasury of the com­

plaint, noting that in 1878, the State Department had received 

reports from the American Consul at Jamaica that the British 

claimed title to Pedro Keys, and that the Consul regarded 
278 

this claim as sound and fatal to Jennett• s claim. The 

NATALIE was released on December 13, 1884, and the British 
279 

Minister was notified. 

In 1887, the British Minister presented a cla,im on 

behalf of the owners of the NATALIE for damages for the 
280 

seizure and detention of the brig. The Secretary of 

State asked the Secretary of the Treasury to estimate the 

damages, stating that: 

276 

277 
278 

279 

280 

"This 

Sir L. s. Sackville West, Brit. Min. to U. s., to 
Frelinghuysen, sec. of State, Dec. 1, 1884, 111 Ms. 
Notes from Great Britain. 
Second note, same date, Ibid. 
F. Frelinghuysen, Sec. of State, to Sec. of Treas., H. 
MoCullock, Dec. 5, 1884, 153 Dom. Let. 366. 
Frelinghuysen, Sec. of State, to L. s. Sackville West, 
Jan. 7 1885 19 MS. Notes to Great Britain, 597. 
L. s. ~ackv1ile West, Brit. Min. to U. s., to T. F. 
Bayard, sec. of State, Feb. 21, 1887, 114 Notes from 
Great Britain. 

) 
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"This Department ie of the opinion that Pedro 
Keys was not at the time of th~ seizure of the 
NATALIE and is not now a guano island •appertain­
ing to the United States.'" 281 

It was decided that the United States would allow the owners 

of the NATALIE the sum of $476.60 for demurrage, and $205.00 
282 

for the compensation of the crew. 

There is no doubt but the British Government forma.lly 
283 

landed on and took possession of ~edro Keye on July 13, 1863. 

In June, 1864 Letters Patent were issued to the Governor of 

Jamaica authorizing him to grant leases for the removal of 

guano from islands which might belong to Great Brita.in, and 

leases for Pedro Keys at the rate of 75 pounds a year were 
284 

granted. The islands were annexed to Jamaica on March 3, 

1882, and a notice of the annexation was published in the 
285 

LONDON GAZETTE, March 14, 1882. There are tempora.ry huts 

on some of the keys and cocoanut trees were planted on North-
286 

east and Southwest Keys. 

Concessions 

281 T. F. Bayexd, Sec. of State, to c. G. Fairchild, Sec. of 
Treas. May 7, 1887, 164 US. Dom. Let. 114. 

282 T. F. Bayard, sec. of State, to Sir L. s. sackville West, 
Brit. Yin. to U. s., July 19, 1887, 20 MS. Notes to Grea.t 
Britain, 467. see also J. D. Porter, Ass. Sec., to 
Coudert Brs., May 28, 1885, 155 MS. Dom. Let. 518; 
Yurguiondo to T. F. Bayard, Sec. of state, Dec. 7, 1885, 
5 MS. Yiscl. Let. Re Guano, Pedro. 

283 See letters patent, annexation of Morant and Pedro Keys 
to Jamaica, Mar. 3, 1883, Vol. 73 Brit, and Foreign State 
Pa.pers 531. 

284 Sinclair and Fyfe, Handbook of Jamaica (Jamaica, 1882) 
pp. 496, 500. 

285 Supra, Note 283. 
286 Supra, Note 284. 
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Oonceseions for the removal of birds, eggs, and turtles 

from Pedro Keys are granted from time to time by the Jamaican 

Government. For the yea.rs 1917 to 1921, inclusive, the 

average yearly importation of eggs from Pedro Keys to Jamaica 

was 217,320. It is said that the supply does not decrease 

because the birds, called "noddys11 and II sooty terns11 lay only 

one egg a season, and if that is removed, lay another, and 

so on, so that the same number of birds are hatched in the 
287> 

end as if no eggs were taken at allJ In 1922, it was re-

ported that a concession for the collection of birds, eggs, 

and turtles from Pedro Keys (except Southwest Key) was 
288 

granted a citizen of Little Caynisa~ Island for, 80 a year, 

and in 1925 t 1he Keys were leased to a Jamaican concern for 
288 

7 years, for -300 a year. 

287 o. L. Latham, u. S. Consul, Kingston, Jamaica, to Sec. 
of State, Nov. 10, 1922 (811.014/83). 

288 do. to do., Nov. 4, 1922 (811.014/81). 

289 U. s. Consul, Kingston, Jamaica, to Seo. of State, 
Oct. 15, 1925 (844 d. 0141/3). 
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The United States did recognize Jennett's interest 

in the guano on Pedro Keys, but subsequently withdrew this 

recognition, and unequivocably acknowledged the British 

claim to sovereignty over the islands. In 1917, the 

state Department wrote that: 

11 • • • from evidence coming to the Department's 
attention subsequent to the approval in 1869 of 
Mr. Jennett•e bond, it would appear that these 
Keys are not to be considered as now appertain­
ing to the United States." 292 

t)~Bd 
' , 

292 Wm. Phillips, Ass. Sec., to E. A. Alexander, April 21, 
1917 (811.0141/20); Opinion of Solicitor (Mr. Hackworth) 
1917 Sol. Op. Part I pages 584, 586. 
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Assignments 

1. J. W. Jennett to Henrietta Stevens, May 5, 1870, all 

his interest ln guano on four Pedro Keys (also all 

Roncador, Quito, Bueno, and Petrel Islands). Henrietta 

Jennett ( nee Stevens) to the Petrel Guano Company, 

January 10, 1881, same interest. 

The Petrel Guano Company ( represented by Samuel Schwenk) 

to the Caribbean Guano Company (represented by George 
290 

Crater) October 18, 1911, same interest. 

a. ' Declaration of Henry Dewey, November 7, 1881, that he 

had a half interest in all guano islands discovered 
291 

by Jennett under contract, dated May 10, 1880. 

290 5 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Roncador and Quito Sueno. 

291 Ibid, Pedro. 



-108-

4. SOMBRERO ISLAND 

a, Geography. 

Sombrero Island, latitude 18° 36" North, longitude 

63° 28" West, is situated in the .Angeda.ga Passage, separating 

the Virgin Islands group of the West Indies from the Leeward 

Islands. It is on a small ooral bank, and is 1800 by 400 

yards square. It is composed of jagged points of coral 

rock rising to a height of 40 feet in the center, and covered 

with a few prickly pear bushes. The sides are precipitous 

and rocky, and there is no good harbor, but there is an 

anchorage on the west side of the island. Sombrero is 40 
293 

miles from the nearest inhabited land, St. Martin Island. 

b, The United States Claim tmder .}h~ Guano Act. 

A notice of the discovery of guano on Sombrero Island 

by Messrs. Copeland and Gowen was filed with the State Depart­

ment in the latter part of 1856. Olaimants' affidavit, dated 

November 13, 1856, alleged that they had employed Captain 

Meltiah Jordan, jr., to go on a voyage of discovery; that he 

had, on one of these tripsl discovered guano. deposits on 

sombrero and had brought back a sample; that they had dis­

patched a second vessel commanded by Captain John Jordan, 

with 

293 West Indies Pilot, Vol. II, H. o. 129 (1929) pp. 104 -
105. 



f) ' 

-109-

with instructions to take and retain possession of the 

island; and that such possession was taken. These declara­

tions were supported by an affidavit of Meltia.h Jordan, jr., 

dated July 16, 1857. However, they were not considered 

sufficient to warrant recognition of the interest of Gowen and 
294 

Copeland. 

A bond was filed by the discoverers in February, 1857, 

but, as it was not signed by Copeland and Gowen but only ~­

by one Ellis as their attorney, and as the Department had 

received no notice of his power of attorney, the Attorney 

General, Jeremiah Black, advised: 11 That the bond be treated 
295 

as no bond at all." His opinion was communicated to 

Messrs. Wood and Grant, apparently assignees of the dis-
296 

coverers, in a letter of September 28, 1857. 

In spite of the non-recognition of their claim by the 

United States, the discoverers• assignees occupied the 

island and removed guano. In 1861 Ross w. Wood and Son 

reported 

294 The affidavits have not been found in the archives of 
the State Department, but they are cited in Lewis Oass, 
sec. of State, to Messrs. Wood and Grant, July 1, 1857, 
47 MS. Dom. Let. 165. See also Bond, dated Feb. 13, 
1857, Gowen and Copeland, principals in VI MS. M1scl. 
Let. Re Guano. 

295 9 Op. Att•y Gen. 128 (Black, Nov. 5, 1857). 
296 John Appleton, Ass. Sec., to Wood and Grant, Sept. 25, 

1857, 47 MS. Dom. Let. 390. See also Ibid, pp. 385, 165. 
Two letters written by the Department in January, 1860, 
confirm this account of the transaction: John Appleton, 
Ass. sec. to A. c. M. Pennington, Jan. 12, 1860, 51 Ms. 
Dom. Let. 354; Lewis Cass, Sec. of State, to A.G. M. 
Pennington, Jan. 28, 1860, 51 MS. Dom. Let. 407. 



·I i 

J I ~. i . ./ 
-1 · L\ / 

i.,. 

-110-

reported to the Secretary of State that A. C. Elliott of 

Baltimore, formerly pa.rt owner of the island, had threatened 

to take possession of Sombrero by force, and make use of it 

for the Confederacy, or possibly for the slave trade. Wood 

I'. 0 .., 
"±a ~~. 

& Son alleged that on October 22, 1861, they had 45 laborers 

on the island. They asked for protection against such expedi­

tions as Elliott's, at the same time acknowledging that 

Sombrero Island 11 bas never been proclaimed American terri-
297 

tory. 11 

The Seoreta.ry of State replied that Major General Dix 

had sufficient authority to deal with the case of Elliott in 
298 

Baltimore. A letter was sent, however, to the secretary 

of the Navy remarking on II the vital importance, at the 

present time, of the guano island of Sombrero, belonging to 

the United States, and the necessity of its protection by 
299 

one of our armed vessels." 

c, The Claim of Great Britain. 

In 1863 Sombrero again figures in diplomatic correspon­

dence. Wood, still occupying the island, reported that the 

British r~tgate PHAETON, commanded by Captain Latham, had 

visited 
297 Rose W. Wood & Son to Seward, Sec. of State, Nov. ao, 

1861, MS. Misol. Let. Nov. 1861. See also L. o. L. 
Htmtington, at st. Martin Is., to Seward, sec. of State, 
Aug. 3, 1861, MS. Mi sol. Let., Aug. 1861. 

298 Seward, Sec. of State, to Messrs. Ross W. Wood & Son, 
Nov. 25, 1861, 51 MS. Dom. Let. 491. 

299 Seward, Seo. of State, to Gideon Welles, Sec. of Navy, 
Sept. 10, 1861, 55 MS. Dom. Let. 63. 
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visited Sombrero Karch 18, 1863, and forced the AmericAns on 

the island to haul down the American flag. Captain Latham, 

however, had apparently admitted that the question of 

sovereignty over the island was not settled, and had per­

mitted the American occupants to put the flag up again, at 

the same time claiming they had no right to do so. Wood & 

Sons reported that they had been in continuous, peaceful 

possession since December 1, 1856. They asked the advice 

of the Secretary of State, admitting that they had not 

secured any proclamation of American sovereignty over the 

island under the Guano Act of 1856, but alleging that they 

could prove continuous occupation since 1856, and that several 

hundred tons of guano still remained upon the island, although 

they had shipped about 50,000 tons, and that this guano was 

75 to 80 per cent phosphate of lime. They declared, further, 

that since the blockade of the Southern ports, they had 

shipped almost entirely to England; and that they were only 

interested in removing the guano from the island: -

"We of course do not desire to occupy the 
Sombrero Key one day after ceasing shipments of 
guano, and to anticipate the permanent occupation 
of the island by any power or person would be 
absurd. 11 

They added that they would not object to working the guano 

tmder the British flag, but that they had invested so much 

ca.pi ta.l 
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capital in the enterprise that they could not stop now with-
300 

out great loss. 

The Secretary of State referred the matter to Charles 

Francis Adams, United States Minister to Great Britain, 

with the following instructions: 

"Although this Government has not yet 
contracted the obligation to protect the occupancy 
of the island by citizens of the United States 
upon the terms prescribed by the Act of August 18th, 
1856, 1 t cannot be indifferent to any unwarra.ntable 
disturbance of the present occupants by the officers 
of a foreign power. You will consequently make a 
representation on this subject to Earl Russell and 
inquire whether, and upon what groi.mds, the British 
Government claims sovereignty over the Island of 
Sombrero. If no such claim exist, you will suggest 
that Captain Latham's proceedings seem to the 
President to deserve some censor from the British 
Government ••• 11 301 

Adams accordingly addressed the following note to 

Lord Russell, of the British Foreign Office: 

"I do not understand that the Government 
of the United States has yet contracted any 
obligation to protect the occupancy of this 
particular island by its citizens, although 
by the terms of an Act of Congress ••• of 
1856 ••• it has certainly given encouragment 
to the prosecution of the objects sought to 
be obtained, so far as to promise them pro­
tection in the possession of such islands as 
are not claimed by or in the possession of any 
other government. It cannot, however, be in­
different to the i.mcourteous mode adopted by 

Captain 

300 Ross w. Wood & Co to Seward, Sec. of State, Ap. 17, 1863, 
Pt. II MS. Mi eel. Let. April, 1863; Aff1dav1 t of Robert 
Matches, Mar. 18, 1863, Ibid, enclosure. 

301 Seward, Sec. of State, to C. F. Adams, May 5, 1863, 
18 Great Britain, Instructions 483, No. 582. 
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Oaptaim Latham, of disturbing the present oc­
cupants of Sombrero, who have temporarily es­
tablished themselves there under the expecta­
tion of such s~port." 302 

Lord Russell gave instructions to Lord Lyons, British 
303 

.... ·: 

Minister to the United states, who wrote Secretary Seward 

that: 

"Captain Latham•s proceedings were not 
prompted by any desire to interfere with the 
commercial adventures of .American citizens, but 
were adopted in order to assert the Queen's 
rights over an island regarded as a Dependency 
of the British Crown. 11 

He added that Great Britain was willing to authorize the 

Governor of the Leeward Islands to grant a five-year 

~87 

304 
license for the removal of guano to the Americans interested. 

Seward replied that, while the United states did not 

claim sovereignty over the island, 11 we are not prepared to 

acknowledge that the pretension of Great Britain to that 

sovereignty, has any just foundation, in fact or in law," 

and, a.coordingly, the American citizens could not be recom­

mended to apply for a British license "as such a recommenda­

tion would alone be tantamount to an acknowledgment that 
305 

Sombrero is rightfully a dependency of the British Crown." 

Lord 
302 o. F. Actams, u. s. Min. to Great Britain, to Seward, 

Seo. of State, July a, 1863, Enclosure 1, 83 Great 
Britain, Adams Dispatches, No. 443. 

303 Ibid, enclosure 2; see also Seward, Seo. of State, to 
c. F. Adams, U. s. Min. to G. B., July 23, 1863, 18 
Great Britain, Instructions 541, No. 659. 

304 Lord Lyons, Brit. Min. to u. S., to Seward, Sec. of 
State, Aug. 6, 1863, 53 MS. Great Britain, Notes From. 

305 Seward, Seo. of State, to Lord Lyons, Brit. Min. to U. 
s., Aug. 10, 1863, 10 MS. Notes to Great Britain 202. 
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Lord Russell, who was not prepared for this answer 

of the Secretary of State, made inquiries of Adams, who 

urged Lord Russell to consider the Amerioan claimants' 

situation "separately from other points involved in the 

proceedings, so far as to relieve them from the diffi-
306 

cul ties of their position." Accordingly, Lord Russell 

reported that Great Britain had granted to Wood and Co. 

a lease of the island of Sombrero, but added: 

11 Her Uajesty' s Government are a.ware that the 
Government of the United States desired to reserve 
to themselves the right, if they should think fit 
hereafter to do so, of calling in question the 
title of Her Majesty to this island, and they 
understand that on the present occasion it is 
mutua.lly agreed between the two governments that 
the acquiescence of the United States Government 
in this particular act of Her Majesty's Govern­
ment is not to prejudice or to affect any claim 
which the United States may hereafter think fit 
to advance with respect to Sombrero." 307 

secretary Seward expressed his approval of this arrange-
308 

ment. 

488 

Subsequently, however, the United Sta.tee never claimed 

any right to sovereignty over Sombrero Island. No acceptable 

bond 

306 c. F. Adams, u. s. Min. to G. B., to Seward, Sec. of 
State, Sept. 10, 1863, 84 MS. Great Britain, Ada.ms 
Dispatches, No. 495, with enclosures. 

307 c. F. Adams, U. s. Min. to G. B., to Seward, Seo. of 
State, Ap. 8, 1864, - Enclosure, Russell, B~it. For. 
Office, to c. F. Adams, Mar. 23, 1864, Part I 1864 
For. Rel. 584. 

308 Seward, sec. of State, too. F. Adams, u. s. Min. to 
G. B., Ap. 28, 1863, 19 MS. Great Britain, Instructions, 
No. 726. 
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bond for the island was ever filed, according to the records 
309 

in the State Department, although the island was listed 

on the first list of islands compiled by the Secretary of 

the Treasury on August 23, 1867, and sent to collectors of 
310 

customs. In answer to an inqUiry from the Secretary of 
311 

the Treasury in 1868, the Secretary of State replied: 

11 Nothing has been discovered to show 
that the title of citizens of the United 
States to guano on the island was ever re­
cognized by the President. 11 312 

The lease to Wood and Oompany by the British Government 
313 

apparently ceased in 1893. By a British Order in Council 

of August 10, 1904, the island of Sombrero was formally 

annexed 

309 

310 
311 

312 

313 

See o. I. Y. (}winn to Trescott, State Dept., Oct. 30, 
1860, VI MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano (Re filing of a new 
bond. This was not done, however, eo far as can be 
ascertained. see 79 MS. Dom. Let. 204, 1.nf:ra Note 318). 
VI MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano. :It i5 -not o-n \ate,.- \:.st~. 
H. McCullock, Sec. of Treas., to Seward, sec. of Sta.te, 
Aug. 12, 1868, VI MS. Misol. Let. Re Guano. 
Seward, Sec. of State, to H. McCullock, Sec. of Treas., 
Aug. 14, 1868, 79 MS. Dom. Let. 204. 
Sir Charles P. Lucas, A Historical Survey of the British 
Colonies, Vol. II, The West lndies (1905, pp. 157 - 8. 
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314 
annexed to the colony of th~ Leeward Islands. The 

British Board of Trade maintains a lighthouse on the island, 

and it is attached administratively to the Presidency of the 
315 

(British) Virgin Islands. The United States does not 
316 

appear to have protested against this annexation. 

314 Ibid; Bl'itish and Foreign State Papers (1908) Vol. 97, 
p. 146. 

315 Lucas, QI?.. Cit. supra, Note 313; West Ingles Pilot, 
~ note , pp. 104-5; Statesman• s Year Book 
(London, 1932) pp. 340, 342. 

316 No protest is found in Foreign Relations Volumes, and 
D. c. R. was unable to find anything on Sombrero Island. 
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IV. ISLANDS CLAIMED BY MEXICO 

1. THE TRIANGLES (EL TRIANGULOS), ALACRANS KEYS (CHICA, 
PEREZ, PAJORO.S) and ARENAS KEY 

a. THE TRIANGLES ( EL TRIANGULOS) 

1, .: ae:og;: aph y. 

The Trie.ngles (or El Triangulos) are two coral reefs 

eight miles within Campeche Bank on the northwest coast of 

the Yucatan Peninsula, in the Gulf of Mexico. Western 

Triangle Reef is about 700 yards long, and at the south­

west end there is a small key about 200 yards long, com­

posed of sand and coral which forms a wall 11 feet high on 

the east side. Western Triangle Light is on this key. 

Between the Western and Southern Triangle Reefs there is a 

coral island, latitude, ao0 551 N., longitude, 92° 13' w. 
It is 600 by 200 yards square, about 17 feet high, and there 

is a heap of stones on it about 24 feet high. There is a 
317 

tolerable landing on the northwest side of this island. 

2, United States Claim under the Guano Act. 

On September 13, 1879, Captain James w. Jennett filed 

a Notice of Discovery of guano on three Triangle Islands, 

two Eastern, and one Western. He enclosed a Notice, dated 

September 1, 

317 Central America and Mexico Pilot (192?) H. O. 130, 
PP• 320 - 321. 
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September 1, 1879, in which he alleged: that the discovery 

of guano on these islands was made on February 15, 1879; 

that he first visited them in 1860, and revisited them and 

removed samples of guano in 1867, 1869, 1875, 1877 and 1879; 

that in 1879 he chartered the schooner MARY MATILDA and 

landed on Eastern Island on February 15, ta.Icing formal 

possession of the Island in the name of the United States. 

This declaration was supported by the affidavits of two 
318 

seamen of the MARY MATILDA, dated September 1, 1879. 

Al though no bond for any of the Triangle I sla,nds appears 

to have been filed until 1880, "Triangle keys ( three in num­

ber)" are listed on the Secretary of the TreastU"y' s list of 

February 12, 1869. "Western Triangles 11 appears on the 1890 
319 

list. 
320 

Western Triangle was bonded on September 18, 1880, 

by the Aves Guano Co., and the bond was approved by John Hay, 
321 

Acting Secretary of State, October 27, 1880. On October 15, 

1894, the State Department reported that there was nothing to 

show that the President had exercised his discretion, under the 
322 

Gua,no Act, with regard to Triangle Islands. 
b 1 Alacrans 

318 J. w. Jennett 't1o' Wm'. Evarts, sec. of State, Sept. 13, 
1879, and enclosures, I MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, 
Ale.crane, and 6 Ibid, Triangles. 

319 6 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Miscl. 
320 See w. Gresham, Sec. of State, to Hon. John B. Gordon, 

Oct. 19, 1893, 194 Dom. Let. 56, 60. 
321 Acting Sec. of Treas. to Sec. of State, and enclosure, 

Oct. 12, 1894, Miscl. Let. Part I, Oct. 1894. 
322 E. Uhl, Acting Sec., to Arthur Brash, Oct. 15, 1894, 

199 MS. Dom. Let. 147. 
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b. ALACRANS KEYS (CHICA, PEREZ, PAJORAS) 

1. GeographI• 

Alaorans reef, on Campeohe Bank in the Gulf of Mexico, 

is 65 miles north of the coast of Yucatan. It is a half­

moon shaped, coral reef, 14 miles long and 8 miles wide 

at the widest part. Three miles from the northern point 

of the reef there is a small sand key, about 10 feet high, 

covered with grass and bushes. Two black rocks rise from 

the northeast edge of the reef. Perez Island, at the southern 

end of the reef, is a narrow ridge 800 yards long, covered 

with grass and brushwood. There are sometimes fishermen's 

huts on this Island and at the center is Alacrans Reef 

Light, latitude, aao 24' N., longitude, 990 42' w. At the 

southeastern extremity of the reef a.re two small sandy keys, 

Pajoras and Chica. They a.re about 500 yards apart, and 

both are about 5 feet high, covered with grass and brushwood. 

There is a small key three miles northwest of Perez Island, 

covered with bushes about 12 feet high. There is an ex­

cellent reef harbor for small vessels between the shoals 
323 

ext.ending from Perez to the other keys. 

a. United 

323 Central America and Mexico Pilot (1927) H. o. 130, 
pp. 317 - 318. 
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a, United States Olaim under the Guano Ac.t. 

On September 13, 1879, Captain James w. Jennett filed 

a Notice of his discovery of guano on three Alacrans Islands, 

named Perez, Ohioa, and Pajoras. He enclosed a Declaration, 

dated September 1, 1879, substantially similar to his decla­

ration in regard to Triangle Islands, and the supporting 

affidavits of two seamen on the MARY MATILDA, dated Septem-
324 

ber 1, 1879. 

The three Islands of Alaorans Bank were bonded on 
325 

June 21, 1884, and all included and listed separately 

by name in the later lists compiled by the Treasury Depart-
326 

ment. The bond was filed by the South .American Bird 

Guano Oo., and was formally approved by John Davis, Acting 
327 

Secretary of State, July 24, 1884, with regard to Pajoras 

and Ohica Islands. The State D8 partment said, on October 15, 

1894: 

11 There is nothing to show that the Presi­
dent of the United States has ever exercised 
the discretion vested in him by the Guano Islands 
Act of August 18, 1856, whereby such islands may 
•be considered as appertaining to the United States. t 11 328 

C. ARENAS 

324 J. w. Jennett to Wm. Evarts, Seo. of State, Sept. 13, 
1879, and enclosures, I MS. Miscl. Let. re Guano, 
Alaorans. (Although Jennett apparently attempted to 
assign two more islands of the Alacrans group, which he 
called Plaooa and Baraderos, he filed no notice of dis­
covery of any such islands. See Wm. Wharton, Acting Sec., 
to Arthur Bra.sh, Oct. 21, 1891, 183 MS. Dom. Let. 600; 
do. to do., Nov. 23, 1891, 184 Ibid 193.) 

325 see w. Gresham, Seo. of State, to Hon. J.B.Gordon, 
Oct. 19, 1893, 194 MS. Dom. Let. 57, 61. 

~~9 ~c¥~ngM~:g:•of8 fre~~.G¥g11§~c~i3l1State, Oct. 12, 1894, 
and enclosure, Part I Misol. Let. Oct., 1894. 

328 Edward Uhl, Acting Sec., to Arthur Brash, Oct. 15, 1894, 
199 Dom. Let. 147; do. to Wilbur, Ibid. 



-121-

c. ARENAS KEY 

1. Geograpl!z_ 

Arenas Key, latitude 22° 07t, N., longitude 91° 24 1 , w., 
is about 12 miles within the Ca.mpeche Bank, in the Gulf of 

Mexico, at the southeast end of a detached coral reef. It 

is about 300 by 200 yards square, and is said to be extend­

ing northward. It is covered with grass and at the south­

east end there is a 20 foot wall of coral blocks thrown up 

by the sea. On the Key is a light, maintained by the Mexican 

Government, and two dwelling houses. The Island is frequented 

by sea birds in April and May, and occasionally by seals. 

There is a snug anchorage for small vessels and a wharf on 
329 

the northwest side of the Key. 

a, The United States Claim under the Guano Act. 

On Kay 24, 1869, Captain James W. Jennett filed a Notice 

of discovery of guano on Arenas Island. He alleged that the 

discovery was made on January 18, 1867, on the schooner PETREL, 

and made the usual declarations which were supported by a 

crayon map of Arenas Island, and certificates of · the First 
330 

and second Mates on the schooner PETREL, dated May 5, 1869. 

On February 12, 1894, an assignee claiming under Jennett 

. filed another Declaration by Jennett, dated May 24, 1876, 

329 

330 

relating 
Central America and Mexico Pilot (1927) H. o. 130 pp 319-
320. . 
J. W. Jennett' s Notice of Discovery, May 24, 1869, and 
enclosures, 2 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Arenas. 
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relating to his discovery of Arenas in January, 1867, and 

further declarations by the First and Second Mates 0£ the 
331 

PETREL, dated May 25, 1869. 

There is also a second Notice of discovery of guano 

on Arenas Island, dated March 3, 1880, filed by John G. 

Wallis on March 20, 1880. He alleged that on January 11, 

1880, he landed and took possession of Arenas Island in 

the name of the United States; that on January 17 he loaded 

the schooner EBEN H. KING with 130 tons of guano, and left 

14 laborers on the island; and he prayed that it be con­

sidered as appertaining to the United States and that his 

interests be protected under the Guano Act of 1856. These 

allegations were supported by affidavits of James B1.n1ker, 

Master of the EBEN H. KING, and of Lieutenant Commander 
332 

Ackley, of the schooner EAGRE, United States Coast SUrvey. 

There is also on file a certificate by Benjamin Smith, 

Master of the brig FIDELIA, dated July 1, 1880, in which 

he alleged that in May, 1880, he removed 500 tons from 

Arenas Eey, acting under orders from John G. Wallis, and 
333 

that he fo1.n1d Wallis's employees on the Island. On 

October 18, 1881, Wallis's bond was filed, and was ap:proved 

by 

331 John F. McGuire to Gresham, sec. of State, Feb. 12, 
1894, and enclosures, Ibid. 

332 J. G. Wallis to Wm. Evarts, Sec. of State, Mar. 20, 
1880, Ibid. 

333 Certificate of Benjamin Smith, July 1, 1880, Ibid. 
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~r17 , 
I; 
/ / 

by the Secretary of State, and transmitted to the Treasury 
334 

Department. 

It appears that the State Department never recognized 

the interests of either Jennett or Wallis under the Guano 

Act. With regard to the interest of Jennett and his assignees 

in Arenas, the Department stated, in 1878, that 11 they hold 
335 

no title or right emanating from this Government." In 1881, 

the State Department informed the First Comptroller of the 

Treasury that neither Jennett nor his assignees had taken 
336 

any steps after filing the notice of discovery in 1869. 

When Wallis filed his Declaration of Discovery, the Depart-
337 

ment merely informed him of Jennett's prior Notice. In 

1885 the Department stated that it was 11 tmable to find that 

either of these alleged discoveries was recognized by a 
338 

President• s proclamation. 11 Again in 1894 it was said 

that: 

"There is nothing to show that the President 
of the United States has ever exercised the discre­
tion vested in him by the Guano Islands Adt whereby 
such islands may 'be considered as appertaining to 
the United States.' 11 339 

Nevertheless 

334 See B. F. Fisher, Att'y for Wallis, to Wm. Hunter, Ass. 
Sec., Dec. 8, 1880, Ibid; Hen:ry 0 1 Connor, Examiner of 
Olaims, Dec. 7, 1881, Vol. 14 Op. and Rep. p. 47. 

335 Wm. Evarts, Sec. of State, to Lewis Bedner a.nd Sons, 
June 7, 1878, 123 MS. Dom. Let. 208. See also O'Connor, 
Examiner of Claims, Nov. 12, 1879, Vol 11, Op. and Rep., 
No. 29. 

336 F. G. Blaine, Sec. of state, to Wm. Lawrence, Sept. 1, 
1881, 139 MS. Dom. Let. 22. See also Henry O'Connor, 
Supra, Note 334. 

337 C. Payson, 3rd Ass. Sec., to J. G. Wallis, Mar. 24, 
1880, 132 MS. Dom. Let. 287. 

338 J. D. Porter, Acting Sec.~ to P. de Murguiondo, Jan. 18, 
1886, 158 MS. Dom. Let. 4~2. 

339 E. Uhl, Acting sec., to Jerome B. Graybill, Oct. 15, 1891 
199 Ibid 147; do. to Gatchell, Oct. 16, 1894, Ibid 157. 
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Nevertheless a bond for Arenas Key, dated September 8, 

1879, filed by William Van Derlip, and a bond filed by J. G. 

Wallis, dated October 18, 1880 (approved by the State Depa.rt-
340 

ment January 24, 1881), for .. !Jbe Island of Arenas 11 were sent 

to the Treasury Department by the State Department. Conse­

quently on the Treasury 11st of 1890 both Arenas Key a.nd 

the Island of Arenas are listed, the same longitude being 

given for both, but with a difference in latitude of 17 1 and 
341 

20 11 • 

In October, 1881, an American citizen, William Adruns, 

lessee of John Wallis, was engaged in removing guano from 

Arenas Key. The :U:e.xican a.u thori ties sent the Mexican gun­

boat LIBERTAD to investigate and to assert the authority of 

the Mexican Government. The Commissioner of the gunboat 

ordered the American flag pulled down, raised the Mexican 
342 

flag, and removed the Americans from the island. Ada.ms 

complained to the State Department, alleging that Arenas 

Island had been recognized by the United States as a "duly 

bonded guano island", and that it was recognized as such 

by 

340 Acting Sec. of Treas. to Sec. of State, Oct. 12, 1894, 
and enclosure, Pa.rt I Misc 1. Let. Oct. 1894. 

341 6 MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano, Misc!. 
342 p. H. Morgan, U. S. Min·~. to Mexico, to Sec. of State, 

Nov. 9, 1881, 74 Dispatches from Mexico, Nos. 302, 303. 
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by customs officials, who cleared ships bound for Arenas 

coe.stwise, acting under the authority of the Secretary of 
343 

the Trea.sury. 

The Secretary of State replied that Mexico claimed 

jurisdiction over Arenas Key, and regarded Ada.ms and his 

employees as trespassors on the property of Mexico, and 

concluded that: 

11 This Department has not been able to reach 
the conclusion that the isl~nd was, if at all, 
sufficiently derelict to warrant a. demand 
of reparations from that Government." 344 

In answer to a second demand for protection by Wallis's 
345 

attorney, Secretary Bayard, in 1885, quoted Secretary 

Frelinghuysen I s letter in answer to Adams'·s protest, and 

added that there was 11 no new fa.ct which would justify my 

departure from the conclusion of my predecessor in this 
346 

respect." 

d, The claim of Mexico to The Triangles, Ala.crans Keys, 
and A,:enas Key. 

In 1882 the Secretary of State wrote the Mexican Minister 

to the United States about the expulsion of the Americans 

from 

343 Wm. L. Adams to Hon. J. H. Bre•er, June 21, 1882; do. to 
J. G. Blaine, Sec. of State, Oct. 31, 1881, 2 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano, m;:enas. 

344 F. Frelinghuysen to Hon. J. H. Brewer, June 15, 1882, 142 
MS. Dom. Let. 411. See also Henry O'Oonnor's Report, 
Supra, Note 334. 

345 B. F. Fisher to Frelinghuysen, Sec. of State, June 30, 
1884, 2 Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Arenas; do. to do., Jan. 28, 
1885, Ibid. 

346 T. F. Bayard, Sec. of State, to Hon. J. B. Everhart, 
Mar. 10, 1885, 154 MS. Dom. Let. 421. 
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from Arenas key in October 1881, and enclosed the Depart­

ment's letter to Honorable J. H. Brewer rejecting Adams's 

claim for damages on the ground that the island was cla..imed 

by Mexico and was not sufficiently derelict to warrant such 
347 

a claim. In 1885 the Mexican Minister called the Secre-

tary of State's attention to the action of the American 

schooner SARAH E. KENNEDY which he said had removed guano 
348 

from Arenas key, and violated Mexican territory. In a 

second note the llexioan Minister remarked that the TreRsury 

Department included Arenas in the list of islands appertain­

ing to the United States under the Guano Act, recalled the 

secretary of Sta.te I s letter to the Mexican Government in 

1882, notifying Mexico of the rejection of Adams's claim, 

and suggested that the Treasury Department be informed of 
349 

the State Department's position. Subsequently, the 

llexican Minister requested that Arenas Island be stricken 

from the Treasury list of guano islands appertaining to 

the United states, and that the bond filed with the Treasury 

Depa.rtment and bearing the formal approval of the State 

Department be cancelled in order to facilitate the success 

of 

347 F~ Frelinghuysen, sec. of State, to M. Romero, Mex. Yin. 
to u. s., June 29, 1882, 8 Notes to Mex. Leg•n 343; 
supra, Note 343. 

348 Y. Romero, Mex. Min. to U. s. To T. F. Bayard, Seo. of 
State, Oct. 19, 1885, 35 MS. Notes from Mexico. 

349 do. to do., Dec. 10, 1885, Ibid. 
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of a proposed suit by the Government of Mexico in the ootll'ts 
350 

of the United States agaimtthe SARAH E. KENNEDY. The 

State Department replied that it could not intervene in a 
351 

judicial action of this sort. The Mexican Minister answered . 

reiterating the claim of Mexican sovereignty over the island, 

because of its proximity to the coast of Yucatan and repeated 

acts of jurisdiction over the island by the Mexican Govern­

ment, and said that the suit had been abandoned and that he 

only wished that the island to be stricken from the list in 
352 

order to avoid any internationa.l complications. 

The State Department refused to admit Mexican sovereignty 

over Arenas, and said that its letter of 1882, regarding the 

claim of Adams II does not assert the proprietorship of the 

United States, over that island, or renounce it, yet it 

certainly does not affirm that the title thereto rests in 

the Government of Mexico." The Department, however, promised 

to notify the secretary of the Treasury of the Mexican Govern­

ment's position, so that the Treasury Department could adopt 

the 

350 Do. to do., Deo. 14, 1885, Ibid. 

351 J. D. Porter, Ass. Sec., toll. Romero, Mex. Yin. to u. s., 
Jan. 18, 1886, 9 MS. Notes to Mexico 144; See F. Wharton, 
Solicitor, Dec. aa, 1888, Vol. 18 Op. and Rep. 148. 

352 M. Romero, Mex. Min. to U. s., to T. F. Bayard, Sec. of 
State, Jan. 19, 1886, 35 MS. Notes from Mexico. 
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the course it thought best regarding the omission of Arena.a 
353 

from list. Accordingly the Treasury Department was 
364 

notified. Moreover, the various claimants to the island 

were requested to furnish the Department with any evidence 

they might have that, at the time of the alleged discovery 

of guano, the island was not within the lawful jurisdiction 
355 

of any Government. 

In January and February, 1886, there wa.s further cor­

respondence between the State Department a.nd the l!exican 

Minister on this subject, and Mexico submitted voluminous 

proofs that it had performed speoific acts of jurisdiction 

over Arenas prior to Wallis's 11 d1scovery 11 in 1880, and prior 

to Jennett•s in 1867. These proofs included: evidence that 

a Spaniard in 1804 formally took possession of the island 

and established an observatory there; vaxious laws and 

treaties of Mexico which mentioned or dealt with the islands 

along the coast on the Campeche Bank; and evidence of con­

tracts and concessions to remove guano from Arenas granted 
356 

by the Mexican Government. Again, in Ha.rah, 1887, 

additional 

353 A. A. Adee, Acting sec., to ii. Romero, Rex. Min. to 
u. s., Jan~ 30, 1886, 9 MS. Notes to Mex. 152. 

354 A. A. Adee, Acting Sec., to Daniel Manning, sec. of 
Treas., Jan. 30, 1886, 158 MS. Dom. Let. 597. 

355 T. F. Bayard, Sec. of State, to B. F. Fisher, to L. u. 
Simpson, and to J. G. Wallis, Feb. 26, 1886, 159 KS. 

50:!i 

Dorn. Let. 173. See also T. F. Bayard, Sec. of State, to 
D. Manning, Sec. of Treas., June 30, 1886, 160 Dom. Let. 616 

356 M. Romero, l!ex. Min. to u. S., to T. F. Bayard, Sec. of 
State, Jan. 30, 1886, 35 l!S. Notes from Mex.; do. to do. 
Feb. 1, 1886, Ibid; do. to do., Feb. 27, 1886, Ibid; do. 
to do. Ap. 23, 1886, Ibid; do. to do., June 21, 1886, and 
enclosures, Ibid. See also T. F. Ba.yard, Sec. of Sta.te, 
to M. Romero, Mex. Min. to u. s., Feb. 26, 1886, 9 MS. 
Notes to Mex. 163 



-129-

additional evidence, in the form of a printed pamphlet on 
357 

the history of Arenas Key, was submitted by Mexico. 

The matter rested until 1894, when the Mexican Minister 

formally requested that the islands "Oayo Arenas, Aren~s, 

Triangulos, Pa.jaros, Perez, and Chico in the .Archipelago 

of Ala.crans 11 be stricken from the Treasury list. Thia 

was apparently the first time that the Mexican Government 

protested against the .American claims to the three Alacrans 

islands. He enclosed a letter from the Mexican Minister of 

Foreign Relations, giving the history of Arenas key and its 

occupation by Mexico since the early nineteenth century; 

quoting the award of the King of Spain in the Aves Island 

arbitration betwe·en Venezuela and the Netherlands; and 

noting a request made by the United States in 1891, that 

Mexico permit an .American. fishing company to use Arenas 
358 

harbor. Upon receipt of this note, the State Department 

requested the Treasury Department to state upon what data 
359 

the Treasury's list of islands was based. The Comptroller 

replied that the 11st in question was compiled "from bonds on 

file in the Office of the First Comptroller of the Treasury, 

September 16, 

357 k. Romero, Mex. Min. to U. S. to T. F. Bayard, Sec. of 
State, Mar. 4, 1887, 36 MS. Mexico, Notes from. 

358 Y. Romero, Mex. Min. to u. s. to Gresham, Sec. of State, 
Oct. 1, 1894, and enclosures; 43 Notes from Mexican 
Legation; a MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Arenas (translationsl 

359 Ubl, Acting Sec., to Sec. of Treas., Oct. 3, 1894, 199 
MS. Dom. Let. 49. 
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360 
September 16, 1893." The Secretary of State then notified 

the Mexican Minister as follows: 

"· •• it is not necessary for me to express any 
opinion whether these islands have heretofore 
belonged, or do now belong to Mexico. A care­
ful search of the records of the Department 
fails to show that the President of the United 
States ever declared that they should be 
•considered a.a appertaining to the United 
States.' 

11 I have, therefore, requested the 
secretary of the Treasury to have them 
stricken from the list of guano islands 
appertaining to the United States, and he 
has promised to take action accordingly." 361 

In the letter to the Secretary of the Treasury the 

secretary of State said: 

11 A careful search of the files of this 
Department has been made for the purpose of 
ascertaining whether or not the President, in 
pursuance of the discretion vested in him by 
Section 5570 of the Revised Statutes, ever 
declared that these islands should 1be considered 
as appertaining to the United States.• No evi­
dence can be fotmd of such a declaration. 
Neither can there be found in this Department 
any explanation of the approval of such bonds. 
Their approval cannot, I think, be considered 
as an exercise of the President's discretion 
••• , although your Department was naturally 
lead by the circumstance of finding the bonds 
on file, to including the islands in the list 
mentioned. 

11 The Mexican Government insists that the 
islands are within its territory and lawful 

jurisdiction, 

360 Acting''sec. of Treas.', to Sec. of Stat'e, and enclosure, 
Oct. 12, 1894, Part I US. Miscl. Let. Oct. 1894. 

361 Uhl, Acting Sec., to M. Romero, Mex. Min. to u. s., 
Nov. 27, 1894, 10 MS. Notes to Mexico 89. 
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jurisdiction, and that under the terms of 
Section 5570, they never could have been 'con­
sidered as appertaining to the United States. 1 

However this may be, it seems safe to say that 
they never have been eo •considered• within the 
meaning of that Section. 

11 • • • [Olaiman ts interested] • • • a.re 
unable to produce any evidence showing that 
as to such islands the President has ever ex­
ercised the discretion vested in him by the guano 
islands Act. 

11 I have therefore to request that the 
islands 

viz: Arenas, Perez, Chica, Pejoras, 
and the Western Triangles, as well as Arenas 
Key, ~Y be stricken from the list of guano 
islands appertaining to the United States. 11 362 

Accordingly, this was ordered by a Circular sent to Collectors 
363 

of Customs, November 21, 1894. 

Altl1ough the State Department refused to admit specifi­

cally to •exioo thRt Mexico had a title to either Arenas key 

or to any of the other keys mentioned above, it is evident 

that Mexico's claim to jurisdiction was regarded a.a sufficient 

to defeat the claim of the United States under the Guano Act. 

In 1890, before the islands were stricken from the list, the 

State Department informed an interested American that it was 

"unable to controvert" Kexico•s claim, after the documents 

showing 

362 W. Gresham, Sec. of State, to Sec. of Treas., Nov. 17, 
1894, 199 MS. Dom. Let. 437. 

363 Treasury Dept. Circular, Nov. 21, 1894, 2 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano, Arenas. 
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showing Mexico' s title" were submitted in 1886, and that 

11 since that time the Government of the United States bas 

practically acquiesced in the Mexican claim of jurisdic-
364 

tion." Later, in 1901, the Department said: 

11 Satisfac,tory evidence having been produced by 
the Government of Kexioo to show that at the 
time of, and previous to, the alleged discovery 
by James w. Jennett ••• the Alacrans group 
was in the lawful jurisdiction and possession 
of that Government, it was stricken from the 
11 st of guano i eland a • • .• 11 3 65 

In 1902, in a letter to an assignee of Jennett•s, enclosing 

the Mexican Minister's note of October 1, 1904, the Depart-

ment said: . f 

5nr 

"It is apparent that it was not considered \ 
that satisfactory evidence had been furnished 
to the Department that the island (Arenas] was not, 
at the time of the alleged discovery thereof, within 
the lawful jurtsdiotion of any other Government. 
It was never declared by the President that it 
should 1be considered as appertaining to the United 
States.• 11 366 

Again in 1926, and in 1928, the Department stated that 

Mexico had produced sa.tisf ~,ctory proof that Alacrans was 

within that Goverrunen t• s jurisdiction, and II accordingly" 
367 

it was stricken from the Treasury's list. 

The 

364 Wm. Wharton, Aes. ' Sec., to T~ P. Brewer, Mar. 22, IS9cr, 
177 Ks. Dom. Let. 243. 

365 John Hay, Seo. of State, to J.B. Altman, Ap. 12, 1901, 
252 MS. Dom. Let. 137; See also T. w. Oridler, 3rd Ass. 
Sec., to G. W. Hawley, June 28, 1900, 246 Ibid 158. 

366 David J. Hill, Acting Sec., to F. T. McGuire, Ap. 14, 
1902, 258 Ibid 596. 

367 L. Harrison, Ass. Sec., to McDonough and McDonough, 
Feb. 5, 1926 (811.0141 C 19/18); F. B. Kellogg, Sec. of 
state, to Senator Edge, Jan. 31, 1928 (811.0141 C 19/28). 
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The Mexican Government now maintains lights on Western 
368 . 

Triangle, Arenas, and Perez Keys. It is reported that 

a concession to work the guano on Arenas Key has been 

granted by the Mexican Government. Moreover, there are 
3~ 

two houses and a small wharf on this Key, and temporary 

fishermen's huts may sometimes be seen on Perez Island. 

368 A Handbook of Mexico, British Admiralty (London, 1920), 
pp. 205, 206. 

369 Supra, Note 329. 
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370 
Assignments 

1. James w. Jennett -to Charles o. Lightenhome, 

January 1, 1880, mortgage on Western Tr.langle. 

Charles o. Lightenhome to John Olburn, Februa.ry 23, 

1880, same interest. 

a. J. w. Jennett to the Aves Guano Company, 
371 

May 29, 1880, guano on Western Triangle (the other 

two Triangles 11 having been previously conveyed to 
372 

Chambers Brothers of New York") This deed wa.s to 

be void on certain conditions. 

3. J. W. Jennett to Arthur Brash, October 6, 

1890, guano on the northern half of Eastern Triangle. 

J. W. Jennett to Arthur Brash, October 25, 1890, 

guano on the south half of Eastern Triangle. 

J. W. Jennett to Arthur Brash, December 18, 1890, 

guano on Western Triangle. 

5 (J [J 

370 Unfess othe».wise noted, assignments filed in 6 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano, Triangles, 

371 Ibid, Seranilla. 

372 The lease of Triangle, Areas, and Alacrans Keys from 
J. w. Jennett to Chambers Brothers, January 10, 1880, 
was not recorded in the State Department. A copy of it 
was sent to the Department on December 12, 1892, but 
was returned because it was not authenticated. see 
Wm. Wharton, Ass. Sec., to H.F. S. Chambers, Dec. 7, 
Dec. 10, and Dec. 16, 1892, 189 MS. Dom. Let. 369, 404, 
446. 
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l. J. W. Jennett to Edward Steele, October 15, 

1883, Guano on Alacrans keys: Perez, Chica, and 

Paja.ros Islands {and North Key of Serrana). 

Edward Steele to James s. Rogers, May 1, 1884, same 

interest. 

James s. Rogers to the South American Bird Guano 

Company, May 31, 1884, same interest. 

r:-J no 
\ _ '( ' " ~ 

James s. Rogers to John L. Piper, November 4, 1887, same 

interest {the deed to the South American Bird Guano 

Company being cancelled because of the Company's 

failure to give the consideration). 

a. Guano on, Pa_jora.s !Pajaros) Island. 

J. w. Jennett to John H. Hall, July 10, 1890. 

John H. Hall to Arthur Brash, August 13, 1890. 

John H. Hall to Arthur Brash, March 21, 1891 

{deed of release). 

3. J. W. Jennett to Arthur Bra.sh, December 22, 

1890, guano on Placoa Island, Alacra..ns bank. 

J. w. Jennett to Arthur Brash, December 24, 1890, 

guano on Baraderos Island, Alacra.ns bank {deed of re­

lease). {The state Department notified Arthur Brash 

that 

373 Unless otherwise noted, assignments filed in I MS. Misci'. 
Let. Re Guano, Alacrans. 
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that there was no record of any discovery of guano 

on these Islands by Jennett, and that they were not 

listed either under Alacra.ns or under their own 
374 

names.) 

1890. 

1892. 

4. Guano on Chica Island. 

J. W. Jennett to Jerome B. Graybill, July 23, 

Jerome B. Graybill to J. H. Wilbur, December 1, 

J. Mason Kirby, Agent for Jerome B. Graybill, 
375 

to John B. Altmann, August 3, 1892. 

5. Guano on Perez Island. 

J. W. Jennett to J. H. Lancaster, December 11, 

1890. 

J. H. Lancaster to Cha.rles E. Wellborn, April 20, 

1899, guano on Alacrana and adjoining keys (and on 
376 

Ronca.dor). 

374 Wm. Wharton, Acting Sec., to Arthur Brash, Oct. 21, 1891, 
183 MS. Dom. Let. 600; do. to do., Nov. 23, 1891, 184 
Ibid 193. 

375 Altman notified the Department that Wilbur held in trust 
for him, J. B. Altman to Dept. of State, June 20, 1960, 
I MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Alacra.ns. See T. W. Cridler, 
Ass. Sec., to J. Altman, Aug. 8, 1899, 239 MS. Dom. Let. 
197. 

376 Copy enclosed: Senator Edge to Kellogg, Sec. of State, 
Jan. 31, 1928 (811.0141 C 19/25). 
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Assig~ents under Jennett•s Claim of Discovery. 

1. J. W. Jennett to Thomas A. Mitchell, May 10, 

1869, guano on .Arenas key (also on Serranilla, and 
378 

.Mora.nt keys). 

Thomas M. Mitchell to John a. Wilson, trustee, 
379 

November 22, 1876, same interest. 

John o. Wilson, trustee, to the Caribbean Gua.no 
380 

Company, November a2, 1876, same interest. 

The Oa.ri bbean Islands Guano Company to William L. 
381 

Van Derlip, August 21, 1879, same interest. 

Thomas A. M1tchell to William Van Derlip, Septem-
382 

ber ao, 1879, same interest (deed of release). 

William Van Derlip to Sarah A. Van Derlip and 

George w. Ballock, trustee, August 25, 1879, guano on 

.Arenas key. 

George w. Ballock, trustee, to the west India 

Guano Company, August 27, 1879, same interest. 

The West India Guano Company to the Union Trust 

Company of New York, September 1, 1879, same interest 

.( deed 

51) 

377 ·unless oth
1

erwise noted, assignments filed in 2 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano, Arenas. 

378 6 Ibid, Serranilla. 
379 5 Ibid, Morant. 
380 Ibid. 
381 6 Ibid, Serranilla. 
382 Ibid. 
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(deed of trust, security for $1,000.00 bond issue). 

2. J. w. Jennett to Pascal A. Quinan, .Septem­

ber 9, 1878, 1/4 of his interest in guano on Arenas 

Island. 

3. J. w. Jennett to Michael Hooper, Maybury G. 

Kraft, and John M. Henneman, November 6, 1878, 3/4 of 

his interest in guano on Arenas Island. 

4. J. W. Jennett to Jerome B. Graybi 11, Octo­

ber 21, 1890, guano on Arenas Island (deed of release). 

Jerome B. Graybill to John F. McGuire, May 23, 

1893, guano on Arenas Island (Quitclaim deed of all 

the interest he may have received through Jennett). 

Assignments tmder Wallis's claim of discover~. 

1. John G. Wallis to Pascal A. Qui nan, Fe bru­

axy 27, (24?), 1880, 1/2 of the interest which he has 
383 

or may acquire in guano on Arenas key. 

r::: 1 ') ;J .. ,...i 

Pascal A. Quinan to Sydney Long, September 6, 1879, 

1/2 of his present interest and interest that he might 

acquire, in guano on Arenas keys (also 1/4 interest in 
384 

Arc as keys). 

2. John G. Wallis and Pascal A. Quina.n to George c. 
Harrison, April 3, 1880, 1/2 the guano on Arenas key, 

( agreement 

383 Note Jennett•s deed to Quinan (supra) of Sept. 9, 1878, 
of 1/4 of hie interest in guano on Arenas Island. 

384 I MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Areas. 
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(agreement to convey on certain conditions being per­

formed). 

Pascal A. Quinan, John G. Wallis, and George 

Harrison to William Adams, May 7, 1881, twenty-year 
385 

lease of Arenas Island or key. 

4. Pascal A. Quinan to Henry Hexper, January 7, 

1885, agreement to convey Arenas Island (and Areas 

Island) on the performance of certain conditions. 

Pascal A. Quinan to Henry Harper, January 21, 

1885, guano on Arenas keys (quitclaim deed). 

Henry Harper to Guy W. Hawley, March 9, 1885, 

authorization to remove a certain amount of guano 

from Arenas Island in one year. 

385 Ibid. 
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2. ARCAS KEYS 

a. Geography 

The three Areas Keys a.re about eleven miles within the 

southern edge of the Campeche Bank in the Gulf of Mexico, 

on the western side of the Yucatan Penninsula. Middle 

Key (or Centro Cay), at latitude 20° 13' N., longitude 

91° 58' w., is about 1200 by 400 yards squa.re, and is com­

posed mainly of sand, which rises at the south end to a 

hill about 21 feet high, covered with grass and bushes. 

There are two lights on this Key maintained by the Govern-
386 

ment of Mexico, and some wooden dwellings. East Key, com-

posed of broken coral, rises from a detached reef about 

600 yards southeast of Middle Key. It is about 400 by 200 

yards sqQ~re and 10 feet high. W8 st Key, 1600 yards west 

of Middle Key Light, is a small islet composed of broken 

coral, about six feet high, with a pole beacon on it. There 

is a possible anchorage off the Keys on the west side between 
387 

north and west reefs. 

b. United States Claim under the Guano Act. 

On May 14, 1879, Pascal A. Quinan filed a notice of 

his discovery of guano on Areas Keya, and alleged thl't t he 

took 

386 British Admira]jy, A Handbook of Mexico ( Lond
0

on, 1920), 
p. 206. 

387 Central America and Mexico Pilot (1927) H. o. 130, pp. 
322 - 323. 
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took possession of them, and that they were unhabited and 

not within the lawful jurisdiction of any foreign govern-
388 

ment. On August 26, 1879, Quinan filed a memorial in 

51:.; 

which he alleged that the discovery of guano on the three 

Areas Keys was made in December, 1878; that the Keys contained 

about 150,000 tons of guano, and requested that they be con­

sidered as a~pertaining to the United States, and that his 

interest in them be recognized under the Guano Act of 1856, 

upon his furnishing further evidence that they were not 
389 

within the jurisdiction of any other country. On 

· April 19, 1880, additional evidence of Quinan's possession 

of Areas Keys was forwarded to the Department, including: 

an affidavit by Q,uinan, dated April 16, 1880, in which he 

al~eged that on January 12, 1880, he landed on North Key 

of the Areas group with Captain Bunker of the schooner 

EBON H. KING, John G. Wallis, and a number of laborers, and 

started shipping guano; and affidavits of Captain Bunker, 

dated Februa.ry 27., 1880, and John G. Wallis, dated March 20, 
390 

1880, to the same effect. On June 8, 1880, Quinan's 

attorneys requested f a.vorable action by the State Depart-
391 

ment on this claim. 
On 

388 Pascal A. Quinan to Wm. Evarts,' Sec •·
1 

'of State, May 14, 
1879, I MS. Miscl. Let Re Guano, Areas. 

389 Sidney c. Long to Wm. Evarts, Sec. of State, Aug. 26, 
1879, and enclosures, Ibid. 

390 Shellborn and Wilson to the Sec. of State, Ap. 19, 1880, 
and enclosures, Ibid. 

391 Do. to do., June 8, 1880, Ibid. 
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On September 3, 1879, James W. Jennett filed a 

notice of his discovery of guano on Areas Islands and 

inclosed: his sworn statement, dated September 1, 1879, 

that he discovered guano on the three Keys (named North­

east, Southeast, and Little), on February 20, 1879, and 

that he first visited them in 1860, and revisted them in 1867, 

1869, 1875, and finally 1879, when he was on the schooner 

MARY :M...ATILDA; and an affidavit of two seamen (Lowe a.nd Lynch) 

of the MARY MATILDA, dated September 1, 1879, supporting 
392 

Jennett•s allegations. On September 27, 1879, Jennett 

wrote the State D8 partment that Quinan's claim was fraudu­

lent, that Quinan had never been south of Cape Hatteras, and 
393 

had obtained all his information on Areas Keys from Jennetto 

A third declaration of discovery of guano on Areas Keys 

was filed on March 10, 1898. This is not a formal notice of 

discovery, but is merely a declaration in a deed, dated May 18, 

1893, in which Captain Alfred J. May, the alleged discoverer, 

made an assignment of part of his interest in Areas Keys, 

and stated: that he found guano on the Keys; that they were 

wholly uninhabited and abandoned; that he took possession 

of them in the name of the United States, and left two 

American 

392 J. w. Jennett to Wm. Evarts, sec. of State, Sept. 3, 
1879, and enclosures, Ibid. 

393 Do. to do., Sept. 27, 1879, Ibid. 
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American citizens in possession of the Keys two months 
. 394 

ago (presumably two months before May 18, 1893). 

It does not appear that any of these claims were 

ever recognized by the United States. No bond for Arca.a 

Keys was ever filed, and they do not appear on any of 
395 

the lists compiled by the Treasury Department. On 

May 6, 1880, Judge O'Connor the Examiner of Claims, con­

sidered Quinan•s cla.im and concluded as follows: 

"There is no opposing claimant, and no 
protest from any other Government. 

"The only question for the Secretary's deter­
mina.tion is whether from the proximity of the isl­
and to Mexico it is to be considered per se depend­
ency of tha.t Republic. It is more remote from Mex­
ico than the Island of Navassa is from Haiti, and 
if I had to pass on the question I would say that 
Quinan has made out a prima facia case under the 
provisions of Title 72 of the Revised Statutes." 396 

There is no evidence, however, that the Department took 

any action pursuant to this opinion. Both before and 

after the date of that opinion, the Department sta.ted 

to persons interested that there were conflicting claims 

of 

394 Chas. F. Estwick to the Chief Clerk, Mar. 10, 1898, 
and enclosed deed of assignment, Capt. May to The 
Gulf Commercial Co., May 18, 1893, Ibid. 

395 See 6 Ibid, Miscl; I Moore 1 e Digest, 567. 

396 Henry O'Connor, Examiner of Claims, May 6, 1880, I 
Ibid, Areas; Vol. 14, Op. and Rep. p. 12. (He also 
advised that a bond of $5,000 would be sufficient 
for Areas Keys.) 
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397 
of discovery. On July 23, 1887, the State Department 

said: 

"· •• no controversy has, as yet arisen between 
this Government and that of Mexico with regard 
to deposits of guano on the Areas Keys. So far, 
only, two American citizens have filed in this 
Department declarations of discovery of guano 
deposits in these Keys, viz: James W. Jennett 
and Pascal A. Q.uinan. 11 398 

On June 6, 1892, the Senate passed a resolution calling 

for a report from the Secretary of State in regard to the 

guano deposits on :Arcas Keys, and, accordingly, the correspon-
399 

dence on file was transmitted to the Senate on July 25, 1892. 

Apparently no action was taken, however. In 1897, the Depart­

ment wrote th~t the status of Areas Keys remained as shown 

by the correspondence submitted to the Senate, and ::. that no 
400 

assignments bad been filed since that time. 

c. The Claim of Mexico. 

On Jtm.e 20, 1899, the State Department requested the 

American Ambassador to Mexico to ascertain "discreetly and 

unofficially" whether the Mexican Government claimed Areas 
401 

Keys. The Mexican Foreign Minister replied, enclosing 

a 
397 see John Hay, Ass. sec., to J. G. Wallis, Dec. 11, 1879, 

131 MS. Dom. Let. 7; J. D. Porter, Ass. Seo., to Thos. W. 
Buckley, Feb. 5, 1886, 158 Ibid, 651. see also Wm. Evart~ 
sec. of state, to Sydney Long, July 10, 1879, 129 Ibid,44. 

398 J. D. Porter, Ass. Sec., to O. M. Shelley, July 23, 1887, 
164 Ibid, 67'7. 

399 s. Ex. Doc. No. 151, 52 Cong. 1 Sess. 
400 Wm. R. Day, Ass. Sec., to Hon. H. D. Mouey, Sept. 27, 1897, 

221 MS. Dom. Let. 208. 
401 John Hay, sec. of State, to Powell Clayton, U. s. Amb. to 

Mexico, June 20, 1899, 25 MS. Instru~tions, Mexico, p. 35, 
No. 1510 
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a pamphlet on the subject of Mexican sovereignty over 

Arenas, and a digest of the United States - Mexican 

correspondence of 1885, 1886, and 1894, regarding Arenas 

Key, and stated: that Areas was nearer to the Mexican 

shore than Arenas, that he considered them part of the 

Arenas group, and II that they are claimed by the Mexican 
402 

Government. 11 Accordingly, interested American citi-
403 

zena were informed that Mexico did claim Areas Keys. 

The following year, Mr. Cridler, Assistant Secretary, 

wrote as follows: 

11 I have examined the records of this Depart­
ment and find that the Government of Mexico claims 
ownership of the Areas Cays as being part of the 
Arenas Group ••• 

11 I cannot find that the Department ever ma.de 
any representations to the Mexican Government on 
the subject of the Areas Cays. It cannot there­
fore be said that this Government has either 
recognized or disputed the Mexican claim." 404 

In April, 1904, Dr. W. G. Hague telegraphed the Depart­

ment, referring to Senate Executive Document 151 which he 

said "recognizes .American ci tizens 11 rights to guano deposits 

on Areas Cays, 11 and continuing as follows: 

"Mexican 

402 Powell Clayton, U. s. Amb. to Mexico, to sec. of State, 
July 22, 1899, and enclosures, 141 MS. Dispatches, 
Mexico, No. 240. 

403 A. A. Adee, Acting sec., to Hon. Horace Chilton, Aug. ~ 
1899, 239 MS. Dom. Let. 78. 

404 Thoe. W. Cridler, Ass. Sec., to Hon. J. H. Southard, 
Feb. 26, 1900, 243 Ibid 226. 
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"Mexican Consul New Orleans states Mexico has 
rented this island ••• United States owners ure­
pP~ed to work island. Do we have United States 
protection? Mexican Ambassador today claims island. 
Can we now lea.ve New Orleans with American ship and 
bring in cargo? 11 405 

The Department replied: 

"Areas Cays are claimed by Mexico and do not 
appear on list of guano islands appertaining to the 
United states bonded under the Guano Acts. 11 406 

407 
The Department reiterated the latter statement in 1913. 

405 Dr. W. G. Hague to John Hay, Sec. of State, Ap. 20, 
1904, telegram I MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Areas. 

406 F. B. Loomis, Acting Seo., to Dr. W. G. Hague, Ap. 21, 
1904, telegram, 274 MS. Dom. Let. 667. 

407 J.B. Moore, Counselor, to M. F. Marx, July 16, 1913, 
(811.0141 Ar/4, 7); See also 811.0141 Ar/1, 4; 
s11. 0141 se 6/5. 
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408 
ASSIGNMENTS OF GUANO ON ARCAS KEYS 

I. Assignments by Qui nan. 

'/ 

521 

1. Pascal A. Quinan to Sydney C. Long, Septem­

ber 6, 1879, 1/4 of his interest in Areas Keys (and 1/2 

in interest in Arenas Key). 

Sydney c . . Long to George B. Starkweather, Decem­

ber 12, 1887, 1/4 interest in Areas Keys. 

2. Pascal A. Quina.n, John G. Wallis, and George c. 

Harrison to William Adams, May 7, 1881, a twenty-year 

lease of the Areas Keys with mining privileges (also 

Arenas Key). 

3. Pascal A. Quinan to Phillip M. Snowden, 

October 13, 1884, 3/4 interest in guano on Arca,s Keys 

(also all interest in three Seranilla Keys). 

4. Pascal A. Quinan to Henry Harper, January 7, 

1885, agreement to convey Areas Keys ( and Arenas Key) 

on certain conditions. 

II. Assignments under Snowden. 

1. Richard Contee and Williams. Odell, trustees, 

and Phillip M. Snowden, February 24, 1887, agreement to 

purchase 1/2 Snowden's interest in Areas Keys on certain 

conditions. 

a. 
408 Unless otherwise noted, assignments filed under I MS. 

Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Areas. 



-148-

2. Phillip M. Snowden to John c. Parcel and John 

Silvers, Februaxy 4, 1887, agreement to sell 1/2 interest 

in Areas Keys on certain conditions. 

3. John C. Parcel and John Silvers, February 4, 

1887, agreement by Silvers to release his interest in 

Areas Keys to Parcel on certain conditions. 

4. Phillip N. Snowden to Sayles J. Bowen and John 

Parcel, May 7, 1887, 1/8 interest in Areas Keys. 

5. f3a.yl€·s J. Bowen and John Parcel to George B. 

Starkweather, September 27, 1887, 1/16 interest in 

Areas Keys. 

6. George B. Starkweather to John Parcel and 

John Silvers, December 31, 1887, agreement to sell 

1/4 interest in Areas Keys on certain conditions. 

7. Sayles J. Bowen to John c. Parcel January 18, 

1888, 1/16 interest in Areas Keys on condition that 

Parcel pay Bowen's promissory notes to Snowden. 

8. John Silvers to John C. Parcel, January 21, 

1889, 1/16 interest in Areas Keys as security for a 

debt. Deed to be void if Silvers pays debt to Parcel. 

9. John C. Pe.reel to Joseph R. Fagan, Februa.ry 8, 

1889, 1/64 interest in Areas Keys. Vendor's lien for 

$153 reserved. 

10. Phillip 
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10. Phillip M. Snowden to John Taylor, May 29, 

1891, 5/8 interest in Areas Keys. 

11. Mary Parcel, widow of John Pa.rcei, and Bruce 

Parcel, his son (Parcel• s sole heirs and lega.tees) to 

Joseph R. Fagan, July 1, 1891, 1/64 interest in Areas 

Keys. 

12. John c. Parcel to Willia,m F. Geyer, Febru-
409 

ary 13, 1889, 1/64 interest in Areas Keys. 

13. William F. Geyer to Robert R. Roberts, 
410 

June 29, 1897, 1/64 interest in Areas Keys. 

14. Robert R. Roberts to Robert D. Ruffin, 

December 12, 1899, all his interest in Arca.s Keys 
411 

( and serranilla). 
412 

15. Robert R. Roberts (by J. G. Wilson, Attorney), 

to Spencer Stillwell and Co., April 14, 1904, 90 day 

option to purchase Areas Keys, with right to import 

guano therefrom duxing that period. 

16. J. G. Wilson, Attorney for QuinP..n's property, 

to Spencer Stillwell and Co., July 20, 1904, agreement 

to sea.I Arc.as~ Keys ( also Serranilla and certain Pacific 
413 

Islands) on certain conditions. 

409 6 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, serranilla. 
410 Ibid. 
411 Ibid. 

17. Robert 

412 Power of Attorney to seil.l Areas and SerraniJ.la Keys 
given J. G. Wilson by R. R. Roberts, Februa:ry 9, 
1904, Ibid. 

413 Ibid. 
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17. Robert R. Roberts (by J. G. Wilson, Attorney) 

to E. B. Southworth, September 21, 1905, agreement to 
414 

sell all his interest in Areas Keys (and Serranilla). 

18. Robert R. Roberts to Edwin Christy, Octo-

ber 11, 1905, all his interest in Areas Keys (end 
415 

Serre,nilla). 

19. Edwin Christy to the Atlantic and Pacific Guano 
416 

Co., October 17, 1905, sa.me interest. 

20. Atlantic and Pacific Guano Co. to the Tra.des­

man' s Trust Co. of Philadelphia, October 17, 1905, 

deed of trust as security for bond issue. (Deed signed 

for the Company by James Brady, President, and Edwin 

Christy, Secretary.) 

III. Assignments under Ruffin. 

1. Robert D. Ruffin to William H. Parsons, 

August 15, 1904, all his interest in Areas Keys (and 
417 

Serranilla). 

2. William H. Parsons to Robert D. Ruffin, April 6, 

1905, all his interest in Areas Keys. 

3. Robert D. Ruffin to E. B. Southworth, trustee, 

September 19, 1905, agreement to convey .Areas Keys (and 

Serranilla). 

414 
415 
416 
417 

Ibid. 
Ibid. 
Ibid. 
Ibid. 

"' 

4. Robert 
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4. Robert D. Ruffin to the Atlantic and Pacific 

Guano Company, October 11, 1905, gua.no on Areas Keys 

(and Serranilla). Agreement by the company to recovery 

on certain conditions. 

5. Robert D. Ruffin and the Atlantic and Pacific 

Guano Co., Oct. 14, 1905, agreement to deliver deed to 

Areas Keys (and Serranilla) on certain conditions. 

s. Captain Alfred May to the Gulf Commercial 

Co. of New Jersey, May 18, 1893, conveyance of 3 1/2 

undivided fifths of all his right, title and interest 

in Areas Keys. 
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3. GREAT ISLAND 

a. Geogra.phy. 

Great Island is on the Chinchorro bank in the Bay of 

Honduras, 14 miles off the east coast of the Yucatan 

Peninsula.. It is a dangerous ba,nk 24 miles long and 6 1/2 

to 9 1/2 miles wide. sand Key (CRyo Lobos) is 600 yards 

from the southern part of the reef, 1600 yards within the 

bank. It is 100 yaxds long and about 5 feet high, composed 

of sand and coral, with a few cocoanut trees on it. Great 

Key, in the middle of the la.goon, about a miles from the 

eastern edge of the bank, is a low ledge of sand about 

2 1/2 miles long. It is covered with mangrove, button­

wood, and cocoanut trees, 30 to 40 feet high, mid encloses 

a salt water lagoon about a mile long. North Keys, two 

low narrow islands close together, axe about 1600 yards 

long, and are 1 3/4 of a mile within the northern edge of 

the bank. There is a light on the northernmost of the two 
418 

N 0 rth Keys, at latitude 180 46' N •' , , longitude 8'710 19' W. 

b. United states Claim under the Guano Act. 

On January 8, 1887, Jamee w. Jennett filed a notice 

of discovery of guano on Great Island or Key and the two 

North 

418 Centrai America and Mexico Pilot (Wash. 1927) H. o. 
130, pp. 305 - 306. 
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North Keys on Chinchorro bank. This notice, which wa.s 

dated December 23, 1886, is supported by affidavits of 
419 

the sa.me date which, however, relate only to Great Island. 

The Department acknowledged the receipt of these documents 

and, as requested, returned to Jennett a duly authenticated 
420 

copy of the notice. Apparently no other action was 

taken by either Jennett or the Department. An assignment 

was filed, however, dated December 22, 1887, by which 

Jennett assigned and released all his interest in the guano 
421 

on Great Island to the Ohinchorro Phosphate Company. 

The light on Great Island (and also one on Cayo Lobos 

on the sa.me Bank), is maintained by the Government of 
422 

Mexico and there seems to be little doubt that the Island 

is a possession of Mexico. 

419 J. W. Jennett to T. F • . Ba.yard, Sec. of State, Jan. 8, 
1887, and ·enclosure, 3 MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano, 

Gre a.t Is la.nd. 

420 J. D. Porter, Ass. Sec., to James W. Jennett, Jan. 14, 
1887, 162 MS. Dom. Let. 567. 

421 3 MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano, Great Island. 

422 British Admiralty, A Handbook of Mexico (London, 1920), 
p. 203. 
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V. ISLANDS CLAIMED BY HONDURAS AND NICARAGUA 

1. VIVARIO (VIVORILLA) 

a. Geography 

Vi vario key,s ( called Vi vorilla by American c laima-hts) 

are 4 1/2 miles southwest of Grand Becerro key on the 
, 

Miskito bank,about1s miles north of Cape Gracias a Dios in 

the Ca.ribbea.n Sea. and opposite Carataca Lagoon. There 

are several keys in this group, all covered with trees 

and bushes. The north and south keys are 1 3/4 miles 

apart. Grand Vivario key is the southernmost, and a 

crescent-shaped reef extends from it to the northern key. 

A bank extends 8 miles northwest from the north key, and 

various rocks and coral hea.ds are visible above water on 

this bank. There is a possible anchorage west of the reef 
423 

on which the keys are situated. 

b. United states Claim under the Guano Act. 

Two notices of discovery of guano on 11 V1vorilla 11 key 

were filed with the State Department. The location given 

leaves no doubt that 11 Vi vorilla 11 is the same Key as Vi vario. 

The 

~ ' ) [ t_) , . ., . 

424 

423 Central America and Mexico Pilot (1927) H. o. 130, p. 223. 

424 Ibid. See also H. C. Hall, u. s. Min. to Central America, 
to T. F. Bayard, sec. of State, Feb. 23, 1888, 1888 For. 
Rel. Part I, p. 132, No. 779. 
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The first, sent by Prudencio de Murguiondo on August 16, 

1882, alleged that Vivorilla key was discovered by Captain 

Je..mes s. McLeod, Master of the schooner JOHN L. THOMAS, 

and agent of Murguiondo, on June 30, 1882; and that, at the 

same time, guano on certain other keys called The Hobbies, 
425 

in sight of Vivorilla, was also discovered. Affidavits 

of Captain McLeod and Captain Charles Stevens, dated 

August 16, 1882, supPorting these allegations were enclosed 
426 

with the notice of discovery. 

The second notice of discovery was filed by Julius R. 

Schultz on September 14, 1887. He alleged that his dis­

covery of guano on Vivorilla key was made on March 20, 

1886; and that on January 31, 1887, he _took possession of 

the key and had remained in peaceful possession since that 

time. He enclosed affidavits of Captain Hodgson and Cap­

tain Peterson, certified by the United States Consul at 
427 

Bluefields, Nicaragua, in support of his allegations. 

Before any notice of discovery was filed, there is 

evidence that certain American citizens were interested 

in Vivorilla key; for on August 7, 1882, the Secretary of 

the 

425 

426 
427 

P. de Murguiondo to F. Frelinghuysen, Sec. of State, 
Aug. 16, 1882, 6 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Guano, Vivorilla. 
Inclosures, Ibid. 
Notice of Discovery, Julius R. Schultz, sept. 14, 1887, 
and enclosures, Ibid. 
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the Treasury requested the State Department to furnish him 
428 

with inf orma ti on regarding the 11 na ti onali ty11 of Vi vori lla. 

The Department replied that it had no information on this 
429 

subject, and requested Mr. Hall, the United States Min-

ister to Central America, to find out to what country 
430 

Vivorilla belonged. Mr. Hall replied as follows: 

"From its proximity to the coast, being about 
the smne distance therefrom as • • • the Islands 
of Ruatan and Bonaca ••• , there can be little 
doubt that the Cay belongs to Honduras." 431 

Later he enclosed a report by Mr. Burchard, the United States 

Consul at Ruatan, who concluded: 

11 These Cays certainly ought to belong to Hon­
duras, by reason of their proximity to its 
territory, although I am positive that neither 
the Government nor people of this country, with 
the exception of a few Caribs and Moskito 
Indians, have any knowledge of their existence. 11 432 

Mr. Burchard also referred to the British annexation of 

Zapotilla keys, in spite of the protests of Honduras, and 

in spite of the fact that these keys axe much nearer the 

coast of Honduras than Vivorilla, and that Honduras had 
433 

actually exercised jurisdiction over them. On January 25, 

428 

429 

430 

431 

432 

433 

1883, 

Chas. F. Folger:-Sec. of ~reas., to F. F. Frelinghuysen, 
Sec. of State, Aug. 7, 1882, Ibid. 
John Davis, Acting sec., to Chas. F. Folger, Sec. of Treas., 
Aug. 14, 1882, 143 MS. Dom. Let. 335. 
John Da'llis, Acting Sec., to Wm. Henry Hall, U. S. Min. to 
Central America, Aug. 14, 1882, 18 MS. Instructions, 
Central America, 257, No. 6. 
Henry Hall, U. S. Min. to Central America, to John Davis, 
Acting Sec., Sept. 11, 1882, 19 MS. Dispatches, Central 
America, No. 13. 
Do. to do., Dec. 14, 1882, Ibid, No. 41, and enclosures; 
Wm. Burcha.rd, U. s. Consul at Ruatan, to W. H. Hall, 
Oct. 22, 1882. 
Ibid. 
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1883, the state Department forwarded these two despatche,s 
434 

to the Treasury Department, without comment. 

After Schultz had filed his notice of discovery, the 

State Department again wrote to Mr. Hall with instructions 

that he should "ascertain whether Vivorilla key is under 
435 

the dominion of Honduras or other na.tion. 11 Mr. Hall 

replied that he did not doubt that the key belonged to 

Honduras, and enclosed a telegram from the Governor of 

the Department of Colon to the Foreign Minister of Honduras 
436 

to that effect. On November 13, 1888, Mr. Hall reported 

that Vivorilla was also claimed by Nicaragua, and enclosed 

a newspaper report of an exclusive concession granted by 

5:-l] 

the Nicaraguan Government to Don Q,uadra. for five years 11 to 

extract and export the guano which may be found on the 

islands and keys of the Atlantic, pertaining to the Repub­

lic." Mr. Hall added that he did not believe either 

Nicaragua or Honduras would attempt to dispossess Mr. Schultz, 

who had been in possession of the key for nearly two years. 

He also enclosed a report from the United States Consul at 

San JUr.1.n de Norte, Nicaragua, giving an account of the 

Nicaraguan 

434 John Da~is, Acting Sec., ' to Charles Folger, Sec. of Treas. , 
Jan. 25, 1883, 145 MS. Dom. Let. 334. 

435 T. F. Bayard, Sec. of State, to H. C. Hall, u. s. Min. 
to Central America, Jan. 25, 1888, 1888 For. Rel, Part I, 
p. 119, No. 540. 

436 H. c. Hall, U. s. Min. to Central America, to T. F. 
Bayard, Sec. of Sta.te, Feb. 23, 1888, Ibid, 132, No. 779. 
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Nicaraguan attempts to exercise jurisdiction over Vivorilla 

keys. It apuears that Schultz had a concession from NicBxagua 

allowing him to prospect for guano along the coast, but that 

this concession had been forfeited, because Schultz's partner 

had murdered his wife, or for other reasons, and that the 

Nicaraguan Government refused to renew or grant him another 
437 

concession. 

It is evident that the United States never recognized 

any American citizen's claim to Vivorilla under the Guano 

Act. The keys were never bonded, and do not appear on any 
438 

of the lists compiled by the Treasury Department. Mur-

guiondo's notice of discovery of Vivorilla, and also of the 

Hobbies, appears to have been completely ignored. With 

regard to Mr. Schultz's notice, the Department stated, on 

January 25, 1888, that its decision "has been deferred owing 
439 

to a quest ion of sovereignty over the island. 11 After 

receiving the above-mentioned communications from Mr. Hall, 

the Department notified Schultz's representative that 

jurisdiction over Vivorilla key was claimed by both Nicaragua 

437 

438 
439 

and 

w. H. Hall, U. S. Min. to Central America, to T. F. 
Bayard, Sec. of State, Nov. 13, 1888, 30 MS. Dispatches, 
Central America, No. 887, and enclosures. 
See 6 MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano, Miscl. 
G. Rives, Ass. Sec., to J. Gorham Moale, Jan. 25, 1888, 
166 MS. Dom. Let. 671. 
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and Honduras, and said: 

"While the Department is, under the circum­
stances, precluded from recognizing Mr. Schultz's 
title as desired, the nationality of the key being 
in dispute and claimed by two friendly Governments, 
it may be some satisfaction to know that Mr. Hall 
expresses the belief that inasmuch as Mr. Schultz 
has enjoyed possession of the key for ne~ly two 
years, neither Government will likely : attempt to 
dispossess him. 11 440 

; 

440 G. Rives, Ass. Sec., to J. Gorham Moale, Dec. 12, 1888, 
171 MS. Dom. Let. 71. 
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2. GORDA KEY 

a. Geography 

Gorda Key rises from Gorda bank, 45 miles long and 3 

to 20 miles wide, situated on the Miskito bank. The key is 
..,, 

about 70 miles northeast of Cape Gracias a Dios. It is 200 

ya.rds in diameter, and 12 feet high, and is composed of sand 

and broken coral. There is a possible, but dangerous, land-
441 

ing on the northwestern end of the key. 

b. United States Claim under the Guano Act. 

In February, 1887, James W. Jennett filed a notice of 

his discovery of guano on Gorda Key on May 3 , 18 8 3. He me.de 

the usual allegations, stated in addition that he remained 

upon the Island until the 31st of May, and enclosed support-
442 

ing affidavits. On February 19, 1887, Jennett filed a 
443 

second notice of discovery, referring to his first notice. 

The Department merely acknowledged the receipt of the 

papers and returned to Jennett a duly authenticated copy of 
444 

his declaration. No further record of Gorda Key in the 

State Department archives has been found until 1919, with 

the except ion of an assignment da.ted November 2, 1888, in 

which 

441 Central America and Mexico Pilqt (Wash. 1927), H. o. 130, 
p. 220. 

442 DeclR..rations of J. W. Jennett, James Cook, E. Odehe, Feb. 
19, 1887, 3 MS. Miscl. Let. Re Gu~no, Gorda. 

443 J. w. Jennett to T. F. Bayard, Sec. of State, Feb. 19, 
1887, Jqid. 

444 J. D. Porter, Ass. Sec., to J. W. Jennett, Mar. 3, 1887, 
163 MS. Dom. Let. 286. 
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which Jennett released all his interest in guano _on Gorda 
. 445 

Key to the Chinchorro Phosphate Company of New Jersey. 

c. The Claim of Honduras. 

Early in 1919, the Department of Commerce notified 

the State Department that a light on Gorda Key should be 

erected. The State Department reported that the American 

Minister to Honduras stated that there seemed to be no doubt 

that Gorda Key belonged to Honduras. On the request of the 

Commerce Department, the Secretary of State instructed the 

American Minister to Honduras to obtain permission from the 

Government of Honduras for the United Sta.tea to erect and 

maintain such a light. The Minister of Foreign Affairs re­

plied that this would have to be done by a convention between 

the United States and Honduras ratified by the Honduran 

legislature. Because of civil disturbances in Honduras, 

this attempt was apparently abandoned for the time being, 
446 

though again in October, 1920, the question was revived. 

445 J. W. Jennett to the Ohinchorro Phosphate Co. Nov. 2, 
1888, 3 MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano, Gorda. 

446 See A. A. Adee to Sec. of Com., Mar. 19, 1919, and 
Jones, U. s. Min. to Honduras, to Sec. of State, Mar. 10, 
1919, 811.822/44; do. to do., May 26, 1919, Ibid/60; 
and see also enclosures 46, 58, 60, 61, 62, 92. 
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VI NON EXISTENT ISLANDS 

1. Ge .ography of 11 Booby 11 and "Woody" Islands. 

Booby and Woody islands, upon which citizens of the 

United States claim to have discovered guano, are in fact 

non-existent. The position of Booby is given as la.titude 
447 

14° 14' N., longitude 80° 301 w. There is no island at 

this position, although it is not far from the Southwest 

key of Serrana. Woody island is said to be latitude 12° 

47' N., longitude 82° 30' w., but there is nothing at, or 
448 

anywhere near, this position. 

2. , 11 Booby" I slan.d. 

a, United Sta.tes Claim under the Guano Act. 

1n a declaration regarding Serrana Keys, signed by 

r:- '.) ' • 0.JU 

Ja.mes W. Jennett, dated June 30, 1866, he alleges that he 1-a.y 

under Booby key three da.ys, 11 this having been previously dis­

covered by me to have a de-posit of gua.no on it in the yee,r 
449 

of 1857. 11 In a declaration dated May 8, 1868, also 

relating to Serrana islands, Jennett listed 11 keys on 

this bank, including Booby key at the position given above. 

On 

Declaration of J. w. Jennett, June 30, 1866, 5 MS. 
Miscl. Let. Re Gua,no, Serrana. 

450 

447 

448 

449 
450 

Declaration of Pascal A. Quinn.n·, Nov. 21, 1887, 6 Ibid, 
Woody. 
Supra, Note 447. 
Ibid. 
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On December 4, 1886, Pascal A. Q,uinan filed a notice 

of discovery of guano upon 11 'Boo by' or 'Woody 1 11 key on 

November 13, 1886. He described the position of the island 

as latitude 14° 30'N., longitu:ie 80° 15' W., which is nea.r 
451 

the Noxth key of Serrana Bank. In an assignment of Booby 

Key (!'e:rrOneously·called Woody in my notice") by Quinan to 

Sydney Long, dated November 24, 1887, the position is changed 
452 

to that given by Jennett for Booby key. 

The State Department appears to have regarded Booby 

key as one of the keys on Serrana bank. However, in the 

list compiled by the Tr~asury Department, dated February 12, 

1869, Booby Key, at the position given by Jennett, is listed 
453 

separately. On none of the other lists does this key appear. 

4!'.'ll 

452 
453 

3 MS. M1scl. Let. Re Guano, Booby. 
Ibid. 
6 Ibid, Miscl. 
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Assignments of Booby 

1. James W. Jennett and. Mary A. Jennett; his wife, 
J 

of Baltimore, to Benja.min Rhodes and John Russell, May 17, 

1876, all interest in guano on the 10 keys of Serrana bank 
454 

(which included Booby key). 

a. Benjamin Rhodes to John Russell, March 5, 1878, 
455 

1/2 interest in the 10 keys on Serrana. 

3. James w. Jennett, by Jennie Jennett, his Attorney 

in fact, to Cleveland W. Goff, February 6, 1891, all the 

following property: 

"Booby key, Sandy key, Anchor key, Three 
Triangle keys, North East key, Two North West 
Rocks keys situated in the Cari bbea.n Sea. 11 

( These keys must be those Jennett named as 
part of the serrana group.) ·456 

4. Cleveland w. Goff to John V~ McDuffie, May 20, 

1891, release of his 1/2 interest in Booby and the other 
457 

keys named above. 

5. Clevele.nd W. Goff to Harriet L. Scribner, :Ma,y 27, 
458 

1891, release of 1/4 interest in above-named keys. 

6. Pascal A. Quina.n to Sydney C. Long, November 24, 

1887, 1/2 interest in guano on Booby key, 11 also erroneously 
459 

called Woody". 

454 5 Ibid, Serrana. 
455 Ibid. 
456 3 Ibid, Boob!• 
457 Ibid. 
458 Ibid. 
459 Ibid. 
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3. 11 WOODY" ISLAND 

a. United States Claim under the Guano Act. 

On November 21, 1887, Pascal A. Quinan signed a 

notice of discovery of guano on Woody island on August 1, 

1887. He alleged that the island was situated at lati-
460 

tude 12° 47' N., longitude 820 301 w. No attention 

appea.rs to have been paid to this notice~ and the island 

was never bonded and never listed as appertaining to the 
461 

United States. On November 18, 1887, Mr. Adee, 

Assistant Secretary, stated: 

"I cannot recall any notice of discovery 
of guano on Woody island. 11 462 

-----~-- ~-------·------
460 Sydney C. Long to Sec. of State, Nov. 21, 1887, and 

enclosure, 6 Ibid. Woodz.:.. 

461 Ibid, Miscl. 

462 A. A. Adee, Ass. Sec., to Sydney C. Long, Nov. 18, 
1887, 166 MS. Dom. Let. 179. 

:-- '.) q J,)_,. 
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463 
Assignments of Woody 

Pascal A. Quina.n to Sydney c. Long, 

1887, 1/2 interest in guano on Woody Island. 

2. Pascal A. Quinan and Sydney c. Long 

June 13, 1888, 1/3 interest in guano on Wood 

:-) l {! ' . . 

November 24, 

to James Kell, 
464 

Island. 

3. Pascal A. Quinan to Sydney c. Long, August 15, 1888, 

his remaining 1/3 interest in guano on woody Island. 

4. Sydney c. Long to James Kell and Jacob Bradbeck, 

April 11, 1890, 1/3 interest in guano on Woody key. 

463 Unless otherwise noted, assignments filed in 6 MS. Miscl. 
Let. Re Guano, Woody. 

464 3 Ibid, Booby. 
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CONCLUSIONS 

I. Islands to Which the United States Has a Claim. 

1. Navassa. 

The only island included in this report which now 

undoubtedly belongs to the United States is Navassa, and 

even in this case, the United States title is still denied 

by Hai ti. Nevertheless, there is no doubt that Nava.sea 

iR now United States territory, by virtue of actual use, 

occupation, and control of the island by Americe.n citizens 

and by the Government, and the subsequent erection and 

maintenance of a lighthouse, ra.dio station, and mercurial 

barometer on the island by the United States Government. 

According to the records in the State Department, the 
t"eCQrd.. tit\e. to 

Navassa Phosphate Company still has the exoJusive pjgbts ia 

5~1 

the guano on the island, if any remains, under the Guano Act. 

2. Petrel Island. 

The only other island described herein which might be 

said to appertain to the United States under the Guano Act 

is "Petrel" Island, on Bajo Nuevo, or New Reef. The status 

of this island is very like that of the Serranilla Keys. 

The United St;:i,tes has taken no action with respect to this 

island since 1869, when the Secretary of State issued a 

certificate 
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certificate to Captain Jennett recognizing his interest in 

Petrel Island under the Guano Act. Assignments of guano on 
reliable. 

Petrel Island were filed until 1911, but there is no~evidence 

that the island was ever actually occupied in any way. How­

ever, no other nation appears to have claimed the island, 

and if the United States wishes to use it, there would appear 
slijh"t 

to be aAlegal and historical basis for such action. 

On the other hand, if the United States did claim Petrel 

Island now, it is probable that Colombia would protest on 

the gTOtmds that it belonged to Colombia, by virtue of dis­

covery by Spaniards and occupation and use by Colombian 

fishermen or seal hunters from Old Providence. If such 

a claim were made, and if it were founded on fact, the United 

Sta.tes might be said to have lost by abe,ndonment whatever 

interest it may once have had in the island. 

3. Moni to. 

Monito Island is undoubtedly United States territory 

at the present time, because of its contiguity to Mona 

Island, part of Puerto Rico. However, it is clear that 

Moni to Wn. s not acquired under the Guano Act, but under 

the Treaty of December 10, 1898, between the United States 

and Spain. 

II ISLANDS 
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II, Islands to Which the United States Has No Cla.im. 

l. Islands Claimed by Venezuela: Aves 1 The Monks (Los 
Monges), Los Roques. 

I 
~ l 

American citizens recovered damages for their eviction 

by Venezuela from Aves Island, and from The Monks, but 

these events took place before the passage of the Guano 

Act, and the United States never claimed sovereignty over 

the isla.nds, either under the Guano Act or otherwise. 

Similarly, the United States never claimed Los Roques, al­

though a notice of the discovery of guano thereon wa.s filed 

by an American citizen. 

a. Islands Claimed by the Dominican Republic: Alta Velao 

The United States Government refused to press the claims 

of American citizens for damages for their eviction from 

Alta. Vela against the Dominican Republic, chiefly because 

it was believed that the island was part of the territory 

of the Dominican Republic. 

3. Islands Claimed by Great Britain: Key Verd, Morant Keys, 
Pedro Keys, Sombrero Island. 

When the British Government protested, under claim of 

sovereignty, against the removal of guano by American citizens 

from 
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& nd. froTn 
from Key Verd, in the Bahamas,~Morant Keys, and Pedro Keys, 

the United States refused to protect its citizens under the 

Guano Act. 

In 1864, the United States formally reserved its rights 

to Sombrero Isl~nd, but never again claimed it. At that 

time, the United States appears to have had at least RS 

sound a cla.im to Sombrero as Great Britain, but by its failure 

to assert any claim ~ter 1864, and failure to protest the 

British annexation of Sombrero in 1904, the United States 

must be deemed to have abandoned whatever interest it may 

once have bad in this island. 

4 Islands Alacrans 
i hica Perez Ke s Great 

Island. 
and fonn a\\ y 

The United States finall~Aabandoned all claims to The 

Triangles, Alacrans Keys, Arenas Key, and Areas Keys, after 

the Mexican Government had repeatedly protested, under 

claims of sovereignty, against the acts of American ci ti­

zens, and the United States Government, under the Guano 

Act with respect to these islands. 

Although a notice of discovery of guano on Great 

Island was filed, the United States never took any action 

with respect to this island under the Guano Act. 

5. Islands 
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5. Islands Claimed b Honduras and Nicar ua.: Vivorilla 
Ke s Vivario Gorda Key. 

The United States refused to protect American citizens 

claiming an interest in Vivorilla Keys under the Guano Act 

when it was ascertained that both Honduras and Nicaragua 

claimed the Keys. 

A notice of discovery of guano on Gorda Key was filed 

in 1887, but the Government took no action with respect to 

this island until 1919, when it requested Honduxas to build 

a light on it. 

6. Non-Existent Islands: Booby, Woody. 

For years the State Department filed assignments of 
I 

the alleged guano on these non-existent islands, and Booby 

at least is on one of the Treasury Department's lists of 

guano islands appertaining to the United States. As a re­

sult, the II discoverers, 11 Jennett and Qui nan, appear to have 

profited considerably at the expense of innocent parties. 

LE:ESR:ACF: SS 

t" ~ II' I• 

~) ~: .1 
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Index of Islands 

Alacrans Keys . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
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Areas Keys 

Arenas Key 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
........................... 

Aves . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Bajo Nuevo (See Petrel) ............ 
Bird (See Aves 

Booby 

Cay Verde 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
(See Verd, Key) . . . . . . . . . 

Chica (See Alacrans) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
El Triangulos (See Triangles, The) 

Gorda Key . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Great Island .......................... 
Monges, Los . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Monito .............................. 
Monks, The 

Morant Keys 

(See Monges, Los} ... • .... 
. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

Navassa . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Pajaras (See Alacrans) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Pedro Keys . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Perez (See Alacrans) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
Petrel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

119, 

121, 

Pages 

125, 

125, 

135, 170 

67, 169 

140, 170 

137, 170 

45, 169 

162, 171 

160, 171 

152, 170 

61, 169 

38, 168 

87, 169 

2, 167 

99, 169 

32, 167 
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Roques, Los. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
- ~ 

• 65, 169 

Sombrero • • • • . . . • • • • • • .108, 170 

Triangles, The • • • • • 0 • • 117, 125, 134, 170 

Verd, Key 

Viva.rio 

Vivorilla 

Woody 

• • • • • • • • 

• • • • • • • 0 

(~ Vivaria) • 

• • • • • • • • 

• • 0 • • • • • 81, 169 

• • • . • • • 154, 171 

• ,; • • • • • 

• • • • • 162, 165, 171 
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a. Geographz 

VII. ISLANDS CLAIMED BY CUBA 
1. CALAPATCH ISLAND 

(AVALO, ABALO CAY) 

Gala.patch Island or Key is located at approximately 

latitude 21° 34' N., longitude 82° 10' W. in the Carib-

1 bean Sea. It is east of the southeastern point of 

the Isle of Pines, and just west of Can tiles Key, which 

is on the western side of the Rosario Channel, an 

entrance into the Gulf of Batabano. This gulf is 

between the southern coast of Cuba, at the western 

end of the i slancl, and the Isle of Pines. Calapa.tch 

Key is about three miles long at its greatest length. 2 

It v;as said to have contained deposits of phosphatic 

guano. 3 

b. United States Claim under the Guano Act 

On April 12, 1901, Louis Davidson filed the 

memorial of Willian1 Augustus Varty relating to the 

latter's claim to Calapatch Island. In the memorial, 

dated 

1. See. J. Hay, Sec. of State, to H. G. Squiers, U.S. 
Min. to Cuba, Nov. 14, 1903, I MS. Instructions, Cuba, 
222, No. 287 (in which this position is given as that 
found by the Hydrographic Office). 

2. West Indies Pilot, H. 0. 128 (Washington, 1927), Vol. I, 
pp. 347-348; General Staff, War Dept., Map of Cuba 
(Washington, ·1911); Vina, Map of Cuba (Rand-McNa.lly). 

3. See Louis Davidson, Atty., to J. Hay, Sec. of State, 
April 12, 1901, and enclosures, MS. Miscl. Let; H.G. 
Squiers, U .s. 11anister to Cuba, to Sec. of State, lvlay 17, 
1905, and enclosure, 14 MS. Despatches, Cuba, No. 1248. 

~ t~ ' ·') u :.1 •. 
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dated March 16, 1901, Yiilliam A. Varty alleged that on 

that date he landed on 11 Ccty Cala.patch 11 or 11 Cay Avalo 11 , 

at latitude 21° 24 1 N., longitude 81° 10
1 w, found it 

unoccupied, and took formal possession of it, raising 

the American fla.g and erecting a sign under the flag 

staff with the following inscription: 

11 Noticet no trespassing on this Key --
W. A. Varty, owner. 11 

He stated that he ivas an J\! uerican ci ti:Zen, born in 

Kentucky, and temporarily a. resident of Habana; that 

he intended to occupy and live on the key and exploit 

the guano thereon; that he had employed an agent to 

occupy it for him now; that the key had never been 

permanently occupied and had not been claimed for many 

years, and was not in the jurisdiction of any other 

government. Furthermore, he alleged that he made a 

formal claim under section 5570 R.S. (The Guano Act) 

and he petitioned for the "right of exclusive claim in 

and to and for the pre-emption" of palapatch or Avala 

key. The allegations in this memorial were supported 

by photographs of the petitioner standing on the isluJld 

under the American fla.g, and by an affidavit of Louis 

Davidson, varty I s attorney, dated April 12, 1901, stat­

ing that he accompanied Varty on March 16, when he 

landed 
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landed on a.nd made f orma.l claim to the island. In 

his letter to the Department, Davidson requested that 

the memorial 

11 ma.y be properly recorded, entered upon and 
made a. part thereof, of the record of the 
DEPARTMENT OF STATE OF THE UUITED STATES, 
and further," that such action may be there­
after taken by the Department of State in 
relation to this memorial as th4 circum­
stances therein shall require." 

The receipt of this letter and its enclosures was 

acknowledged by the State Department. 5 

Nothing further appears to huve been done about 

this claim until 1903. On August 15, 1903, Herbert 

Janorin Browne filed with the State Department an 

original deed of conveyance by which William A. Varty 

assigned a.11 his right, title and interest in and to 

Calapatch Island to Browne. The deed was dated July 24, 

1903, at Habana. After stating the approximate position 

of the isl~nd, the deed recited that Varty's right in 

the island was his 

11 right of discovery and possession, under the 
United States Statute of 1856 relating to 
guano islands, as evidenced by papers filed 
in the State Department in Washington, in due 
form in the year 1901, this island being one 

of 

4. Louis Davidson to J. Hay, Sec. of State, April 12, 
1901, and enclosures, MS. Miscl. Let. 

5. Ibid, (notation 11 Ack 1 d Apl. 25 11 on Davidson's letter). 
No copy of the letter of acknowledgment has been 
foundo 
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of the islands ceded to the United States of 
.America by Spain, under the Treaty of Paris, 
duly ratified, the suzerainty thereunder 
departing from the Government of Spain to the 
,_~ov e rnment of the United States, nnd no advers e 
title o f vossession or otherwise appearing 
t hereto. 11 6 

The consideration for this transfer was $15,000 in 

notes, to remain an incumbrance on the island until 

fully paid.6 On October 12, 1903, Browne filed a 

quitclaim deed, of that date, from Varty to him, 

relating to Calapa.tch Island and acknowledging that 

the consideration mentioned in the first deed had been 

pa.id in full. 7 The Department acknowledged the 

receipt of both of these deeds, stating , with respect 

to the l a st, that: 

11 This DeDartm ent receives this paper 
and files it ~ith the other papers in its 
archives relating to Calapatch Island, 
merely as an office of record, and without 
prejudice to a.ny prfor governmental or 
individual rights tha t may exist.118 

On November 22, 1903, H.J. Browne transmitted to 

t he Department a bond for t he sum of $50,000, under the 

provisions of th e Guano Ac t , stating that "This is to 

a ~-i ply to th e proper operation of Cnlapatch Island. . . . 
l'J o . copy o f the b ond has b een fo und in the files of the 

Department 

6. H. J. 1lrowne t o Sec . of St a t e , Aug . 15, 1903, and 
enclosur e , MS. IAi s cl. Let. 

7. H.J. Browne to Sec . o f Bt At e, Oc t. 1 2 , 1903, nn d 
encJo sur e, MS:. !Hscl. Let. 

119 

Bo F. D. Loomis, Asst. Sec., to H. J. Br offll. e, Nov. 1 2 , 1903 , 
27 0 r:I S. Dom. Let . 340 ; A.A. Ad e e , Ac t i ne: Sec., to H. J. 
FI'owne, Aug . 20, 190 3, 268 1.18 . Do rn . Let. 442. 

9. H.J. Browne to Sec. of St ate , Nov . 22 , 1903, MS. hl i s c l . Let. 
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Department, nor was it put with the other bonds kept by 

the Treasury Department. However, on December 16, 1903, 

the State Department replied to Browne I s letter of 

November 22, acknowledging the receipt of the bond, and 

stating tha.t it ha.d been f orvira.rded to the secretary of 

10 the Treasury. In a letter of the same date to the 

Secretary of the Treasury, the Depaitment states that it 

is transmitting Browne I s bond for Calapatch Island, pur­

suant to section 5574 R.S., and that it encloses copies 

of instruments filed with the Department relating to 

the Island (Va.rty I s Memorial, and the two assignments 

mentioned above).11 

Calapa.tc~ Island does not appear on the lists of 

guano islands appertc1ining to the United States com­

piled by the Treasury Department •12 This is probably 

because no such list appears to have been made after 

1893, and the claim to Calapatch was not filed until 19010 

In September 1904 William H. Rohrer, of the Dis­

trict of Columbia, filed a copy of a.n agreement, 

dated May 14, 1904, in which H. J. Browne, represented 

as 

10. A.A. Adee, Acting Sec., to H.J. Browne, Dec. 16, 1903, 
271 MS. Dom. Let. 122. 

11. A.A. Adee, Acting Sec., to Sec. ·· of ·Treas., Dec. 16, 
1903, 271 MS. Dom. Let. 134. (Browne's attorneys stated 
that the bond had been filed with the Department of Com­
merce and Labor. See Ralston and Siddons to J. Hay, Sec. 
of State, Aug . 13, 1904, MS. Miscl. Let.) 

12. See list in 6 M~. Miscl. Let. Guano, Sombrero, Id., Miscl .. 
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as the owner of Gala.patch or Avalo Key, "including little 

Ca.la.patch or little Avalo 11 , assigned 1/lOOth interest 

in the key to Rohrer for $2500, retaining the power to 

sell the,. island and remove the guano. Another similar 

agreement between the s a.me parties, da.t ed September 14, 

1903~ was filed at the same time. By this deed Browne 

assigned l/40th interest in the island to Rohrer, for 

$2500 •
13 

The Department merely acknowledged the 

receipt of these agreements and stated that they had 

been placed on file.1 4 

In August, 1904, Messrs. Ralston and Siddons, attor­

neys for Browne, notifi~d the Department that on July 11, 

1904, the Government of Cuba had served Browne with 

a notice to quit Calapatch Island by the 31st of that 

month. They stated that Bro,me and his associates 

h2.d invested $20,000 in the island, and proposed to 

spend $75,000 more to put the phosphate on the market. 

After reviewing the papers filed with the Depart.ment, 

the attorneys concluded that Spain never exercised sov­

ereignty over this island and added that even if Spain 

had done so, Spanish sover·eignty did not pass to Cuba as 

"the 

13. W. H. Rohrer to J. Hay, Sec. of State, Sept. 14, 
1904, and enclosures, 3 Id., Ce.lauat·ch 

14. F. B. Loomis, Acting Sec., to W.H. Rohrer, Oct. 26, 
1904, 278 MS. Dom. Let. 109. 
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11 the Island has been absolutely undeveloped 
at all times in its history, save for a 
brief period, ending more than twenty years 
ago, when it was abandoned by whoever may 
have under taken to work upon it, and it has 
been derelict ever since.1115 

The Department replied stating that the American Min­

ister in Cuba had been instructed to put Brovme 1 s 

claim before the Cuban Government, to ask what objec­

tions Cuba had to Browne's title, and to state that 

the Department would be glad if the proceedings against 

Browne were suspended until the controversy was settled 

diplomatically by the two Governments. 16 

A year previous to this correspondence, in Octo­

ber, 1903; the American Minister . in Cuba had forwarded 

to the Department a letter to him from William A. Varty, 

inquiring whether the United States considered that the 

K~ys forming a chain eastward from the Isle of Pines 

belonged to the jurisdiction which governed the Isle 

of Pines, and whether they were embraced in the treaty 

between the United States and Cuba which recognized 

Cuba's sovereignty over the Isle of Pines. The Minister 

wrote to the Department thGt he presumed this treaty 

would 

15. Ralston and Siddons, Attys., to J. Hay, Sec. of 
State, Aug. 13, 1904, MS. Miscl. Let.; See also do. to 
do., Aug. 4, 1904, ibid. 

16. F. B. Loomis, Asst. sec., to Ralston and Siddons, 
Aug. 16, 1904, 276 MS. Dom. Let. 511. 
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would cover all adjacent Keys, but he requested instruc­

tions.17 The Department merely replied tha t the Isle of 

Pines alone was mentioned in the Platt Amendment and the 

Treaty, listed the papers relating to the island filed 

by Varty and Browne up to that time, and quoted its reply 

to Browne of November 12, 1903, that the papers were 

filed without prejudice to prior existing rights. 18 

In August, 1904, the Department sent the American 

Minister in Cuba a copy of Ralston and Siddons I letter 

of August 13, 1904, and instructed him to request the 

Cuban Government to state the @:'ounds of its objections 

to Browne's claim, and to suspend proceedings against 

Browne until the matter could be settled diplomatically 

between the Governments. 19 The American Minister 

reported thr, t the latter request had been acceded to by 

the Cuban Foreign Office, al though Browne "will not be 

allowed, in the meantime, to extract guano or any 

other product from the s a id key", and ths.t Cuba inquired 

by what right the United States exercises or claims 

sovereignty over the key, 11 which is one of those ad-

j a.cent to the Island of Cuba a.nd which is included 

within 

17. H.G. Squiers, U.S. Min. to Cuba, to Sec. of Sta~e, 

18. 

19. 

Oct. 1, 1903, c1nd enclosure, 8 MS. Despatches, Cuba 
No. 679. 
J. Hay , Sec. of State, to H. G. Squiers, U.S. Min. to 
Cuba., Nov. 14, 1903, I MS. Instructions, Cuba, 222 No. 287; 
see supra, note 8. 
J. Hay, Sec. of State, to H.G. Squiers, U.S. Min. to 
Cuba., Aug. 15, 1904, I MS. Instructions, Cuba, 319, 
No. 417. 
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within the boundaries which Article II of the Constitu­

tion fixes as national territory."ao This despatch was 

forwarded to Browne's attorneys. 21 

In January, 1905, Ralston and Siddons suggested 

that a proviso be inserted in the Isle of Pines treaty 

which would state that nothing in the treaty shall be 

deemed to release or convey to or vest in Cuba title to 

,- ' ·, (l ;ni J 

any key adjacent to the Isle of Pines and containing guano, 

which key being unoccupied, was taken possession of by 

United States citizens before May 20, 1902, under the 

Guano Act. On that date the appendix to the Cuban Con­

stitution was promulgated, and it contained a provision 

that the title to the Isle of Pines was to be settled 

later. The basis for Browne's claim was reviewed again, 

and it was stated that after he had filed his bond, the 

Chief of the Diplomatic Bureau had informed Bro\'l:ne that 

the old practice of issuing proclamations by the President 

confirming individual rights in guano islands had been 
that 

abandoned, and there was, therefore, nothing else ,. 

for Browne to do to perfect his title, It was alleged 

that Spain had never actually exercised sovereignty over 

this 
20. 

21. 

H.G. Squiers, U.S. Min~ to Cuba, to Sec. of State, 
Se~t. 3, 1904, and enclosures, 12 MS. Despatches, Cuba, 
No. 1057. 
A.A.Adee 1. Actins Sec., to Ralston and Siddons, Sept. 14, 
1904, 27~ MS. Dom. Let. 296. 
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this island, and that, even if it had, Spanish sovereignty 

never passed to Cuba; that the treaty of peace of 1898 

must ; be regarded as ceding to the United States the 

islands surrounding Cuba. 22 The Department replied tha t 

the sug gested proviso "does not ap1Jear to be germ,ahe to 

the treaty itself, which relates only to the Isle of 

Pines", &nd therefore 11 the Depa.rtmen t would be unable to 

approve of the adoption of the proviso as an amendment 

to the treaty.« 23 

Ralston and Siddons then suggested the following 

provisions as a modus vivendi: 

1. Until otherwise determined by the joint 
action of the United States and Cuba, Browne and 
his associates shall remain in undisputed posses­
sion, occupation, and control of Calapatch Island 
and its approaches, with full rights to exploit 
and develop it, build thereon, export products 
freely without interference· from either Govern­
ment, and to fish three miles from shore; 

2. Browne and his associates shall pay 
Cuba 7 1/2 cents United States gold · per ton of 
phosphates exported from the island, and the 
Cuban Government may place an ag ent on the 
island to supervise these payments or may super­
vise them in any other way; 

3. Except for the collection of this sum, 

for 
22. Ralston and Siddons to J. Hay, Sec. of State, Jan. 7, 

1905, MS. Miscl. Let. 

23. J. Hay, Sec. of State, to Ralston and Siddons, 
Jan. 19, 1906, M__S. Dom. Let. 510. 

(k79. 
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for the duration of the agreement Cuba shall 
not exercise any a.ct of soverei gnty over the 
island, collect import or export taxes or 
require that vessels loading for the island 
enter or clear from Cuban ports; 

4. If the a g reement be determined. upon, 
Browne a nd his associates shall remain in undis­
turbed possession of the island, and no greater 
ta.x than the 7 1/2 cents mentioned above shall 
be collected; 

5 •••• "nothing in this agreement con­
tained shall be considered as an admission of 
the validity either of the title cla imed by 
the Cuban Government to said I sUmd or by said 
J. H. Browne and his associa.tes and assigns 
under the Guano Act or Amendments thereto, but 
this ag reement is ma.de simply to preserve the 
statt1s quo. n 24 

This proposition was sent by the State Depart­

ment to the American Minister a.t Habana, with expres­

sions of approvai. 25 The Minister reported, however, 

that the Cuban Government wa.s unwil 1ing to agree to 

26 these terms. The Cuban Secretary of Foreign Affairs 

stated that: 

11 • • • the Government cannot agree to the 
establishment of the.t Modus vivendi, because 
it is openly opposed to the decisive precepts 
of the l «ws in force relative to state property 
and its 2,cceptance v10uld signify an aban­
donment, although of a provisional 

cha.ract e r 

24. Ralston cmd Siddons to J. Hay, Sec. of State, ·111ia.r. 16, 
1905, MS. Miscl. Let. 
25. A.A. Adee, Acting Sec. to H. G. Squiers, U.S. Min. to 
Cuba, 1'1:ar. 21, 1905, I MS. Instructions, Cuba, 387, 
No. 490. 
26. H. G. Squiers, U.S. Min. to Cuba, to Sec. of Sta.te, 
April 25, 1905, 14 MS. Despatches, Cuba., Telegram. 
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character, of the right of sovereignty which 
the Republic has over the said Key. 1127 

It has also stated that Browne could apPlY to the proper 

administrative authorities who mi g ht grant a concession 

to him for the isle_nd, after his compliance with any pre­

requisites and legal formalities. 28 

On May 17, 1905, the American Minister transmitted 

the Cuban Foreign Office note, setting forth the bases 

for the Cuban claim to the island. 29 The Minister 

assumed that the Secretary of State did not ca.re at this 

time, a.nd pending the ratifica.tion of the Isle of Pines 

Treaty, to enter into any extensive controversy with 

the Cuban Government over the sovereignty of Calapatch 

Island if there were any possibility of settling the 

matter on the basis suggested by Mr. Browne. He stated 

tha.t he had so represented the affair to the Cuban For e i g n 

Office, and tha t he presumed 11 that the question of sov­

ereignty will not be brought up again but that the 

matter will be al lowed to drift indefinitely." 30 

Evidently the Department agreed to let the matter 

11 drift 

27. Juan F. O'Farrill, Cuban Sec. of For. Affairs, to H. G. 

-{' ' ) ;JD ,> 

Squiers, U.S. Min. to Cuba, April 20, 1905, enclosure in 
H. G. Squiers to Sec. of St a te, April 28, 1905, ibid. 
No. 1235. 

28. Ibid. 
29. See infra. 
30. H.G. Squiers, U.S. Min. to Cuba, to Sec. of State, Ma.y 17, 

1905, 14 MS. tlespatches, Cuba, No. 1248 
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11 drift indefinitely". The only sub sequent instruction 

to the Cuban Minister relating to Ca.lapatch Key is 
31 dated July 22, 1905. This instruction enclosed a 

letter from one Reginald Schroeder to the secretary 

of State, in which Schroeder cla.imed that he had been 

granted a concession to Calapa.tch Islcmd by the Cuban 

authorities tmder Cuban law; that this concession had 

since been transferred, with the consent of the Cuban 

authorities, to the Avala Improvement Company, a 

Delaware corporation, of which he was a stockholder and 

an officer; that he protested the actions of the Americ an 

Minister in behalf of Brovme who had no title to the 
32 island under the guano act. In transmitting this 

letter to the Minister the State Department merely 

remarked: 

"You will take no action in r egard to this 
matter without receiving ex-Qress instruc­
tions from the Department. 1133 

So far as has been determined, no other instructions 

were sent. 

c. Claim of Cuba 

The bases for the Cuban Claim to sovereignty of 

Calapatch 

31. A.A. Adee, Acting Sec. to H. G. Squiers, U.S. Min. to 
Cuba, July 22, 1905, I MS Instructions, Cuba, 412, 
No. 522. 

32. R. Schroeder to Elihu Root, Sec. of State, July 19, 
1905, MS. Miscl. Let. 

33. Supra, Note 31. 

~ !_ '\ , 

0n · t 
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Calapatch Island (called Abalo Key) were set forth in 

a note by the Cuban Secretary of Foreign Affairs to the 

American Minister, under date of May 2, 1905. 34 In 

the first place, it was stated that Spain did exercise 

sovereignty over the Key, and that it was in fact used. 

In support of this assertion it was said tha.t in 1878 

Messrs. Arrarte and Olmos requested a concession for 

working on the keys or small islands off the south 

coast of Cuba appearing on the Madrid Hydrographic 

Department's map of 1876. A copy of this map was 

enclosed, and on it appears 11 Abalo 11 Key. The conces­

sion was granted, and fTom May 5, 1879, to the latter 

part of 1884 these men worked the islands for guano. 

In 1884 an annulment of the concession was requested and 

obtained after the guano had been exhausted. J:a proof 

of these allegations, and of their application to Calapatch 

or Abalo Key, copie·s of the application for the conces­

sion, extracts from the books of t.he men working the 

island and from customs entries were enclosed. These 

documents indicate tha t guano was taken from Abalo in 

the years mentioned. It was also said that Cantiles 

Key 

34. 0 1 Farrill, Cuban For. Sec. to H. G. Squiers, U.S. 
Min. to Cuba , May 2, 1905, enclosure in Squiers to 
Sec. of State, May 17, 1905, 14 MS despatches, Cuba , 
No. 1248. 
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Key, adjacent to Calapatch, had been conveyed by a 

former government of the isl and to one L. Ferran who 
that 

paid taxes on his estate t here now, and ... this act of 

sovereignty confirmed the Spanish Government's dominion 

of cantiles Key, and consequently over the neighboring 

Key, Abalo. There was also enclosed a pamphlet printed 

by P. de Murguiondo, of Baltimore, in 1882, in which 

he advertised himself as an importer and vendor of 

11 Avala Cuba Bird Guano". 

In the second place, the Cuban Foreign Secretary 

claimed th~t the sovereignty over this key now rested 

solely with Cuba. Under article I of the Treaty of 

Peace of 1898, Spain relinquished all claim to sov­

ereignty over Cuba, and it was said that "Cuba" always 

included the adjacent keys. In support of this asser­

tion an order of General Wood, Militaxy Governor of 

Cuba., dated April 14, 1902, and relating to the study 

of the Constitution of Cuba, was cited • .Article 2 

of this Constitution was also cited, for it included 

.within the territory of the republic 

"Cuba. as well as the islands and key adjacent 
thereto and which were together with Cuba 
under Spanish sovereignty until the ratification 
of the Treaty of Paris of December 10, 1898. 1135 

The 

35. Quoted in ibid. 
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The only exception to this statement was the Isle of 

Finest the sovereignty over which was to be settled 

later. 

The Cuban Government likewise noted tha t Browne 

could not have c omplied with the Guano Act of the 

United St et. tea, a s Ava.lo was within a forei gn juris­

diction at the time Browne• s claim was said to have 

arisen, and as the g uano act expressly provided for 

the absence of a,ny foreign jurisdiction over the key. 

Al though it was not specifically mentioned by 

the Cuban Government, it would seem tha.t the principle 

of conti guity i.n relation to territorial sovereignty 

over islands adjacent to the mainland or to other 

isl?.,nds which are adjacent to the mainland would also 

support the Cuban claim. Calapatch Key is one of a 

string of keys extending from the southern point of the 

Isle of Pines east and then north to the coa st of Cuba. 

These keys, together with the Isle of Pines, form the 

soutnern boundary of the Gulf of Batabano. 36 At th e time 

the controversy over Oalapatch Key arose, however, the 

United St a,tes had not yet relinquished its claim to the 

Isle 

36. See supra, note 1. 
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Isle of Pines, and, had this cla.im been recognized, it 

is possible that Calapatch Key would have been con­

sidered contiguous to the Isle of Pines rather than to 

Cuba. 

The trea.ty between the United States and Cuba 

adjusting the title to the ownership of the Isle of 

Pines makes no mention of any outlying or adjacent 

keys. This treaty was signed Mc;.rch 2, 1904, but it 

was not ratified until March, 1925, ra tifica.tions being 

exchanged on March 23 of that year. Article I of this 

treaty provides that the United States ••• "relinquishes 

in favor of the Republic of Cuba all claim of title to 

the Island of Pines situate in the Caribbean Sea near the 

southwestern part of the Island of Cuba ••• 

d. Conclusions 

11 37 
0 • 

It seems clear that the United States has no valid 

clnim to territorial sovereignty over Calanatch Islund. 

Although one of the claimants under the guano act filed 

a bond for the island, Bnd the State Department ap~e ars 

to have sent the bond to the Treasury Department, the 

Cuban contention that the islsnd was already within a 

foreign 

37. Tre aty between the United States and Cuba for the 
ad·ustment of the Title t o the ownershiu of the 
Isle of Pines, March 2, 1904 ratified March 23, 
1925), Treaty Series No. 709 ( ~ashinEton, 1925 ). 
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foreign jurisdiction, and that, therefore, the conditions 

of the guano act were not in fact complied with, has 

never been refuted by the United states, and further­

more, this contention appears to be justified by the 

evidence submitted by the Cuban Government. By its 

failure to press the claim or to answer the Cuban 

memorandum, and its long silence on the subject, the 

United States appears to have recognized or acquiesced 

in the Cuban claim to sovereignty over Calapatch Island. 

Le-ESR:FEC:SS --FGS 
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